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Dear Investors

Many economists believe we are in an economic recovery or

on the cusp of one Gross domestic product in the U.S grew in

the third and fourth quarters of 2009 and non-farm payroll

showed positive growth in March 2010 However stagnant

U.S unemployment rate and low consumer confidence still

raise concerns Although Europe as whole will likely be slower

to emerge from the recession Central Europe where we have

investments shows positive signs of growth particularly Poland

At year-end 2009 the REIT had investments in 22 assets in the

U.S England Central Europe and The Commonwealth of the

Bahamas These assets include office buildings student housing
hotels and development properties data centers multifamily

projects and portfolio of 22 properties in four Central

European countries There were no acquisitions or dispositions

during 2009

Despite the difficult market conditions some of these assets

performed well in 2009 Our joint venture-owned student

multifamily properties GrandMarc at The Corner at the

University of Virginia and GrandMarc at Westberry Place at

Texas Christian University are 99 percent and 92 percent leased

respectively and rents are up to percent compared with the

prior school year With recent refinancing by Freddie Mac in

place we plan to market these properties for sale in 2010 Our

joint venture-owned Central European portfolio remained

99 percent leased During 2009 we made good progress in

condominium sales at The Private Residences at The Chase Park

Plaza in St Louis selling 23 units8 more than in 2008 Thus

far in 2010 we have sold an additional 11 units with three more

under contract Including those under contract weve sold

52 or 60 percent of the 86 units As result of these sales the

construction loan balance as of March 25 2010 was $9 million

compared with $23.3 million at year-end 2009 At Frisco Square

our mixed-use property in Frisco Texas we are upbeat about

our recently announced plans to construct Cinemark Theatre

complex which should generate significant consumer traffic

Our portfolio was not without challenges in 2009 We incurred

$9.9 million non-cash asset impairment charge on Becket

House in London We also incurred $5.6 million non-cash

asset impairment charge on The Lodge and Spa at Cordillera

in Colorado However our recorded asset impairments since

inception of the REIT total
only percent of its total assets

Finally reflecting the severe operating conditions in the

hospitality industry we took bad debt charge of $10.1 million

related to the lease of the Chase Park Plaza Hotel operations to

our percent non-controlling interest partner in the hotel

During 2009 we took
steps to protect our lender position in

the Royal Island project in the Bahamas and are in discussions

with several parties about restructuring and recapitalizing

this project We are deferring further substantive development

activities on Royal Island Cordillera and our industrial project

in Arizona until we see an improvement in conditions within

those markets

Please see the managements discussion and analysis Section of the

enclosed annual report on Form 10-K for reconciliation of FF0
and MFFO to net income

For 2009 modified funds from operations MFFO which are

funds from operations adjusted for impairment charges and

hedging gains and losses in income was $5.6 million or $0.10

per share compared with $10.7 million or $0.20 per share

in 2008 The components of this $0.10-per-share decrease

in MFFO resulted from the Chase Park non-cash bad debt

reserve taken in the third quarter of 2009 decrease in interest

income from lower cash-on-hand balances and lower yields

on cash accounts These decreases in year-over-year MFFO

were partially offset by several positive variances including an

increase in net operating income the sale of the Chase Park

state tax credits and reduction in advertising costs at our

development properties

In 2009 we had successes in dealing with our debt maturities

We extended maturities on nearly $120 million in loans on

several properties the Alexan Black Mountain multifamily

property in Las Vegas the Frisco Square mixed-use
property

land and the two student housing projects We also extended

the maturity of the 2.2 million loan on Cerny Most in the

Czech Republic In addition we are currently working to

extend refinance or pay off more than $190 million in loans

on number of other properties the Tanglewood at Voss

multifamily property in Houston our data center asset in Santa

Clara California and the hotel and condominium properties in

St Louis Also in Poland we are negotiating to extend the Tesco

and Lynka loans totaling 16.7 million

As with any investment capital must be directed where it will

help achieve the highest total return for shareholders These

strategies will require capital to execute and we will need to get

it from sources in addition to our line of credit and operating

cash flow We are considering all areas to preserve and obtain

capital including reviewing our distribution policy modifying

loans and selling certain assets While we could suffer some

loss of investment principal in certain instances the capital

obtained through selling will be used to enhance returns on

the projects where it is most needed and can achieve higher

total return for shareholders Allocating scarce capital to the

places where it can achieve the best available returns is the most

important thing we do in this fund

Thank you for your investment in Behringer Harvard

Opportunity REIT

Sincerely

Robert Behringer

Chairman

Robert Aisner

Chief Executive Officer and President
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements

within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act These

forward-looking statements include discussion and analysis of the financial condition of Behringer

Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc and our subsidiaries which may be referred to herein as the

Company we us or our including our ability to lease space to tenants on favorable terms to

address our debt maturities and to fund our liquidity requirements the value of our assets our

anticipated capital expenditures the amount and timing of anticipated future cash distributions to our

stockholders the estimated per share value of our common stock and other matters Words such as

may anticipates expects intends plans believes seeks estimates would could

should and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking

statements

These forward-looking statements are not historical facts but reflect the intent belief or current

expectations of our management based on their knowledge and understanding of the business and

industry the economy and other future conditions These statements are not guarantees of future

performance and we caution stockholders not to place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements

Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking

statements due to variety of risks uncertainties and other factors including but not limited to the

factors listed and described under Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the factors

described below

market and economic challenges experienced by the U.S economy or real estate industry as

whole and the local economic conditions in the markets in which our properties are located

the availability of cash flow from operating
activities for distributions and capital expenditures

decrease in the level of participation under our distribution reinvestment plan

our level of debt and the terms and limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements

the availability of credit generally and any failure to refinance or extend our debt as it comes

due or failure to satisfy the conditions and requirements of that debt

the need to invest additional equity in connection with debt refinancings as result of reduced

asset values and requirements to reduce overall leverage

future increases in interest rates

our ability to raise capital in the future by issuing additional equity or debt securities selling our

assets or otherwise

impairment charges

our ability to retain our executive officers and other key personnel of our advisor our property

manager and their affiliates

conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with our advisor and its affiliates

unfavorable changes in laws or regulations impacting our business or our assets and

factors that could affect our ability to qualify as real estate investment trust

Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our managements view

only as of the date of this Report and may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false We undertake no

obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions the

occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating
results We intend for these



forward-looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions created by

Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act

Cautionary Note

The representations warranties and covenants made by us in any agreement filed as an exhibit to

this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made solely for the benefit of the parties to the agreement

including in some cases for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to the agreement and

should not be deemed to be representations warranties or covenants to or with any other parties

Moreover these representations warranties or covenants should not be relied upon as accurately

describing or reflecting the current state of our affairs



PART

Item Business

Organization

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc which may be referred to as the Company we
us or our was incorporated in November 2004 as Maryland corporation and has elected to be

taxed and currently qualifies as real estate investment trust REIT for federal income tax

purposes

We operate commercial real estate or real estate-related assets located in and outside the United

States on an opportunistic basis In particular we have focused on acquiring properties with significant

possibilities for short-term capital appreciation such as those requiring development redevelopment or

repositioning or those located in markets and submarkets with higher volatility lower barriers to entry

and high growth potential We have acquired wide variety
of properties including office industrial

retail hospitality recreation and leisure multifamily and other properties We have purchased existing

and newly constructed properties and properties under development or construction including

multifamily properties We have also originated two mezzanine loans We completed our first property

acquisition in March 2006 and as of December 31 2009 we wholly owned 11 properties
and

consolidated five properties through investments in joint ventures In addition we are the mezzanine

lender for two multifamily properties
that we consolidate as variable interest entities and for which we

have been deemed the primary beneficiaries We also have noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership

interests in three properties and one investment in joint venture consisting of 22 properties that are

accounted for using the equity
method

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP LP

Texas limited partnership organized in November 2004 Behringer Harvard OP or subsidiaries

thereof Our wholly-owned subsidiary BHO Inc Delaware corporation owns less than 0.1%

interest in Behringer Harvard OP as its sole general partner The remaining interest of Behringer

Harvard OP is held as limited partnership interest by BHO Business Trust Maryland business

trust which is our wholly-owned subsidiary

We are externally managed and advised by Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors LLC

Behringer Opportunity Advisors Texas limited liability company formed in June 2007 Behringer

Opportunity Advisors is responsible for managing our day to day affairs and for identifying
and

making acquisitions
and investments on our behalf

Our office is located at 15601 Dallas Parkway Suite 600 Addison Texas 75001 and our toll-free

telephone number is 866 655-3600 The name Behringer Harvard is the property of Behringer

Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard Holdings and is used by permission

Public Offering of Common Stock Use of Proceeds

On September 20 2005 the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC declared our

Registration Statement on Form S-il effective and we commenced public offering the Offering of

up to 40000000 shares of common stock at price
of $10 per share in our primary offering and

8000000 shares of common stock at price of $9.50 per share in our distribution reinvestment plan

the DRP On November 17 2006 we registered an additional 6587065 shares of common stock at

price of $10 per share We subsequently reallocated the shares of common stock in the Offering to

provide $532.7 million or 53270000 shares for sale in the primary offering and $9.2 million or

965331 shares for sale in the DRP

On November 16 2007 we terminated the DRP and commenced second distribution

reinvestment plan offering the Secondary DRP of up to 6315790 shares of common stock at



price of $9.50 per share The Secondary DRP is ongoing and beginning with reinvestments made after

January 15 2010 distributions may be reinvested in shares of our common stock at price of $8.03 per
share which is the estimated per share value of our common stock as determined pursuant to our

amended and restated policy for estimation of common stock value the Estimated Valuation Policy
From July 26 2009 through January 14 2010 shares in the Secondary DRP were sold at price of

$8.17 per share which was the previous estimated per share value established by the board of directors

on June 22 2009 pursuant to our Estimated Valuation Policy As of December 31 2009 we had issued

2546696 shares under the Secondary DRP resulting in
gross and net proceeds of $23.2 million The

proceeds raised in the Secondary DRP are used for general corporate purposes including but not

limited to investment in real estate and real estate-related securities payment of fees and other costs

repayment of debt and funding for our share redemption program

On December 28 2007 we terminated our primary offering Aggregate gross offering proceeds
from the Offering totaled approximately $538.7 million and net offering proceeds after selling

commissions dealer manager fees and organization and offering expenses total approximately
$481.8 million We used the net proceeds from the Offering primarily to acquire commercial properties
such as office buildings multifamily properties hospitality recreation and leisure properties and
mixed-use and other developments As of December 31 2009 we had invested substantially all of the

net offering proceeds As of December 31 2009 we had issued 56657236 shares of our common stock

including 21739 shares owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings 940387 shares issued pursuant to the

DRF and 2546696 shares issued pursuant to the Secondary DRE As of December 31 2009 we had

redeemed 832159 shares of our common stock and had 55825078 shares of our common stock

outstanding As of December 31 2009 we had 1000 shares of
non-participating non-voting convertible

stock issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding

Our common stock is not currently listed on national exchange Depending upon the

then-prevailing market conditions it is our intention to consider beginning the process of listing our
shares on national securities exchange or liquidating our assets within three to six years after

December 28 2007

Investment Objectives

Our investment policies are designed in order that we may make investments that are consistent

with our focus on acquiring properties with significant possibilities for near term capital appreciation
We have acquired wide variety of properties located in the U.S and in other countries including
office industrial retail hospitality recreation and leisure multifamily and other properties We have

purchased existing and newly constructed properties and properties under development or construction

including multifamily properties We are not actively seeking to purchase additional properties

However in limited circumstances we may purchase properties as result of selling one or more
properties we currently hold and reinvesting the sales proceeds in

properties that fall within our
investment objectives and criteria If we make any additional investments in properties our intention is

to invest in income-producing real estate properties including properties that have been constructed

and have
operating histories are newly constructed or are under development or construction We may

also invest in real estate-related assets such as collateralized mortgage-backed securities and mortgage
bridge or mezzanine loans When making investment decisions we follow rigorous acquisition criteria

and closing conditions and review other required documentation These criteria are designed to assess
and manage investment risks and support our basis for making investment decisions in the best

interests of our stockholders



Our investment objectives are

to realize growth in the value of our investments to enhance the value received upon our

ultimate sale of such investments or the listing of our shares for trading on national securities

exchange or for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market System

to preserve protect and return through our ultimate sale of our investments or the listing of

our shares for trading on national securities exchange or for quotation on the Nasdaq National

Market System your capital contribution

to grow net cash from operations such that cash is available for distributions to you and

to provide you with return of your investment by beginning the process
of liquidation

and

distribution within three to six years
after the termination of this offering or by listing the shares

for trading on national securities exchange or for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market

System If we do not liquidate or obtain listing or quotation of the shares by the sixth

anniversary of the termination of this offering we will make an orderly disposition
of our assets

and distribute the cash to you unless majority of the board of directors and majority of the

independent directors extends such date

Acquisition and Investment Policies

We have primarily invested in quality commercial properties such as office retail multifamily

industrial hospitality and recreation and leisure properties
that have been identified as opportunistic

investments with significant possibilities
for near-term capital appreciation These properties were

identified as such because of their property specific characteristics or their market characteristics We

intend to hold the real properties
in which we have invested until such time as sale or other disposition

appears advantageous to achieve our investment objectives or until it appears that such objectives
will

not be met Economic or market conditions may influence us to hold our investments for different

periods of time We believe that portfolio consisting of majority of these types of properties

enhances liquidity opportunities
for investors by making the sale of individual properties multiple

properties or our investment portfolio as whole attractive to institutional investors

Our real estate investments are held in fee title or long-term leasehold estate through Behringer

Harvard OP or indirectly through limited liability companies or through investments in joint ventures

partnerships co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements with the developers of the properties

affiliates of Behringer Opportunity Advisors or other persons

Borrowing Policies

There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single property or other asset or on the

amount we can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment Under our

charter the maximum amount of its indebtedness shall not exceed 300% of the Companys net assets

as defined by the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts adopted by the North

American Securities Administrators Association on May 2007 as of the date of any borrowing

however we may exceed that limit if approved by majority of our board of directors In addition to

our charter limitation and indebtedness target our board has adopted policy to limit our aggregate

borrowings to approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets unless substantial justification

exists that borrowing greater
amount is in our best interests Our policy limitation however does not

apply to individual real estate assets As result we may borrow more than 75% of the contract

purchase price of particular real estate asset we have acquired to the extent the board of directors

determines that borrowing these amounts is reasonable Our board of directors reviews the Companys

aggregate borrowings at least quarterly We believe that these borrowing limitations reduce risk of loss

and are in the best interests of the Companys stockholders



Disposition Policies

As each of our investments reaches what we believe to be the assets optimum value during the

expected life of the program we will consider dispOsing of the investment and may do so for the

purpose of either distributing the net sale proceeds to our stockholders or investing the proceeds in

other assets that we believe may produce higher overall future return to the Companys investors We
anticipate that any such investment

disposition typically would occur during the period from three to six

years after termination of our initial public primary offering Economic or market conditions may
however result in different holding periods property may be sold before the end of the expected
holding period if in the judgment of our advisor the value of the property might decline substantially
an opportunity has arisen to improve other properties we can increase cash flow through the

disposition of the property or the sale of the property is in the best interests of the Company and its

stockholders

Tax Status

We elected to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes and believe that we have

qualified as REIT since the
year ended December 31 2006 As long as we qualify as REIT we

generally will not be subject to federal income tax at the
corporate level except for the operations of

our wholly-owned taxable REIT
subsidiary Behringer Harvard Cordillera Residences Inc which

provides management and development services to The Lodge Spa at Cordillera to the extent that

we distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders on an annual basis If we
fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal income tax including any
applicable alternative minimum tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates Unless entitled
to relief under specific statutory provisions we also will be disqualified for taxation as REIT for the
four taxable years following the

year in which we lose our qualification Even if we qualify as REIT
we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and property and to federal income
and excise taxes on our undistributed income

Competition

We are subject to significant competition in seeking real estate investments and tenants We
compete with many third parties engaged in real estate investment activities including other REITs
specialty finance companies savings and loan associations banks mortgage bankers insurance

companies mutual funds institutional investors investment banking firms lenders hedge funds
governmental bodies and other entities We also face competition from other real estate investment

programs including other Behringer Harvard programs for investments that may be suitable for us
Many of our competitors have

substantially greater financial and other resources than we have and may
have substantially more operating experience than either us or Behringer Opportunity Advisors They
also may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from among other things lower cost of

capital

Regulations

Our investments are subject to various federal state and local laws ordinances and regulations

including those of foreign jurisdictions including among other things zoning regulations land use

controls environmental controls relating to air and water quality noise pollution and indirect

environmental impacts such as increased motor vehicle activity We believe that we have all permits and

approvals necessary under current law to operate our investments



Environmental

As an owner of real estate we are subject to various environmental laws of federal state and local

governments Compliance with existing laws has not had material adverse effect on our financial

condition or results of operations and management does not believe it will have such an impact in the

future However we cannot predict the impact of unforeseen environmental contingencies or new or

changed laws or regulations on properties in which we hold an interest or on properties that may be

acquired directly or indirectly in the future

Distribution Policies

Annualized Percentage Return

Assuming $10.00 Per Share

Purchase Price

3%
3%

3%

3%
3%

3%
3%
3%

3%

3%

2%
2%

Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors based on our analysis of

earnings cash flow anticipated cash flow capital expenditure requirements cash on hand and general

financial condition The boards discretion will be influenced in substantial part by its obligation to

cause the Company to comply with the REIT requirements Because we receive income from interest

or rents at various times during its fiscal year distributions may not reflect our income earned in that

particular distribution period but may be paid in anticipation of cash flow that we expect to receive

during later period or of receiving funds in an attempt to make distributions relatively uniform

Moreover distributions may exceed as they have to date net cash flow from operating activities if the

board believes that the distributions will be covered by future net cash flow Many of the factors that

can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders are beyond our control and

change in any one factor could adversely affect our ability to pay future distributions There can be no

assurance that we will be able to achieve expected cash flows necessary to continue to pay distributions

at any particular level or at all

Distributions are paid to investors who are stockholders as of the record dates that are selected by

our board of directors Since we began operations our board of directors has declared distributions as

summarized below

Approximate Amount

Period Rounded
______________

4th Qtr 2009

3rd Qtr 2009

Qtr 2009

4th Qtr 2008

3rd Qtr 2008

Qtr 2008

Qtr 2008

4th Qtr 2007

3rd Qtr 2007

2id Qtr 2007

1t Qtr 2007

Special distributions as of

$0.0750000 per share

$0.0750000 per share

$0.0756148 per share

$0.0756148 per share

$0.0756148 per share

$0.0747929 per share

$0.0747929 per share

$0.0756148 per share

$O.0756148 per share

$0.0747929 per share

$0.0616410 per share

December 31 20062

4th Qtr 2006

3rd Qtr 2006

$0.0770031 per share

$0.0504068 per share

$0.0504068 per share

The average weighted share price may be lower than $10.00 per share and the individual

percentage return may be greater than the stated percentage as result of shares

purchased through our distribution reinvestment plan at less than $10.00 per share and

shares issued at discounted purchase prices such as volume discounts pursuant to the

terms of the Offering



On December 19 2006 our board of directors approved special distribution of

$1.4 million to all common stockholders of record as of December 31 2006 This special

distribution was paid on January 26 2007

Significant Tenants

As of December 31 2009 one of our tenants accounted for 10% or more of our aggregate annual

rental revenues from our consolidated properties Kingsdell L.P our 5% partner in Chase Park Plaza

and the operator of the hotel portion of Chase Park Plaza leased the hotel and its operations and

accounted for rental revenue of approximately $8.1 million or approximately 13% of our rental

revenues for the year ended December 31 2009

Employees

We have no employees Behringer Opportunity Advisors and other affiliates of Behringer

Harvard Holdings perform full range of real estate services for us including acquisitions property

management accounting legal asset management wholesale brokerage and investor relations services

We are dependent on affiliates of Behringer Harvard Holdings for services that are essential to us

including asset acquisition decisions property management and other general administrative

responsibilities In the event that these companies were unable to provide these services to us we
would be required to provide such services ourselves or obtain such services from other sources

Financial Information About Industry Segments

Our current business consists of owning managing operating leasing acquiring developing

investing in and disposing of real estate assets We internally evaluate all of our real estate assets as

one industry segment and accordingly we do not report segment information

Available Information

We electronically file annual
reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current

reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports with the SEC We also have filed with the

SEC registration statements in connection with the offerings of our common stock Copies of our filings

with the SEC may be obtained from our website at wwwbehringerharvard.com or at the SECs website

at www.sec.gov Access to these filings is free of charge We are not incorporating our website or any
information from the website into this Form 10-K

Item 1A Risk Factors

The factors described below represent the principal risks of an investment in our shares in our

public offering Other factors may exist that we do not consider to be significant based on information

that is currently available or that we are not currently able to anticipate Our stockholders or potential

investors may be referred to as you or your in this Item 1A Risk Factors section

Risks Related to an Investment in Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT

There is no public trading market for your shares therefore it will be difficult for you to sell your shares If

you are able to sell your shares you may have to sell them at substantial discount from the price you paid
to acquire your shares

There is no public market for the shares In addition the price you receive for the sale of any
shares of our common stock is likely to be less than the proportionate value of our investments Our
board of directors may reject any request for redemption of shares or amend suspend or terminate

our share redemption program at any time On March 30 2009 our board of directors suspended until

10



further notice redemptions other than those submitted in respect of stockholders death disability or

need for long-term care Therefore it will be difficult for you to sell your Qhare promptly or at all

You may not be able to sell your shares in the event of an emergency and if you are able to sell your

shares you may have to sell them at substantial discount from the price you paid to acquire your

shares It is also likely that your shares would not be accepted as primary collateral for loan

You may not be able to sell your shares under the share redemption program and if you are able to sell your

shares under the program you may not be able to recover the amount of your investment in our shares

Our board of directors may amend suspend or terminate our share redemption program at any

time Our board of directors may reject any request for redemption of shares Further there are many

limitations on your ability to sell your shares pursuant to the share redemption program Any

stockholder requesting repurchase of their shares pursuant to our share redemption program will be

required to certify to us that such stockholder either acquired the shares requested to be

repurchased directly from us or acquired the shares from the original investor by way of bona fide

gift not for value to or for the benefit of member of the stockholders immediate or extended

family or through transfer to custodian trustee or other fiduciary for the account of the

stockholder or his or her immediate or extended family in connection with an estate planning

transaction including by bequest or inheritance upon death or operation of law

In addition our share redemption program contains other restrictions and limitations We cannot

guarantee that we will accommodate all redemption requests
made in any particular redemption period

If we do not redeem all shares presented for redemption during any period in which we are redeeming

shares then all shares will be redeemed on pro rata basis during the relevant period You must hold

your shares for at least one year prior to seeking redemption under the share redemption program

except that our board of directors will waive this one-year holding requirement with respect to

redemptions sought upon the death or qualifying disability of stockholder or redemptions sought

upon stockholders confinement to long-term care facility Our board of directors may also waive

this one-year holding requirement for other exigent circumstances affecting stockholder such as

bankruptcy or mandatory distribution requirement under stockholders IRA or with respect
to

shares purchased through the DRE We will not redeem during any twelve-month period more than

5% of the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the twelve-month period immediately

prior to the date of redemption In addition the cash available for redemption on any particular date

will be limited to the proceeds from the DRP during the period consisting of the preceding four fiscal

quarters for which financial statements are available less any cash already used for redemptions during

the same period

On March 30 2009 our board suspended until further notice redemptions other than those

submitted in respect
of stockholders death disability or confinement to long-term care facility

thereby reducing the potential liquidity
of stockholders investment Therefore you should not

assume that you will be able to sell any of your shares back to us pursuant to our share redemption

program

If participation in the DRP decreases we may not have sufficient funds available to redeem all shares

submitted for redemption pursuant to the share redemption program and you may not be able to sell your

shares under the program

Our share redemption program contains certain restrictions and limitations including funding

limitation that provides that the funds used for redemption on any particular date will be limited to the

proceeds from the DRP during the period consisting of the preceding four fiscal quarters for which

financial statements are available less any cash already used for redemptions during the same period

We cannot predict with any certainty how much if any DRP proceeds will be available to fund

redemptions under our share redemption program If participation in the DRP decreases and fewer

proceeds are generated from DRP sales then our ability to redeem shares under our share redemption

program will be limited and you may not be able to sell any of your shares back to us
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If you are able to resell your shares to us pursuant to our share redemption program you will likely receive

substantially less than the amount paid to acquire the shares from us or the fair market value of your shares

depending upon how long you owned the shares

Except for redemptions sought upon stockholders death or qualifying disability or redemptions

sought upon stockholders confinement to long-term care facility the purchase price per share

redeemed under our share redemption program will equal 90% of the most recently disclosed

estimated value per share as determined in accordance with our valuation policy less ii the
aggregate

distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more of our assets or other

special distributions so designated by our board of directors distributed to stockholders after the

valuation was determined provided however that the purchase price per share shall not exceed

prior to the first valuation conducted by our board of directors or committee thereof the Initial

Board Valuation under the valuation policy 90% of the average price per share the original

purchaser or purchasers of shares paid to us for all of his or her shares as adjusted for any stock

dividends combinations splits recapitalizations and the like with respect to our common stock less

ii the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more of our

assets or other special distribUtions so designated by our board of directors distributed to stockholders

prior to the redemption date the Special Distributions or on or after the Initial Board

Valuation the average price per share the original purchaser or purchasers of shares paid to us for all

of his or her shares as adjusted for any stock dividends combinations splits recapitalizations and the

like with
respect to our common stock less any Special Distributions Accordingly you may receive less

by selling your shares back to us than you would receive if our investments were sold for their

estimated values and such proceeds were distributed in oUr liquidation

The estimated per share value of our common stock determined pursuant to our valuation policy is subject to

certain limitations and qualifications and may not reflect the amount an investor would obtain if he tried to

sell his shares or if we liquidated our assets

To assist fiduciaries in discharging their obligations under ERISA and to assist broker-dealers in

connection with their obligations under applicable FINRA rules we adopted valuation policy in

respect of estimating the per share value of our common stock effective May 11 2009 and amended on

June 22 2009 On January 2010 pursuant to our valuation policy our bOard of directors established

an estimated per share value of our common stock that is not based solely on the initial offering price

of securities of $8.03 per share This estimate was determined by our board of directors after

consultation with Behringer Opportunity Advisors subject to the restrictions and limitations set forth

in our valuation
policy The estimated value is not intended to be related to any analysis of individual

asset value performed for financial statement purposes nor values at which individual assets may be

carried on financial statements under applicable accounting standards In addition the per share

valuation method is not designed to arrive at valuation that is related to any individual or aggregated

value estimates or appraisals of the value of our assets This estimated value may not reflect the

amount an investor would obtain if he tried to sell his shares or if we liquidated our assets For full

description of the limitations and qualifications of the estimate please refer to our valuation policy

If we lose or are unable to obtain key personnel our ability to implement our investment strategies could be

delayed or hindered

Our success depends to significant degree upon the continued contributions of our chairman

certain executive officers and other key personnel of us our advisor and its affiliates including

Robert Behringer and Robert Aisner each of whom would be difficult to replace We do not

have employment agreements with our chairman and executive officers and we cannot guarantee that

they will remain affiliated with us Although our chairman several of our executive officers and other

key personnel including Mr Behringer and Mr Aisner have entered into employment agreements with
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affiliates of our advisor including Harvard Property Trust these agreements are terminable at will and

we cannot guarantee that such persons will remain affiliated with our advisor If any of our key

personnel were to cease their affiliation with us our advisor or its affiliates our operating results could

suffer Further although Behringer Harvard Holdings has key person insurance on the lives of

Robert Behringer Robert Aisner Gerald Reihsen III Jason Mattox and Gary Bresky

we do not intend to separately
maintain key person life insurance on these individuals or any other

person We believe that our future success depends in large part upon our advisors and its affiliates

ability to hire and retain highly skilled managerial operational and marketing personnel Competition

for persons with these skills is intense and we cannot assure you that our advisor will be successful in

attracting and retaining such skilled personnel Further we have established and intend in the future to

establish strategic relationships with firms that have special expertise
in certain services or as to assets

both nationally and in certain geographic regions Maintaining these relationships will be important for

us to effectively implement our investment strategy
We cannot assure you that we will be successful in

attracting and retaining such strategic relationships If we lose or are unable to obtain the services of

key personnel or do not establish or maintain appropriate strategic relationships our ability to

implement our investment strategies could be delayed or hindered

If we internalize our management functions your interest in us could be diluted and we could incur other

significant costs associated with being seif-managed

Our strategy may involve internalizing our management functions If we internalize our

management functions we may elect to negotiate to acquire our advisors and property managers

assets and personnel Under our advisory management agreement we are restricted from hiring or

soliciting any employee of our advisor or its affiliates for one year from the termination of the

agreement We are similarly restricted under our property management agreement with respect to the

employees of our property manager or its affiliates These restrictions could make it difficult to

internalize our management functions without acquiring assets and personnel from our advisor and its

affiliates for cOnsideration that would be negotiated at that time At this time we cannot be sure of the

form or amount of consideration or other terms relating to any such acquisition Such consideration

could take many forms including cash payments promissory notes and shares of our stock The

payment of such consideration could result in dilution of your interests as stockholder and could

reduce the net income per share and funds from operations per share attributable to your investment

In addition while we would no longer
bear the costs of the various fees and expenses we pay to

our advisor under the advisory management agreement our direct expenses would include general
and

administrative costs including legal accounting and other expenses related to corporate governance

SEC reporting and compliance We would also incur the compensation and benefits costs of our

officers and other employees and consultants that are currently paid by our advisor or its affiliates In

addition we may issue equity
awards to officers employees and consultants which awards would

decrease net income and funds from operations
and may further dilute your investment We cannot

reasonably estimate the amount of fees to our advisor we would save and the costs we would incur if

we became self-managed If the expenses we assume as result of an internalization are higher than

the expenses we avoid paying to our advisor our net income per share and funds from operations per

share would be lower as result of the internalization than it otherwise would have been potentially

decreasing the amount of funds available to distribute to our stockholders and the value of our shares

As currently organized we do not directly employ any employees If we elect to internalize our

operations we would employ personnel and would be subject to potential liabilities commonly faced by

employers such as workers disability and compensation claims potential labor disputes and other

employee-related liabilities and grievances

If we internalize our management functions we could have difficulty integrating these functions as

stand-alone entity Currently our advisor and its affiliates perform property management asset
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management and general and administrative functions including accounting and financial reporting for

multiple entities They have great deal of know-how and can experience economies of scale We may
fail to properly identify the appropriate mix of personnel and capital needs to operate as stand-alone

entity An inability to manage an internalization transaction effectively could thus result in our

incurring excess costs and/or suffering deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our

internal control over financial reporting Such deficiencies could cause us to incur additional costs and

our managements attention could be diverted from most effectively managing our properties

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our officers directors and our
advisor are limited

Maryland law provides that director has no liability in such capacity if he performs his duties in

good faith in manner he reasonably believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an

ordinarily prudent person in like position would use under similar circumstances In addition our
charter provides that subject to the applicable limitations set forth therein or under Maryland law no
director or officer will be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages Our charter also

provides that we will generally indemnify our directors our officers our employees our agents our

advisor and its affiliates for losses they may incur by reason of their service in those capacities to the

maximum extent permitted under Maryland law As result we and our stockholders may have more
limited rights against our directors officers employees and agents and our advisor and its affiliates

than might otherwise exist under common law which could reduce your and our recovery from these

persons In addition we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our directors officers

employees and agents or our advisor in some cases

Your investment may be subject to additional risks due to our international investments

We have purchased real estate assets located outside the United States and have made mortgage
bridge mezzanine or other loans or participations in mortgage bridge mezzanine or other loans made
by borrower located outside the United States or secured by property located outside the United
States These investments may be affected by factors peculiar to the laws of the jurisdiction in which
the borrower or the property is located These laws may expose us to risks that are different from and
in addition to those commonly found in the United States

Foreign investments could be subject to the following risks

governmental laws rules and policies including laws relating to the foreign ownership of real

property or mortgages and laws relating to the ability of foreign persons or corporations to

remove profits earned from activities within the country to the persons or corporations country
of origin

variations in currency exchange rates

adverse market conditions caused by inflation or other changes in national or local economic

conditions

changes in relative interest rates

changes in the availability cost and terms of mortgage funds resulting from varying national

economic policies

changes in real estate and other tax rates the tax treatment of transaction structures and other

changes in operating expenses in particular country where we invest

our REIT tax status is not respected in foreign countries Any income or gains from foreign
sources will be subject to foreign taxes withholding taxes transfer taxes and value added taxes
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lack of uniform accounting standards including availability of information in accordance with

U.S generally accepted accounting principles

changes in land use and zoning laws

more stringent environmental laws or changes in such laws

changes in the social stability or other political economic or diplomatic developments in or

affecting country where we have an investment

we our sponsor and its affiliates have relatively less experience with respect to investing in real

property or other investments outside the United States as compared to domestic investments

and

legal and logistical barriers to enforcing our contractual rights

Any of these risks could have an adverse effect on our business results of operations and ability to

pay distributions to our stockholders

If our sponsor our advisor or its affiliates waive certain fres due to them our results of operations and

distributions may be artificially high

From time to time our sponsor our advisor or its affiliates may agree to waive or defer all or

portion of the acquisition asset management or other fees compensation or incentives due to them

pay general administrative expenses or otherwise supplement stockholder returns in order to increase

the amount of cash available to make distributions to stockholders If our sponsor our advisor or its

affiliates choose to no longer waive or defer such fees and incentives our results of operations will be

lower than in previous periods and your return on your investment could be negatively affected

Because we rely on affiliates of Behringer Harvard Holdings for the provision of advisory and property

management services if Behringer Harvard Holdings is unable to meet its obligations we may be required to

find alternative providers of these services which could result in disruption of our business

Behringer Harvard Holdings through one or more of its subsidiaries owns and controls our

advisor and our property manager The operations of our advisor and our property manager rely

substantially on Behringer Harvard Holdings Behringer Harvard Holdings is largely dependent on fee

income from its sponsored real estate programs The current real estate market disruptions could

adversely affect the amount of such fee income In the event that Behringer Harvard Holdings becomes

unable to meet its obligations as they become due we might be required to find alternative service

providers which could result in significant disruption of our business and would likely adversely affect

the value of your investment in us

The current offering price of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan may exceed the price at which

we offer shares under the distribution reinvestment plan following our next estimation of value of our shares

of common stock

On January 2010 our board of directors established an estimated per share value of our

common stock of $8.03 per share pursuant to our valuation policy In connection with that valuation

our board of directors further determined that distributions may be reinvested in shares of our common

stock at price of $8.03 per share which is the estimated per share value Due to the continuing

impact of the disruptions in the financial and real estate markets on the values of our investments no

assurances can be given that the estimated value per share of our common stock at our next valuation

will not be less than $8.03 per share
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Until we generate sufficient cash flow from operating activities to cover distributions to our stockholders we

may make distributions from other sources which may negatively impact our ability to sustain or pay
distributions

Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors based on its analysis of our

earnings cash flow anticipated cash flow capital expenditure requirements general financial condition

and other factors that our board deems relevant Actual cash available for distribution may vary

substantially from estimates In addition to the extent we have significant capital requirements for our

properties our ability to make distributions may be negatively impacted If cash flow from operating

activities is not sufficient to fully fund the payment of distributions the level of our distributions may
not be sustainable and some or all of our distributions will be paid from other sources For example

we may generate cash to pay distributions from financing activities components of which may include

borrowings including borrowings secured by our assets in
anticipation of future operating cash flow

Historically the amount of our declared distributions has exceeded our cash flow from operating

activities Because of the participation level in our DRF which results in reinvestment of distributions

in shares of our common stock the net cash that we have been required to pay in distributions has

been less than cash flow from operating activities However if the level of participation in our DRP
decreases the net cash required to fund distributions may exceed cash flow from operating activities In

addition from time to time our advisor and its affiliates may agree but are not required to waive or

defer all or portion of the acquisition asset management or other fees or other incentives due to

them enter into lease agreements for unleased space pay general administrative expenses or otherwise

supplement investor returns in order to increase the amount of cash available to make distributions to

our stockholders In addition to the extent distributions exceed net cash or cash flow generated by

operations or financing activities the level of distributions may not be sustainable and our board of

directors could reduce or eliminate distributions To the extent distributions are paid from financing

activities we will have less money available for other uses such as cash needed to refinance existing

indebtedness which may negatively impact our ability to achieve our investment objectives

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

We are subject to conflicts ofinterest arising out of our relationships with our advisor and its

affiliates including the material conflicts discussed below

Because number of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored real estate programs use investment strategies that

are similar to ours our executive officers our advisor and its executive officers face conflicts of interest

relating to the purchase and leasing of properties and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favo

Although our sponsor generally seeks to avOid simultaneous public offerings of funds that have

substantially similar mix of fund characteristics including targeted investment types investment

objectives and criteria and anticipated fund terms there may be periods during which one or more

Behringer Harvard sponsored programs are seeking to invest in similar properties and other real estate

related investments As result we may be buying properties and other real estate-related investments

at the same time as one or more of the other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs managed by
officers and employees of our advisor and/or its affiliates and these other Behringer Harvard-

sponsored programs may use investment strategies that are similar to ours Our executive officers and

the executive officers of our advisor are also the executive officers of other Behringer Harvard

sponsored REITs and their advisors the general partners of Behringer Harvard-sponsored partnerships

and/or the advisors or fiduciaries of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs and these entities

are and will be under common control There is risk that our advisor will choose property that

provides lower returns to us than property purchased by another Behringer Harvard-sponsored

program In the event these conflicts arise we cannot assure you that our best interests will be met

when officers and employees acting on behalf of our advisor and on behalf of advisors and managers of
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other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs decide whether to allocate any particular property to us

or to another Behringer Harvard-sponsored program or affiliate of our advisor which may have an

investment strategy that is similar to ours In addition we may acquire properties in geographic areas

where other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs own properties If one of the other Behringer

Harvard-sponsored programs attracts tenant that we are competing for we could suffer loss of

revenue due to delays in locating another suitable tenant Similar conflicts of interest may apply if our

advisor determines to make or purchase mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans or participations in

mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans on our behalf because other Behringer Harvard-sponsored

programs may be competing with us for such investments You will not have the opportunity to

evaluate the manner in which these conflicts of interest are resolved

Our advisor and its affiliates including all of our executive officers and some of our directors face conflicts

of interest caused by their compensation arrangements with us which could result in actions that are not in

the long-term best interests of our stockholders

Our advisor and its affiliates including our property manager are entitled to substantial fees from

us under the terms of our advisory management agreement and property management agreement

These fees could influence our advisors advice to us as well as the judgment of affiliates of our advisor

performing services for us Among other matters these compensation arrangements could affect their

judgment with respect to

continuing renewing or enforcing our agreements with our advisor and its affiliates including

the advisory management agreement and the property management agreement

public offerings of equity by us which may entitle Behringer Securities LP Behringer

Securities to dealer-manager fees and will likely entitle our advisor to increased acquisition

and asset management fees

property sales which entitle our advisor to real estate commissions and the possible issuance to

our advisor of shares of our common stock through the conversion of our convertible stock

property acquisitions from other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs which might entitle

affiliates of our advisor to real estate commissions and possible success-based sale fees in

connection with its services for the seller

property acquisitions
from third parties which entitle our advisor to acquisition and advisory

fees and asset-management fees

borrowings to acquire properties which increase the acquisition and asset-management fees

payable to our advisor

determining the compensation paid to employees for services provided to us which could be

influenced in part by whether or not the advisor is reimbursed by us for the related salaries and

benefits

whether we seek to internalize our management functions which internalization could result in

our retaining some of our advisors key officers and employees for compensation that is greater

than that which they currently earn or which could require additional payments to affiliates of

our advisor to purchase the assets and operations of our advisor

whether and when we seek to list our common stock on national securities exchange which

could entitle our advisor to the issuance of shares of our common stock through the conversion

of our convertible stock and
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whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets which sale could entitle our advisor

to real estate commissions and to the issuance of shares of our common stock through the

conversion of our convertible stock

The fees our advisor receives in connection with transactions involving the purchase and

management of an asset are based on the cost of the investment including the amount budgeted for

the development construction and improvement of each asset and not based on the quality of the

investment or the quality of the services rendered to us This may influence our advisor to recommend
riskier transactions to us Furthermore our advisor will refund these fees to the extent they are based

on budgeted amounts that prove too high once development construction or improvements are

completed but the fact that these fees are initially calculated in part based on budgeted amounts could

influence our advisor to overstate the estimated costs of development construction or improvements in

order to accelerate the cash flow it receives

In addition the conversion feature of our convertible stock could cause us to make different

investment or disposition decisions than we would otherwise make in order to avoid the stock

conversion Moreover our advisor has the right to terminate the advisory management agreement for

any reason upon 60 days notice and thereby trigger the conversion of the convertible stock which

could have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change of control that might otherwise be

in our stockholders best interests

Our advisor faces conflicts of interest relating to joint ventures tenant-in-common investments or other

co-ownership arrangements which could result in disproportionate benefit to another Behringer Harvard

sponsored program or third-party

We may enter into joint ventures tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership

arrangements with other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs for the acquisition development or

improvement of properties as well as the acquisition of real estate-related investments The executive

officers of our advisor are also the executive officers of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored REITs and

their advisors the general partners of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored partnerships and/or the

advisors or fiduciaries of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs These executive officers will

face conflicts of interest in determining which Behringer Harvard-sponsored program should enter into

any particular joint venture tenant-in-common or co-ownership arrangement These persons may also

have conflict in structuring the terms of the relationship between our interests and the interests of

the Behringer Harvard-sponsored co-venturer co-tenant or partner as well as conflicts of interest in

managing the joint venture

In the event that we enter into joint venture tenant-in-common investment or other

co-ownership arrangements with another Behringer Harvard-sponsored program or joint venture our
advisor and its affiliates may have conflict of interest when determining when and whether to buy or

sell particular real estate property and you may face certain additional risks For example it is

anticipated that Behringer Harvard Short-Term Fund will never have an active trading market
Therefore if we become listed for trading on national securities exchange we may develop more
divergent goals and objectives from such joint venturer with respect to the sale of properties in the

future In addition in the event we enter into joint venture with Behringer Harvard-sponsored

program that has term shorter than ours the joint venture may be
required to sell its properties at

the time of the other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs liquidation We may not desire to sell

the properties at such time Even if the terms of any joint venture agreement between us and another

Behringer Harvard-sponsored program grant us right of first refusal to buy such properties we may
not have sufficient funds to exercise our right of first refusal under these circumstances

Because Mr Behringer and his affiliates control us and other Behringer Harvard-sponsored

programs agreements and transactions among the parties with respect to any joint venture
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tenant-in-common investment or other co-ownership arrangement between or among such parties will

not have the benefit of arms-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between unrelated

co-venturers Under these joint ventures neither co-venturer may have the power to control the

venture and under certain circumstances an impasse could be reached regarding matters pertaining to

the co-ownership arrangement which might have negative influence on the joint venture and

decrease potential returns to you In the event that co-venturer has right of first refusal to buy out

the other co-venturer it may be unable to finance such buy-out at that time If our interest is subject to

buy/sell right we may not have sufficient cash available borrowing capacity or other capital resources

to allow us to elect to purchase an interest of co-venturer subject to the buy/sell right in which case

we may be forced to sell our interest as the result of the exercise of such right when we would

otherwise prefer to keep our interest Furthermore we may not be able to sell our interest in joint

venture if we desire to exit the venture for any reason or if our interest is likewise subject to right of

first refusal of our co-venturer or partner our ability to sell such interest may be adversely impacted by

such right

From time to time we may make an equity investment in partnership joint venture or other

entity to which another Behringer Harvard-sponsored program has provided debt financing in the form

of mortgage bridge or mezzanine loan In such an arrangement our equity interest in the

partnership joint venture or other entity would be subordinate to the debt interest of the other

Behringer Harvard sponsored program if the partnership joint venture or other entity were to

liquidate Thus the other Behringer Harvard-sponsored program would have right to receive

liquidation proceeds prior to us and it is possible that the liquidation proceeds available would not be

sufficient for us to recoup all or any of our investment

Our advisors executive officers and key personnel and the executive officers and key personnel of Behringer

Harvard-affiliated entities that conduct our day-to-day operations face competing demands on their time and

this may cause our investment returns to suffer

We rely upon the executive officers of our advisor and the executive officers and employees of

Behringer Harvard-affiliated entities to conduct our day-to-day operations These persons also conduct

the day-to-day operations of other Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs and may have other business

interests as well Because these persons have competing interests on their time and resources they may

have conflicts of interest in allocating their time between our business and these other activities During

times of intense activity in other programs and ventures they may devote less time and resources to

our business than is necessary or appropriate If this occurs the returns on our investments may suffer

Our officers face conflicts of interest related to the positions they hold with entities affiliated with our advisor

which could diminish the value of the services they provide to us

Each of our executive officers including Mr Aisner who serves as our President Chief Executive

Officer and director is also an officer of our advisor our property manager and other entities

affiliated with our advisor including the advisors and fiduciaries to other Behringer Harvard sponsored

programs As result these individuals owe fiduciary duties to these other entities and their investors

which may conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our stockholders Their loyalties to

these other entities and investors could result in action or inaction that is detrimental to our business

which could harm the implementation of our business strategy and our investment and leasing

opportunities Conflicts with our business and interests are most likely to arise from involvement in

activities related to allocation of new investments and management time and services between us

and the other entities the timing and terms of the investment in or sale of an asset

development of our properties by affiliates of our advisor investments with affiliates of our

advisor compensation to our advisor and our relationship with our property manager If we do
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not successfully implement our business strategy we may be unable to generate the cash needed to

make distributions to you and to maintain or increase the value of our assets

Your investment will be diluted upon conversion of the convertible stock

Behringer Harvard Holdings purchased 1000 shares of our convertible stock for an aggregate

purchase price of $1000 Under limited circumstances these shares may be converted into shares of

our common stock reducing the percentage of your common stock owned prior to conversion The
terms of the convertible stock provide that generally the holder of such shares will receive shares of

common stock with value equal to 15% of the excess of our enterprise value over the sum of the

capital invested by the stockholders and 10% cumulative non-compounded annual return on such

capital The shares of convertible stock will be converted into shares of common stock automatically if

the holders of our common stock have received distributions equal to the sum of the aggregate

capital invested by such stockholders and 10% cumulative non-compounded annual return on

such capital

the shares of common stock are listed for trading on national securities exchange or

the advisory agreement expires and is not renewed or is terminated other than due to

termination because of material breach by our advisor and at the time of or subsequent to

such termination the holders of our common stock have received
aggregate distributions equal to

the sum of the capital invested by such stockholders and 10% cumulative non-compounded
annual return on such capital contributions through the date of conversion

Our advisor and Mr Behringer can influence whether we terminate the advisory agreement or

allow it to expire without renewal or whether our common stock is listed for trading on national

securities exchange Accordingly our advisor can influence both the conversion of the convertible stock

issued to Behringer Harvard Holdings and the resulting dilution of other stockholders interests

The convertible shares issued may be worth 15% of the excess of our enterprise value over the sum of the

capital invested by our stockholders and 10% cumulative non-compounded annual return

We have issued 1000 shares of our convertible stock to Behringer Harvard Holdings for an

aggregate purchase price of $1000 As described above under limited circumstances these shares may
be converted into shares of our common stock The terms of the convertible stock provide that

generally the holder of such shares will receive shares of common stock with value on the date of

determination of the number of shares issuable upon such conversion equal to 15% of the excess of

our enterprise value over the sum of the capital invested by the stockholders and 10% cumulative

non-compounded annual return on such
capital As result following conversion the holder of the

convertible stock will be entitled to substantial portion of amounts distributable to our stockholders

Behringer Opportunity Advisors faces conflicts of interest relating to the incentive fee structure under our

advisory agreement which could result in actions that are not necessarily in the long-term best interests of our

stockholders

Under our advisory agreement Behringer Opportunity Advisors is entitled to fees that are

structured in manner intended to provide incentives to our advisor to perform in our best interests

and in the best interests of our stockholders However because our advisor does not maintain

significant equity interest in us and is entitled to receive substantial minimum compensation regardless

of performance our advisors interests are not wholly aligned with those of our stockholders In that

regard our advisor could be motivated to recommend riskier or more speculative investments in order

for us to generate the specified levels of performance or sales proceeds that would entitle our advisor

to fees In addition our advisors entitlement to fees upon the sale of our assets and to participate in
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sale proceeds could result in our advisor recommending sales of our investments at the earliest possible

time at which sales of investments would produce the level of return that would entitle the advisor to

compensation relating to such sales even if continued ownership of those investments might be in our

best long-term interest The terms of our convertible stock provide for its conversion into shares of

common stock in the event we terminate our advisor prior to the listing of our shares for trading on an

exchange or absent such listing in respect of its participation
in net sales proceeds

The terms of our advisory agreement require us to pay performance-based termination fee to

our advisor reduced by the value of shares of common stock issued or issuable upon conversion of our

convertible stock in the event that the advisory agreement expires without renewal or is terminated

other than because of material breach by the advisor the holders of the common stock have received

distributions equal to the sum of the capital
invested by such stockholders and 10% cumulative

non-compounded annual return or the shares of common stock are listed for trading on national

securities exchange To avoid the conversion of our convertible stock and/or paying this fee our

independent directors may decide against terminating the advisory agreement prior to the listing of our

shares or disposition of our investments even if but for the termination fee termination of the advisory

agreement would be in our best interest In addition the conversion feature of our convertible stock

and the requirement of the advisory agreement to pay fee to our advisor at termination could cause

us to make different investment or disposition
decisions than we would otherwise make in order to

avoid the stock conversion and the fee payment Moreover our advisor has the right to terminate the

advisory agreement upon change of control of our company and thereby trigger the payment of the

performance fee and the conversion of the convertible stock which could have the effect of delaying

deferring or preventing
the change of control

Risks Related to Our Business in General

limit on the number of shares person may own may discourage
takeovei

Our charter with certain exceptions authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary

and desirable to preserve our qualification as REIT Unless exempted by our board of directors no

person may own more than 9.8% of our outstanding shares of common or preferred stock This

restriction may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change in control of us including

an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our

assets that might otherwise provide stockholders with the opportunity to receive control premium for

their shares

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may subordinate the rights of the

holders of our current common stock or discourage third-party from acquiring us

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue up to 400001000 shares of capital stock Our

board of directors without any action by our stockholders may increase or decrease the aggregate

number of shares increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series we have

authority to issue or classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and

establish the preferences conversion or other rights voting powers restrictions limitations as to

distributions qualifications
or terms or conditions of redemption of any such stock Thus our board of

directors could authorize the issuance of such stock with terms and conditions that could subordinate

the rights of the holders of our current common stock or have the effect of delaying deferring or

preventing change in control of us including an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender

offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that might provide premium price for holders of

our common stock
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Maryland law prohibits certain business combinations which may make it more dfflcuIt for us to be

acquired

Under Maryland law business combinations between Maryland corporation and an interested

stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most
recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder These business

combinations include merger consolidation share exchange or in circumstances specified in the

statute an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities An interested stockholder is

defined as

any person who
beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporations shares

or

an affiliate or associate of the corporation who at any time within the two-year period prior to
the date in question was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then

outstanding voting stock of the corporation

person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in

advance the transaction by which he otherwise would have become an interested stockholder However
in approving transaction the board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to

compliance at or after the time of approval with any terms and conditions determined by the board

After the five-year prohibition any business combination between the Maryland corporation and
an interested stockholder generally must be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation
and approved by the affirmative vote of at least

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of
outstanding shares of voting stock of the

corporation and

two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other
than shares held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business
combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporations common stockholders

receive minimum price as defined under Maryland law for their shares in the form of cash or other
consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares Maryland
law also permits various exemptions from these provisions including business combinations that are

exempted by the board of directors before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an
interested stockholder The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire
control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer

Maryland law also limits the ability of third
party to buy large stake in us and exercise voting power in

electing directors

Maryland law provides second anti-takeover statute its Control Share Acquisition Act which

provides that control shares of Maryland corporation acquired in control share acquisition have
no voting rights except to the extent approved by the corporations disinterested stockholders by vote
of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter Shares of stock owned by interested

stockholders that is by the acquirer by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation
are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter Control shares are voting shares of stock
that would entitle the

acquirer to exercise
voting power in electing directors within specified ranges of

voting power Control shares do not include shares the
acquiring person is then entitled to vote as

result of having previously obtained stockholder approval control share acquisition means the

acquisition of control shares The control share acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired
in merger consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is party to the transaction or to
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acquisitions approved or exempted by the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the corporation Our

bylaws contain provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any and all acquisitions

by any person of shares of our stock We can offer no assurance that this provision will not be

amended or eliminated at any time in the future This statute could have the effect of discouraging

offers from third parties to acquire us and increasing the difficulty of successfully completing this type

of offer by anyone other than our affiliates or any of their affiliates

Your investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the

Investment Company Act if we or our subsidiaries become an unregistered investment company we could not

continue our business

Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries intend to register as investment companies under the

Investment Company Act of 1940 as amended the Investment Company Act If we or any of our

subsidiaries were obligated to register as investment companies we would have to comply with variety

of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act that impose among other things

limitations on capital structure

restrictions on specified investments

prohibitions on transactions with affiliates and

compliance with reporting record keeping voting proxy disclosure and other rules and

regulations that would significantly increase our operating expenses

Under the relevant provisions of Section 3a1 of the Investment Company Act we will not be

deemed to be an investment company if

we are not engaged primarily nor do we hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily nor

propose to engage primarily in the business of investing reinvesting or trading in securities the

Primarily Engaged Test and

we are not engaged and do not propose to engage in the business of investing reinvesting

owning holding or trading in securities and do not own or propose to acquire investment

securities having value exceeding 40% of the value of our total assets on an unconsolidated

basis the 40% Test Investment securities excludes U.S government securities and

securities of majority owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are

not relying on the exception from the definition of investment company under Section 3c1 or

Section 3c7 relating to private investment companies

We believe that we and our operating partnership satisfy both tests above With respect to the 40%

Test most of the entities through which we and our operating partnership own our assets are majority

owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exceptions

from the definition of investment company under Section 3c1 or Section 3c7
With respect to the Primarily Engaged Test we and our operating partnership are holding

companies and do not intend to invest or trade in securities ourselves Rather through the majority

owned subsidiaries of our operating partnership we and our operating partnership are primarily

engaged in the non investment company businesses of these subsidiaries

We believe that most of the subsidiaries of our operating partnership may rely on

Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act for an exception from the definition of an

investment company Any other subsidiaries of our operating partnership should be able to rely on the

exceptions for private investment companies pursuant to Section 3c1 and Section 3c7 of the

Investment Company Act The SEC staffs position on Section 3c5C generally requires that an

issuer maintain at least 55% of its assets in mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate
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Qualifying Assets at least 80% of its assets in Qualifying Assets plus real estate-related assets

Real Estate-Related Assets and no more than 20% of the value of its assets in other than

Qualifying Assets and Real Estate-Related Assets Miscellaneous Assets To constitute Qualifying

Asset under this 55% requirement real estate interest must meet various criteria therefore certain

of our subsidiaries are limited with respect to the value and nature of the assets that they may own at

any given time

If however the value of the subsidiaries of our operating partnership that must rely on

Section 3c1 or Section 3c7 is greater than 40% of the value of the assets of our operating

partnership then we and operating partnership may seek to rely on the exception from registration

under Section 3c6 if we and our operating partnership are primarily engaged through majority

owned subsidiaries in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other interests

in real estate Although the SEC staff has issued little interpretive guidance with respect to

Section 3c6 we believe that we and our operating partnership may rely on Section 3c6 if 55% of

the assets of our operating partnership consist of and at least 55% of the income of our operating

partnership is derived from majority owned subsidiaries that rely on Section 3c5C
To maintain compliance with the Investment Company Act our subsidiaries may be unable to sell

assets we would otherwise want them to sell and may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish them

to retain In addition our subsidiaries may have to acquire additional assets that they might not

otherwise have acquired or may have to forego opportunities to make investments that we would

otherwise want them to make and would be important to our investment strategy Moreover SEC staff

interpretations with respect to various types of assets are subject to change which increases the risk of

non-compliance and the risk that we may be forced to make adverse changes to our portfolio

If we were required to register as an investment company but failed to do so we would be

prohibited from engaging in our business and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us In

addition our contracts would be unenforceable unless court required enforcement and court could

appoint receiver to take control of us and liquidate our business

Rapid changes in the values of investments in other real estate-related investments may make it more difficult

for us to maintain our qualification as REIT or exception from the Investment Company Act

If the market value or income potential of our real estate-related investments declines as result

of increased interest rates prepayment rates or other factors we may need to increase our real estate

investments and income and/or liquidate our non-qualifying assets in order to maintain our REIT

qualification or our exception from registration under the Investment Company Act If the decline in

real estate asset values and/or income occurs quickly this may be especially difficult to accomplish This

difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of any non-real estate assets that we may own We

may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent REIT and

Investment Company Act considerations

Stockholders have limited control over changes in our policies and operations

Our board of directors determines our major policies including our policies regarding financing

growth debt capitalization REIT qualification and distributions Our board of directors may amend or

revise these and other policies without vote of the stockholders Our charter sets forth the

stockholder voting rights Under our charter and the Maryland General Corporation Law our

stockholders currently have right to vote only on the following matters

the election or removal of directors
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any amendment of our charter except that our board of directors may amend our charter

without stockholder approval to

change our name

increase or decrease the aggregate number of our shares

increase or decrease the number of our shares of any class or series that we have the

authority to issue

classify or reclassify any unissued shares by setting or changing the preferences conversion

or other rights restrictions limitations as to distributions qualifications or terms and

conditions of redemption of such shares

effect reverse stock splits

after the listing of our shares of common stock on national securities exchange opting

into any of the provisions of Subtitle of Title of the Maryland General Corporation

Law

our liquidation and dissolution and

our being party to any merger consolidation sale or other disposition of substantially all of

our assets notwithstanding that Maryland law may not require stockholder approval

All other matters are subject to the discretion of our board of directors

Our board of directors may change our investment policies and objectives generally and at the individual

investment level without stockholder approval which could alter the nature of your investment

Our charter requires that our independent directors review our investment policies at least

annually to determine that thepolicies we are following are in the bestinterest of the stockholders In

addition to our investment policies and objectiveswe may also change our stated strategy for any

investment in an individual property These policies may change over time The methods of

implementing our investment policies may also vary as new investment techniques are developed Our

investment policies the methods for their implementation and our other objectives policies and

proceduresmay be altered by our board of directors without the approval of our stockholders As

result the nature of your investment could change without your consent

We may not successfully implement our exit strategy in which case you may have to hold your investment for

an indefinite period

Depending upon then prevailing market conditions we intend to begin to consider the
process

of

liquidating and distributing cash or listing our shares on national securities exchange within three to

six years
after the termination of our initial public offering If we have not begun the process to list our

shares for trading on national securities exchange or to liquidate at any time after the sixth

anniversary of the termination of our initial public offering unless such date is extended by our board

of directors including majority of our independent directors we will furnish proxy statement to

stockholders to vote on proposal for our orderly liquidation upon the written request
of stockholders

owning 10% or more of our outstanding common stock The liquidation proposal would include

information regarding appraisals of our portfolio By proxy stockholders holding majority
of our

shares could vote to approve our liquidation If our stockholders did not approve the liquidation

proposal we would obtain new appraisals and resubmit the proposal by proxy statement to our

stockholders up to once every two years upon the written request
of stockholders owning 10% or more

of our outstanding common stock
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Market conditions and other factors could cause us to delay the listing of our shares on national

securities exchange or to delay the commencement of our liquidation beyond six
years

from the

termination of our initial public offering If so our board of directors and our independent directors

may conclude that it is not in our best interest for us to furnish proxy statement to stockholders for

the purpose of voting on proposal for our orderly liquidation Our charter permits our board of

directors with the concurrence of majority of our independent directors to defer the furnishing of

such proxy indefinitely Therefore if we are not successful in implementing our exit strategy your

shares may continue to be illiquid and you may for an indefinite period of time be unable to convert

your investment into cash easily and could suffer losses on your investment

We may incur costs associated with changing our name if we are no longer permitted to use Behringer

Harvard in our name

We entered into service mark license agreement with Behringer Harvard Holdings for use of the

name Behringer Harvard Pursuant to the agreement when an affiliate of Behringer Harvard

Holdings no longer serves as one of our officers or directors Behringer Harvard Holdings may

terminate our service mark license agreement and may require us to change our name to eliminate the

use of the words Behringer Harvard We will be required to pay any costs associated with changing

our name

Your percentage interest in Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT will be reduced if we issue additional

shares

Stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future Our charter

currently has authorized 400001000 shares of capital stock of which 350000000 shares are designated

as common stock 1000 shares are designated as convertible stock and 50000000 are designated as

preferred stock Subject to any limitations set forth under Maryland law our board of directors may
increase the number of authorized shares of capital stock increase or decrease the number of shares of

any class or series of stock designated or reclassify any unissued shares without the necessity of

obtaining stockholder approval All of such shares may be issued in the discretion of our board of

directors Stockholders will likely experience dilution of their equity investment in us in the event that

we sell additional shares in the future including those issued pursuant to the distribution

reinvestment plan sell securities that are convertible into shares of our common stock issue

shares of our common stock in private offering of securities to institutional investors issue shares

of common stock upon the conversion of our convertible stock issue shares of our common stock

upon the exercise of any options granted to our independent directors or employees of Behringer

Opportunity Advisors and HPT Management or their affiliates issue shares to Behringer

Opportunity Advisors its successors or assigns in payment of an outstanding fee obligation as set

forth under our advisory agreement or issue shares of our common stock to sellers of properties

acquired by us in connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests of Behringer Harvard

OP In addition the partnership agreement for Behringer Harvard OP contains provisions which

would allow under certain circumstances other entities including other Behringer Harvard sponsored

programs to merge into or cause the exchange or conversion of their interest for interests of Behringer

Harvard OP Because the limited partnership interests of Behringer Harvard OP may be exchanged

for shares of our common stock any merger exchange or conversion between Behringer Harvard OP

and another entity ultimately could result in the issuance of substantial number of shares of our

common stock thereby diluting the percentage ownership interest of other stockholders Because of

these and other reasons described in this Risk Factors section you should not expect to be able to

own significant percentage of our shares
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Payment of fees to our advisor and its affiliates will reduce cash available for investment and payment of

distributions

Our advisor and its affiliates perform services for us in connection with among other things the

selection and acquisition of our investments the management and leasing of our properties the

servicing of our mortgage bridge mezzanine or other loans the administration of our other

investments and the disposition of our assets They are paid substantial fees for these services These

fees reduce the amount of cash available for investment or distributions to stockholders

We may be restricted in our ability to replace our property manager under certain circumstances

Under the terms of our property management agreement we may terminate the agreement upon

30 days notice in the event of and only in the event of showing of willful misconduct gross

negligence or deliberate malfeasance by the property manager in performing its duties Our board of

directors may find the performance of our property manager to be unsatisfactory However

unsatisfactory performance by the property manager may not constitute willful misconduct gross

negligence or deliberate malfeasance As result we may be unable to terminate the property

management agreement at the desired time which may have an adverse effect on the management and

profitability of our properties

Distributions may be paid from capital and there can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve expected

cash flows necessary to continue to pay distributions or maintain distributions at any particular level

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to

stockholders Distributions generally will be based upon such factors as the amount of cash available or

anticipated to be available real estate securities mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans and other

investments current and projected cash requirements and tax considerations Because we may receive

income from interest or rents at various times during our fiscal year distributions paid may not reflect

our income earned in that particular
distribution period The amount of cash available for distributions

will be affected by many factors such as the income from our properties and mortgages and yields on

securities of other real estate programs that we invest in and our operating expense levels as well as

many other variables Actual cash available for distributions may vary substantially from estimates We

can give no assurance that we will be able to aphieve our anticipated cash flow or that distributions will

increase over time Nor can we give any assurance that rents from the properties will increase that the

securities we buy will increase in value or provide constant or increased distributions over time that

loans we make will be repaid or paid on time or that future acquisitions of real properties mortgage

bridge or mezzanine loans or our investments in securities will increase our cash available for

distributions to stockholders Our actual results may differ significantly from the assumptions used by

our board of directors in establishing the distribution rates to stockholders Many of the factors that

can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders are beyond our control and

change in any one factor could adversely affect our ability to pay future distributions For instance

If one or more tenants defaults or terminates its lease there could be decrease or cessation of

rental payments which would mean less cash available for distributions

Any failure by borrower under our mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans to repay the loans or

interest on the loans will reduce our income and distributions to stockholders

Cash available for distributions may be reduced if we are required to spend money to correct

defects or to make improvements to properties

Cash available to make distributions may decrease if the assets we acquire have lower yields

than expected
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If we lend money to others such funds may not be repaid in accordance with the loan terms or

at all which could reduce cash available for distributions

Federal income tax laws require REITs to distribute at least 90% of their taxable income to

stockholders to maintain REIT status and 100% of taxable income and net capital gain to avoid

federal income tax This limits the earnings that we may retain for corporate growth such as

property acquisition development or expansion and makes us more dependent upon additional

debt or equity financing than corporations that are not REITs If we borrow more funds in the

future more of our operating cash will be needed to make debt payments and cash available for

distributions may therefore decrease

We cannot predict the number of shares of common stock units or interests that we may issue

or the effect that these additional shares might have on cash available for distributions to you If

we issue additional shares they could reduce the cash available for distributions to you

We make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the distribution requirements of the

Code and to eliminate or at least minimize exposure to federal income taxes and the

nOndeductible REIT excise tax and

Differences in timing between the receipt of income and the payment of expenses and the effect

of required debt payments could require us to borrow funds on short-term basis to meet the

distribution requirements that are necessary to achieve the tax benefits associated with qualifying

as REIT

In addition our board of directors in its discretion may retain any portion of our cash on hand

for working capital We cannot assure you that sufficient cash will be available to make distributions to

you

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available to

pay distributions and make additional investments

We have diversified our cash and cash equivalents between several banking institutions in an

attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these entities However the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation or FDIC only insures limited amounts per depositor per insured bank At

December 31 2009 we had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial

institutions in excess of federally insured levels If any of the banking institutions in which we have

deposited funds ultimately fails we may lose our deposits over the federally insured levels The loss of

our deposits could reduce the amount of cash we have available to distribute or invest and could result

in decline in the value of your investment

We are uncertain of our sources for funding of future capital needs which could adversely affect the value of

our investments

We completed our primary offering of shares in December 2007 and are only offering shares

through our Secondary DRE Unless we sell additional equity our ability to fund future
property capital

needs such as tenant improvements leasing commissions and capital expenditures will depend on our

ability to borrow sell assets or interests in assets or to generate additional cash flows from operations

We will establish capital reserves on property-by-property basis as we deem appropriate In addition

to any reserves we establish lender may require escrow of capital reserves in excess of our

established reserves If these reserves are insufficient to meet our cash needs we may have to obtain

financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated sources to fund our cash requirements Accordingly in

the event that we develop need for additional capital in the future for the improvement of our

properties or for any other reason we have not identified any sources for such funding and we cannot

assure you that such sources of funding will be available to us for potential capital needs in the future
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Recent market disruptions may adversely impact aspects of our operating results and operating condition

The global financial markets have undergone pervasive and fundamental disruptions The

disruption has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on the availability of credit to

businesses generally and has resulted in and could lead to further weakening of the U.S and global

economies Our business may be affected by market and economic challenges experienced by the U.S

economy or real estate industry as whole or by the local economic conditions in the markets in which

our properties are located including the current dislocations in the credit markets and general global

economic recession Availability of debt financing secured by commercial real estate has declined as

result of tightened underwriting standards These conditions have and may continue to materially affect

the value of our investment properties and may affect our ability to pay distributions the availability or

the terms of financing that we have or may anticipate utilizing and our ability to make principal and

interest payments on or refinance any outstanding debt when due These challenging economic

conditions may also impact the ability of certain of our tenants to enter into new leasing transactions or

satisfy rental payments under existing leases Specifically the current conditions or similar conditions

existing in the future may have the following consequences

the financial condition of our tenants may be adversely affected which result in us having to

increase concessions reduce rental rates or make capital improvements beyond those

contemplated at the time we acquired the properties in order to maintain occupancy levels or to

negotiate for reduced space needs which results in decrease in our occupancy levels

an increase in the number of bankruptcies or insolvency proceedings of our tenants and lease

guarantors which could delay our efforts to collect rent and any past due balances under the

relevant leases and ultimately could preclude collection of these sums

significant job losses in the financial and professional services industries have occurred and may

continue to occur which may decrease demand for our office space and result in lower

occupancy levels which will result in decreased revenues and which could diminish the value of

our properties which depend in part upon the cash flow generated by our properties

credit spreads for major sources of capital may continue to widen as stockholders demand higher

risk premiums resulting in lenders increasing the cost for debt financing

our ability to borrow on terms and conditions that we find acceptable or at all may be limited

which could result in our investment operations generating lower overall economic returns and

reduced level of cash flow which could potentially impact our ability to make distributions to

our stockholders at current levels reduce our ability to pursue acquisition opportunities if any

and increase our interest expense

further reduction in the amount of capital that is available to finance real estate which in

turn could lead to decline in real estate values generally
slow real estate transaction activity

reduce the loan to value ratio upon which lenders are willing to lend and result in difficulty

refinancing our debt

the value of certain of our properties have likely decreased below the amounts we paid for them

which may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices or to obtain debt financing

secured by our properties and may reduce the availability of unsecured loans

the value and liquidity of our short-term investments could be reduced as result of the

dislocation of the markets for our short-term investments and increased volatility in market rates

for such investments or other factors and

one or more counterparties to our derivative financial instruments could default on their

obligations to us or could fail increasing the risk that we may not realize the benefits of these

instruments
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Further in light of the current economic conditions we cannot provide assurance that we will be

able to sustain the current level of our distributions If the conditions continue our board may reduce

or cease our distributions in order to conserve cash

If we set aside insufficient working capital reserves we may be required to defer necessary property

improvements

If we do not estimate enough reserves for working capital to supply needed funds for capital

improvements throughout the life of the investment in property and there is insufficient cash

available from our operations we may be required to defer necessary improvements to the property

that may cause the property to suffer from greater risk of obsolescence or decline in value or

greater risk of decreased cash flow as result of fewer potential tenants being attracted to the

property If this happens we may not be able to maintain projected rental rates for affected properties

and our results of operations may be negatively impacted

To hedge against exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations we may use derivative financial instruments that

may be costly and ineffective and may reduce the overall returns on your investment and affect cash available

for distributions to our stockholders

We have used and may in the future use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to

changes in exchange rates and interest rates on loans secured by our assets and investments in

collateralized mortgage-backed securities Derivative instruments may include interest rate swap

contracts interest rate cap or floor contracts futures or forward contracts options or repurchase

agreements Our actual hedging decisions are determined in light of the facts and circumstances

existing at the time of the hedge and may differ from time to time Our hedging may fail to protect or

could adversely affect us because among other things

interest rate hedging can be expensive particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest

rates

available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which

protection
is sought

the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability or asset

the amount of income that REIT may earn from hedging transactions to offset interest rate

losses is limited by federal tax provisions governing REITs

the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent

that it impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction

the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay and

we may purchase hedge that turns out to be unnecessary i.e hedge that is out of the

money

Any hedging activity we engage in may adversely affect our earnings which could adversely affect

cash available for distribution to our stockholders Therefore while we may enter into such transactions

to seek to reduce interest rate risks unanticipated changes in interest rates may result in poorer overall

investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transactions In addition the

degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in hedging strategy and price

movements in the portfolio positions being hedged or liabilities being hedged may vary materially

Moreover for variety of reasons we may not seek to establish perfect correlation between such

hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged Any such imperfect correlation may

prevent us from achieving the intended accounting treatment and may expose us to risk of loss
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To the extent that we use derivative financial instruments to hedge against exchange rate and

interest rate fluctuations we will be exposed to credit risk basis risk and legal enforceability risks In

this context credit risk is the failure of the
counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative

contract Tithe fair value of derivative contract is positive the counterparty owes us which creates

credit risk for us Basis risk occurs when the index upon which the contract is based is more or less

variable than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based thereby making the hedge less

effective Finally legal enforceability risks encompass general contractual risks including the risk that

the
counterparty will breach the terms of or fail to perform its obligations under the derivative

contract If we are unable to manage these risks effectively our results of operations financial

condition and ability to pay distributions to you will be adversely affected

Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulated exchanges guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing

house or regulated by any IS or foreign governmental authorities and involve risks and costs which may
result in us sustaining losses

The cost of using hedging instruments increases as the period covered by the instrument increases

and during periods of rising and volatile interest rates We may increase our hedging activity and thus

increase our hedging costs during periods when interest rates are volatile or rising and hedging costs

have increased In addition hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on

regulated exchanges guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house or regulated by any U.S or

foreign governmental authorities Consequently there are no requirements with respect to record

keeping financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions Furthermore the

enforceability of agreements underlying derivative transactions may depend on compliance with

applicable statutory commodity and other regulatory requirements and depending on the identity of

the counterparty applicable international requirements The business failure of hedging counterparty

with whom we enter into hedging transaction will most likely result in default Default by party

with whom we enter into hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us

to cover our resale commitments if any at the then current market price Although generally we will

seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions it may not always be possible to dispose of

or close out hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty and we may not be

able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to cover our risk We cannot be certain that liquid

secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold and we may be required to

maintain position until exercise or expiration which could result in losses to us and affect our ability

to pay distributions to our stockholders

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations Under

these provisions any income that we generate from transactions intended to hedge our interest rate

inflation and/or currency risks will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the REIT 75.0% and

95.0% gross income tests if the instrument hedges interest rate risk on liabilities incurred to carry

or acquire real estate or risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain

that would be qualifying income under the REIT 75.0% or 95.0% gross income tests and such

instrument is properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations Income from hedging

transactions that do not meet these requirements will generally constitute nonqualifying income for

purposes of both the REIT 75.0% and 95.0% gross income tests As result of these rules we may
have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous which could result

in greater risks associated with interest rate or other changes than we would otherwise incur
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General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our opportunistic property-acquisition strategy involves higher risk of loss than more conservative

investment strategies

Our strategy for acquiring properties involves the acquisition of properties
in markets that are

depressed or overbuilt and/or have high growth potential
in real estate lease rates and sale prices As

result of our investment in these types
of markets we face increased risks relating to changes in local

market conditions and increased competition for similar properties in the same market as well as

increased risks that these markets will not recover and the value of our properties
in these markets will

not increase or will decrease over time For these and other reasons we cannot assure you that we

will be profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our real estate properties and as

result our ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be affected Our approach to

acquiring and operating income-producing properties involves more risk than comparable real estate

programs that have targeted holding period for investments that is longer than ours utilize leverage

to lesser degree and/or employ more conservative investment strategies

Our revenue and net income may vary significantly from one period to another due to investments in

opportunity-oriented properties and portfolio acquisitions which could increase the variability of our cash

available for distributions

Our opportunistic property-acquisition strategy includes investments in properties in various phases

of development redevelopment or repositioning and portfolio acquisitions
which may cause our

revenues and net income to fluctuate significantly from one period to another Projects do not produce

revenue while in development or redevelopment During any period when our projects in development

or redevelopment or those with significant capital requirements increase without corresponding

increase in stable revenue-producing properties our revenues and net income will likely decrease Many

factors may have negative impact on the level of revenues or net income produced by our portfolio of

properties and projects including higher than expected construction costs failure to complete projects

on timely basis failure of the properties to perform at expected levels upon completion of

development or redevelopment and increased borrowings necessary to fund higher
than expected

construction or other costs related to the project Any such reduction in our revenues and net income

during such periods could cause resulting decrease in our cash available for distributions during the

same periods

We may suffer adverse consequences
due to the financial difficulties bankruptcy or insolvency of our tenants

The current economic conditions may cause the tenants in any properties we own to experience

financial difficulties including bankruptcy insolvency or general downturn in their business We

cannot assure you that any tenant that files for bankruptcy protection will continue to pay us rent

bankruptcy filing by or relating to one of our tenants or lease guarantor would bar efforts by us to

collect pre-bankruptcy debts from that tenant or lease guarantor or its property unless we receive an

order permitting us to do so from the bankruptcy court In addition we cannot evict tenant solely

because of bankruptcy The bankruptcy of tenant or lease guarantor could delay our efforts to collect

past due balances under the relevant leases and could ultimately preclude collection of these sums If

lease is assumed by the tenant in bankruptcy all pre-bankruptcy balances due under the lease must be

paid to us in full If however lease is rejected by tenant in bankruptcy we would have only

general unsecured claim for damages An unsecured claim would only be paid to the extent that funds

are available and only in the same percentage as is paid to all other holders of general unsecured

claims Restrictions under the bankruptcy laws further limit the amount of any other claims that we can

make if lease is rejected As result it is likely that we would recover substantially less than the full

value of the remaining rent during the term
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Development projects in which we invest may not be completed successfully or on time and guarantors of the

projects may not have the financial resources to perform their obligations under the guaranties they provide

We may make equity investments in acquire options to purchase interests in or make mezzanine

loans to the owners of real estate development projects Our return on these investments is dependent

upon the projects being completed successfully on budget and on time To help ensure performance by
the developers of properties that are under construction completion of these properties is

generally

guaranteed either by completion bond or performance bond Our advisor may rely upon the

substantial net worth of the contractor or developer or personal guarantee accompanied by financial

statements showing substantial net worth provided by an affiliate of the entity entering into the

construction or development contract as an alternative to completion bond or performance bond For

particular investment we may obtain guaranties that the project will be completed on time on budget

and in accordance with the plans and specifications and that the mezzanine loan will be repaid

However we may not obtain such guaranties and cannot ensure that the guarantors will have the

financial resources to perform their obligations under the guaranties they provide We intend to

manage these risks by ensuring to the best of our ability that we invest in projects with reputable

experienced and resourceful developers If we are unable to manage these risks effectively our results

of operations financial condition and ability to make distributions to you will be adversely affected

Our operating results will be affected by economic and regulatory changes that have an adverse impact on the

real estate market in general and we cannot assure you that we will be profitable or that we will realize

growth in the value of our real estate properties

Our operating results will be subject to risks generally incident to the ownership of real estate

including

changes in general economic or local conditions

changes in supply of or demand for similar or competing properties in an area

changes in interest rates and availability of permanent mortgage funds that may render the sale

of property difficult or unattractive

the illiquidity of real estate investments generally

changes in tax real estate environmental and zoning laws and

periods of high interest rates and tight money supply

For these and other reasons we cannot assure you that we will be profitable or that we will realize

growth in the value of our real estate properties

Properties that have significant vacancies could be difficult to sell which could diminish the return on your
investment

property may incur vacancies either by the continued default of tenants under their leases or the

expiration of tenant leases If vacancies continue for long period of time we may suffer reduced

revenues resulting in decreased distributions to stockholders In addition the value of the property
could be diminished because the market value of particular property will depend principally upon the

value of the leases of such property

33



Many of our investments are dependent on tenants for revenue and lease terminations could reduce our

ability to make distributions to stockholders

The success of our real property investments often will be materially dependent on the financial

stability of our tenants Lease payment defaults by tenants could cause us to reduce the amount of

distributions to stockholders default by significant tenant on its lease payments to us would cause

us to lose the revenue associated with such lease and cause us to have to find an alternative source of

revenue to meet mortgage payments and prevent foreclosure if the property is subject to mortgage

In the event of tenant default we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may

incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-letting our property If significant leases are

terminated we cannot assure you that we will be able to lease the property for the rent previously

received or sell the property without incurring loss Additionally loans that we make generally will

relate to real estate As result the borrowers ability to repay the loan may be dependent on the

financial stability of the tenants leasing the related real estate

We may be unable to secure funds for future tenant improvements which could adversely impact our ability to

make cash distributions to our stckholders

When tenants do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space in order to attract

replacement tenants we will be required to expend substantial funds for tenant improvements and

tenant refurbishments to the vacated space If we have insufficient capital reserves we will have to

obtain financing from other sources We intend to establish capital reserves on property-by-property

basis as we deem necessary In addition to any reserves we establish lender may require escrow of

capital reserves in excess of our established reserves If these reserves or any reserves otherwise

established are designated for other uses or are insufficient to meet our cash needs we may have to

obtain financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated sources to fund our cash requirements We cannot

assure you that sufficient financing will be available or if available will be available on economically

feasible terms or on terms acceptable to us Moreover certain reserves required by lenders may be

designated for specific uses and may not be available for capital purposes such as future tenant

improvements Additional borrowing for capital purposes will increase our interest expense and

therefore our financial condition and our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders may be

adversely affected

We may be unable to sell property if or when we decide to do so which could adversely impact our ability to

make cash distributions to our stockholders

We intend to hold the various real properties in which we invest until such time as our advisor

determines that sale or other disposition appears to be advantageous to achieve our investment

objectives or until it appears that such objectives will not be met Our advisor subject to approval of

our board of directors may exercise its discretion as to whether and when to sell property and we

will have no obligation to sell properties at any particular time except upon our liquidation

The real estate market is affected by many factors such as general economic conditions

availability of financing interest rates and other factors including supply
and demand that are beyond

our control We cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any asset for the price or on the terms

set by us or whether any price or other terms offered by prospective purchaser would be acceptable

to us We cannot predict
the length of time needed to find willing purchaser and to close the sale of

an asset If we are unable to sell an asset when we determine to do so it could have significant

adverse effect on our cash flow and results of operations
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Our co-venture partners co-tenants or other partners in co-ownership arrangements could take actions that

decrease the value of an investment to us and lower your overall return

We enter into joint ventures tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership arrangements
with other Behringer Harvard programs or third parties having investment objectives similar to ours for

the acquisition development or improvement of properties as well as the acquisition of real estate-

related investments We also purchase and develop properties in joint ventures or in partnerships
co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements with the sellers of the properties affiliates of the

sellers developers or other persons Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with

other forms of real estate investment including for example

the possibility that our co-venturer co-tenant or partner in an investment might become

bankrupt

the possibility that co-venturer co-tenant or partner in an investment might breach loan

agreement or other agreement or otherwise by action or inaction act in way detrimental to us

or the investment

that such co-venturer co-tenant or partner may at any time have economic or business interests

or goals that are or that become inconsistent with our business interests or goals

the possibility that we may incur liabilities as the result of the action taken by our partner or

co-investor or

that such co-venturer co-tenant or partner may be in position to take action contrary to our

instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives including our policy with

respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as REIT

Any of the above might subject property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus

reduce our returns on that investment

Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for insurance
coverage may

adversely affect your returns

Our advisor will attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to cover

casualty losses The nature of the activities at certain properties we may acquire will expose us and our

operators to potential liability for personal injuries and in certain instances such as with marinas

property damage claims For instance marina business activities are customarily subject to various

hazards including gasoline or other fuel spills fires drownings and other water-related accidents boat

storage rack collapses and other dangers relatively common in the marina industry In addition there

are types of losses generally catastrophic in nature such as losses due to wars acts of terrorism

earthquakes floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not

economically insurable or may be insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or

co-payments Insurance risks associated with potential terrorist acts could sharply increase the

premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty claims Mortgage lenders generally insist

that specific coverage against terrorism be purchased by commercial property owners as condition for

providing mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans It is uncertain whether such insurance policies will be

available or available at reasonable cost which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our

properties In such instances we may be required to provide other financial support either through

financial assurances or self-insurance to cover potential losses We cannot assure you that we will have

adequate coverage for such losses In the event that any of our properties incurs casualty loss that is

not fully covered by insurance the value of our assets will be reduced by the amount of any such

uninsured loss In addition other than the capital reserve or other reserves we may establish we have

no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damaged property and we cannot assure

you that any such sources of funding will be available to us for such purposes in the future Also to the
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extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance we could suffer reduced earnings that

would result in decreased distributions to stockholders

Our operating results may be negatively affected by potential development and construction delays and result

in increased costs and risks which could diminish the return on your investment

We have invested some of the offering proceeds in the acquisition development and/or

redevelopment of properties upon which we will develop and construct improvements We could incur

substantial capital obligations
in connection with these types of investments We will be subject to risks

relating to uncertainties associated with rezoning for development and environmental concerns of

governmental entities and/or community groups and our builders ability to control construction costs or

to build in conformity with plans specifications
and timetables The builders failure to perform may

necessitate legal action by us to rescind the purchase or the construction contract or to compel

performance Performance may also be affected or delayed by conditions beyond the builders control

Delays in completion of construction could also give tenants the right to terminate preconstruction

leases for space at newly developed project We may incur additional risks when we make periodic

progress payments or other advances to such builders prior to completion of construction These and

other such factors can result in increased costs of project or loss of our investment Substantial

capital obligations could delay our ability to make distributions In addition we will be subject to

normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed projects Furthermore we must rely upon

projections of rental income and expenses and estimates of the fair market value of property upon

completion of construction when agreeing upon price to be paid for the property
at the time of

acquisition
of the property

If our projections are inaccurate we may pay too much for property and

the return on our investment could suffer

In addition we have invested in unimproved real property Returns from development of

unimproved properties are also subject to risks and uncertainties associated with rezoning the land for

development and environmental concerns of governmental entities and/or community groups Although

our intention is to limit any investment in unimproved property to property we intend to develop your

investment nevertheless is subject to the risks associated with investments in unimproved real property

concentration of our investments in any one property
class may leave our profitability vulnerable to

downturn in such sector

At any one time significant portion of our investments could be in one property
class As

result we will be subject to risks inherent in investments in single type of property
If our investments

are substantially in one property class then the potential
effects on our revenues and as result on

cash available for distribution to our stockholders resulting from downturn in the businesses

conducted in those types
of properties could be more pronounced than if we had more fully diversified

our investments

Our student housing properties will be subject to an annual leasing cycle short lease up period seasonal cash

flows changing university admission and housing policies and other risks inherent in the student housing

industty any of which could have negative impact on your investment

Student-housing properties generally have short-term leases of 12 months ten months nine

months or shorter As result we may experience significantly reduced cash flows during the summer

months from student-housing properties while most students are on vacation Furthermore student

housing properties must be almost entirely re-leased each year exposing us to increased leasing risk

Student-housing properties are also typically leased during limited leasing season that usually begins

in January and ends in August of each year We would therefore be highly dependent on the

effectiveness of our marketing and leasing efforts and personnel during this season
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Changes in university admission policies could also adversely affect us For example if university

reduces the number of student admissions or requires that certain dass of students such as freshman
live in university-owned facility the demand for units at our student-housing properties may be

reduced and our occupancy rates may decline We rely on our relationships with colleges and
universities for referrals of prospective student residents or for mailing lists of prospective student

residents and their parents Many of these colleges and universities own and operate their own
competing on-campus facilities Any failure to maintain good relationships with these

colleges and

universities could therefore have material adverse effect on our ability to market our properties to

students and their families

Federal and state laws require colleges to publish and distribute reports of on-campus crime

statistics which may result in negative publicity and media coverage associated with crimes occurring on

or in the
vicinity of any student-housing properties Reports of crime or other negative publicity

regarding the safety of the students residing on or near our student-housing properties may have an

adverse effect on our business

We may face signflcant competition from university-owned student housing and from other residential

properties that are in close proximity to our student-housing properties which could have negative impact

on our results of operations

On-campus student housing has certain inherent advantages over off-campus student housing in

terms of physical proximity to the university campus and integration of on-campus facilities into the

academic community Colleges and universities can generally avoid real estate taxes and borrow funds

at lower interest rates than us

Short-term multifamily and apartment leases expose us to the effects of declining market rent which could

adversely impact our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders

We expect that substantially all of our apartment leases will be for term of one year or less

Because these leases generally permit the residents to leave at the end of the lease term without

penalty our rental revenues may be impacted by declines in market rents more quickly than if our

leases were for longer terms

To the extent we invest in apartment communities we will face competition from other apartment communities

and the increased affordability of single-family homes which may limit our profitability and returns to our

stockholders

Any apartment communities we may acquire will most likely compete with numerous housing
alternatives in attracting residents including other apartment communities and single-family homes as

well as owner-occupied single- and multifamily homes available to rent Competitive housing in

particular area and the increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multifamily homes
available to rent or buy caused by declining mortgage interest rates and government programs to

promote home ownership could adversely affect our ability to retain our residents lease apartment
units and increase or maintain rental rates

Moreover the residential apartment community industry is highly competitive This competition
could reduce occupancy levels and revenues at our apartment communities which would adversely

affect our operations We
expect to face competition from many sources including from other

apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and the broader geographic market where our

apartment communities will be located Overbuilding of apartment communities may occur If so this

will increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and apartment

rental rates In addition increases in operating costs due to inflation may not be offset by increased

apartment rental rates We may be
required

to expend substantial sums to attract new residents
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In connection with the recent credit market disruptions and economic slowdown to the extent we invest in

apartment communities we may face increased competition from single-family homes and condominiums for

rent which could limit our ability to retain residents lease apartment units or increase or maintain rents

Any apartment communities we may invest in may compete with numerous housing alternatives in

attracting residents including single-family homes and condominiums available for rent Such

competitive housing alternatives may become more prevalent in particular area because of the

tightening of mortgage lending underwriting criteria homeowner foreclosures the decline in single-

family home and condominium sales and the lack of available credit The number of single-family

homes and condominiums for rent in particular area could limit our ability to retain residents lease

apartment units or increase or maintain rents

Our failure to integrate acquired communities and new personnel could create inefficiencies and reduce the

return of your investment

To grow successfully we must be able to apply our experience in managing real estate to larger

number of properties
In addition we must be able to integrate new management and operations

personnel as our organization grows in size and complexity Failures in either area will result in

inefficiencies that could adversely affect our expected return on our investments and our overall

profitability

We are dependent on the third-party managers of our hotel properties

In order to qualify as REI1 we will not be able to operate our hotel properties or participate
in

the decisions affecting the daily operations of our hotels We lease our hotels to TRS in which we

may own up to 100% interest Our TRS will enter into management agreements with eligible

independent contractors that are not our subsidiaries or otherwise controlled by us to manage the

hotels Thus independent hotel operators under management agreements with our TRS will control

the daily operations
of our hotels

We will depend on these independent management companies to adequately operate our hotels as

provided in the management agreements We will not have the authority to require any hotel to be

operated in particular manner or to govern any particular aspect of the daily operations of any hotel

for instance setting room rates Thus even if we believe our hotels are being operated inefficiently or

in manner that does not result in satisfactory occupancy rates revenue per available room and

average daily rates we may not be able to force the management company to change its method of

operation of our hotels We can only seek redress if management company violates the terms of the

applicable management agreement with the TRS and then only to the extent of the remedies provided

for under the terms of the management agreement In the event that we need to replace any of our

management companies we may be required by the terms of the management agreement to pay

substantial termination fees and may experience significant disruptions at the affected hotels

We may have to make significant capital expenditures to maintain our lodging properties

Hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements including

replacements of furniture fixtures and equipment Generally we will be responsible for the costs of

these capital improvements which gives rise to the following risks

cost overruns and delays

renovations can be disruptive to operations and can displace revenue at the hotels including

revenue lost while rooms under renovation are out of service

the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovations may not

be available on attractive terms and
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the risk that the return on our investment in these capital improvements will not be what we

expect

If we have insufficient cash flow from operations to fund needed capital expenditures then we will

need to borrow to fund future capital improvements

General economic conditions and discretionary consumer spending may affect certain properties we acquire

and lower the return on your investment

The operations
of certain properties in which we invest such as hotels and recreation and leisure

properties will depend upon number of factors relating to discretionary consumer spending

Unfavorable local regional or national economic developments or uncertainties regarding future

economic prospects as result of terrorist attacks military activity or natural disasters could reduce

consumer spending in the markets in which we own properties and adversely affect the operation of

those properties Consumer spending on luxury goods travel and other leisure activities such as

boating skiing and health and spa
activities may decline as result of lower consumer confidence

levels even if prevailing economic conditions are favorable In an economic downturn consumer

discretionary spending levels generally decline at times resulting in disproportionately large reductions

in expenditures on luxury goods travel and other leisure activities Certain of the classes of properties

that we acquire may be unable to maintain their profitability during periods of adverse economic

conditions or low consumer confidence which could in turn affect the ability of operators to make

scheduled rent payments to us

Seasonal revenue variations in certain asset classes will require the operators of such assets to manage cash

flow properly over time to meet their non-seasonal scheduled rent payments to us

Certain of our properties including some hotels and resorts and recreation and leisure properties

are generally seasonal in nature For example the typical mountain golf season begins in May and runs

through October during which time the resorts like our Cordillera property generate the vast

majority
of their annual revenues Revenues and profits at mountain golf resorts and their related

properties are substantially lower and historically result in losses during the winter months As result

of the seasonal nature of certain industries that may be conducted on properties we acquire these

businesses will experience seasonal variations in revenues that may require our operators
to supplement

revenue at their properties in order to be able to make scheduled rent payments to us The failure of

an operator or tenant to manage its cash flow properly may result in such operator or tenant having

insufficient cash on hand to make its scheduled payments to us during seasonally slow periods which

may adversely affect our cash available for distribution to stockholders

Adverse weather conditions may affect operations of certain of our properties or reduce our operators ability

to make scheduled rent payments to us which could reduce our cash flow from such investments

Adverse weather conditions may influence revenues at certain types of properties we own such as

some hotels resorts and recreation and leisure properties These adverse weather conditions include

heavy snowfall or lack thereof hurricanes tropical storms high winds heat waves frosts drought or

merely reduced rainfall levels excessive rain and floods For example adverse weather could reduce

the number of people that visit our properties Certain properties may be susceptible to damage from

weather conditions such as hurricanes which damage including but not limited to property damage

and loss of revenue is not generally insurable at commercially reasonable rates Poor weather

conditions could also disrupt operations at properties we own and may adversely affect both the value

of our investment in property and the ability of our tenants and operators to make their scheduled

rent payments to us
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Resorts recreation and leisure and other types of properties in which we invest may not be readily adaptable
to other

uses and if these properties become unprofitable we may not be able to recoup the value of our
investment

Resorts and related properties and other
types of recreation and leisure properties in which we

invest are specific-use properties that have limited alternative uses Therefore if the operations of any
of our properties in these sectors become unprofitable due to industry competition general
deterioration of the applicable industry or otherwise we may have great difficulty selling the property
or we may have to sell the property for substantially less than the amount we paid for it Should any of
these events occur our income and cash available for distribution could be reduced

The costs of compliance with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations may adversely
affect our income and the cash available for any distributions

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal state and
local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety These
laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges air emissions the operation and removal
of underground and above-ground storage tanks the use storage treatment transportation and

disposal of solid and hazardous materials and the remediation of contamination associated with

disposals Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on tenants owners
or operators for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties regardless of fault

or the legality of the original disposal In addition the presence of these substances or the failure to

properly remediate these substances may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent such property or to
use the property as collateral for future borrowing

Some of these laws and regulations have been amended so as to require compliance with new or
more stringent standards as of future dates Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations
or stricter interpretation of existing laws may require material expenditures by us For example various

federal regional and state laws and regulations have been implemented or are under consideration to

mitigate the effects of climate change caused by greenhouse gas emissions Among other things
green building codes may seek to reduce emissions through the impositions of standards for design
construction materials water and energy usage and efficiency and waste management We are not
aware of any such existing requirements that we believe will have material impact on our current

operations However future requirements could increase the costs of maintaining or improving our
existing properties or development new properties

Discovery of previously undetected environmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating
results

Under various federal state and local environmental laws ordinances and regulations including
those of

foreign jurisdictions current or previous owner or operator of real property may be liable

for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on under or in such property
The costs of removal or remediation could be substantial Such laws often impose liability whether or
not the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the presence of such hazardous or toxic

substances Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be
used or businesses may be operated and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures
Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the event of noncompliance and may be enforced by
governmental agencies or in certain circumstances by private parties Certain environmental laws and
common law principles could be used to impose liability for release of and exposure to hazardous
substances including asbestos-containing materials into the air and third parties may seek

recovery
from owners or operators of real

properties for personal injury or property damage associated with

exposure to released hazardous substances The cost of defending against claims of liability of

compliance with environmental
regulatory requirements of remediating any contaminated property or
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of paying personal injury claims could materially adversely affect our business assets or results of

operations and consequently amounts available for distribution to you

Costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act may affect cash available for

distributions

Our properties are generally expected to be subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

the Disabilities Act Under the Disabilities Act all places of public accommodation are required to

comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons The Disabilities Act

has separate compliance requirements for public accommodations and commercial facilities that

generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with

disabilities The Disabilities Acts requirements could require removal of access barriers and could

result in the imposition of injunctive relief monetary penalties or in some cases an award of damages

We will attempt to acquire properties that comply with the Disabilities Act or place the burden on the

seller or other third-party such as tenant to ensure compliance with the Disabilities Act However

we cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this

manner If we cannot our funds used for Disabilities Act compliance may affect cash available for

distributions and the amount of distributions to you if any

If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers we will bear the risk of default by the purchaser

If we decide to sell any of our properties we intend to use our reasonable best efforts to sell them

for cash or property However in some instances we may sell our properties by providing financing to

purchasers When we provide financing to purchasers we will bear the risk of default by the purchaser

and will be subject to remedies provided by law which could negatively impact our distributions to

stockholders There are no limitations or restrictions on our ability to take purchase money obligations

We may therefore take purchase money obligation secured by mortgage as part payment for the

purchase price The terms of payment to us generally will be affected by custom in the area where the

property being sold is located and the then-prevailing economic conditions If we receive promissory

notes or other property in lieu of cash from property sales the distribution of the proceeds of sales to

our stockholders or their reinvestment in other assets will be delayed until the promissory notes or

other property are actually paid sold refinanced or otherwise disposed of In some cases we may

receive initial down payments in cash and other property in the year of sale in an amount less than the

selling price and subsequent payments will be spread over number of years If any purchaser defaults

under financing arrangement with us it could negatively impact our ability to make distributions to

our stockholders

Risks Associated with Debt Financing

We incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings which increases our business risks

We are permitted to acquire and historically have acquired real properties by using either existing

financing or borrowing new funds In addition we may incur or increase our mortgage debt by

obtaining loans secured by some or all of our real properties to obtain funds for the acquisition of real

properties and for payment of distributions to stockholders We also may borrow funds if necessary to

satisfy the requirement that we distribute to stockholders at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable

income or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification as

REIT for federal income tax purposes and/or avoid federal income tax

There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single improved property or other asset

or on the amount we can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment

Under our charter the maximum amount of our indebtedness shall not exceed 300% of our net assets

41



as of the date of any borrowing We may incur indebtedness in excess of the limit if the excess is

approved by majority of our independent directors

Our board of directors has adopted policy that we will generally limit our aggregate borrowings

to approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets which is defined as our total assets plus

acquired below-market lease intangibles each as reflected on our balance sheet at the time of the

calculation without giving effect to any accumulated depreciation or amortization attributable to our

real estate assets unless substantial justification exists that borrowing greater amount is in our best

interests and majority of our independent directors approve the greater borrowing Our policy

limitation however does not apply to individual real estate assets As result we typically borrow and

expect to continue borrowing more than 75% of the purchase price of an individual real estate asset

we acquire to the extent our board of directors determines that borrowing these amounts is reasonable

We do not borrow money secured by particular real property unless we believe the propertys

projected cash flow is sufficient to service the mortgage debt However if there is shortfall in cash

flow then the amount available for distributions to stockholders may be affected In addition incurring

mortgage debt increases the risk of loss in investment value is generally borne entirely by the

borrower until such time as the investment value declines below the principal balance of the associated

debt and defaults on indebtedness secured by property may result in foreclosure actions initiated

by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan that is in default For tax purposes

foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as sale of the property for purchase price

equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage If the outstanding balance of the

debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property we would recognize taxable income

on foreclosure but would not receive any cash proceeds We may give full or partial guarantees to

lenders of mortgage debt to the entities that own our properties When we give guaranty on behalf of

an entity that owns one of our properties we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the

debt if it is not paid by such entity If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default

provisions there is risk that more than one real property may be affected by default If any of our

properties are foreclosed upon due to default our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

will be adversely affected

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates we may not be able to refinance our properties which

could reduce the amount of cash distributions we can make

When we place mortgage debt on properties we run the risk of being unable to refinance the

properties when the loans come due or of being unable to refinance on favorable terms If interest

rates are higher when the properties are refinanced we may not be able to finance the properties at

reasonable rates and our income could be reduced If this occurs it would reduce cash available for

distribution to our stockholders and it may prevent us from borrowing more money

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations which could limit our

ability to make distributions to our stockholders

In connection with obtaining financing lender could impose restrictions on us that affect our

ability to incur additional debt and our distribution and operating policies Loan documents we enter

into may contain customary negative covenants that may limit our ability to further mortgage the

property to discontinue insurance coverage replace Behringer OppOrtunity Advisors as our advisor or

impose other limitations Any such restriction or limitation may have an adverse effect on our

operations

42



Interest-only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ultimately may reduce our funds available for

distribution to our stockholders

We have financed some of our property acquisitions using interest-only mortgage indebtedness

During the interest-only period the amount of each scheduled payment will be less than that of

traditional amortizing mortgage loan The principal balance of the mortgage loan will not be reduced

except in the case of prepayments because there are no scheduled monthly payments of principal

during this period After the interest-only period we will be required either to make scheduled

payments of amortized principal and interest or to make lump-sum or balloon payment at maturity

These required principal or balloon payments will increase the amount of our scheduled payments and

may increase our risk of default under the related mortgage loan If the mortgage loan has an

adjustable interest rate the amount of our scheduled payments also may increase at time of rising

interest rates Increased payments and substantial principal or balloon maturity payments will reduce

the funds available for distribution to our stockholders because cash otherwise available for distribution

will be required to pay principal and interest associated with these mortgage loans

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to

make distributions to our stockholders

We have borrowed money that bears interest at variable rate In addition from time to time we

may pay mortgage loans or refinance our properties in rising interest rate environment Accordingly

increases in interest rates could increase our interest costs which could have material adverse effect

on our operating cash flow and our ability to make distributions to you In addition if rising interest

rates cause us to need additional capital to repay indebtedness in accordance with its terms or

otherwise we may be required to liquidate one or more of our investments in properties at times which

may not permit realization of the maximum return on the investments

Financing arrangements involving balloon payment obligations may adversely affect our ability to make

distributions

Some of our financing arrangements will require us to make lump-sum or balloon payment at

maturity Our ability to make balloon payment at maturity is uncertain and may depend upon our

ability to obtain additional financing or our ability to sell the property At the time the balloon

payment is due we may or may not be able to refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as

the original loan or sell the property at price sufficient to make the balloon payment The effect of

refinancing or sale could affect the rate of return to stockholders and the projected time of disposition

of our assets In addition payments of principal and interest made to service our debts may leave us

with insufficient cash to pay
the distributions that we are required to pay to maintain our qualification

as REIT and/or avoid federal income tax Any of these results would have significant negative

impact on your investment

We have broad authority to incur debt and high debt levels could hinder our ability to make distributions and

could decrease the return on your investment and the value of your investment

Our board of directors has adopted policy to generally limit our aggregate borrowings to

approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets but we may exceed this limit under some

circumstances Such debt may be at level that is higher than real estate investment trusts with similar

investment objectives or criteria High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges

would result in higher debt service payments and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants These

factors could limit the amount of cash we have available to distribute and could result in decline in

the value of your investment
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From time to time we may rely on financial institutions for debt financing and as result may be adversely

affected by the failure of financial institution to honor its lending obligations

From time to time we may rely on financial institutions for financing acquisitions for financing

development projects in which we invest for funding credit facilities used for general corporate

purposes or for other funding needs As result of the recent and continuing economic slowdown and

financial market disruptions certain financial institutions have become insolvent or been served with

cease and desist orders or other administration actions by federal bank regulators due to lack of

required capital While not presently an issue for us some of these financial institutions may become

insolvent enter into receivership or otherwise become unable to fulfill or be prevented from fulfilling

their respective financial obligations to their borrowers Should financial institution on which we rely

fail to meet its funding obligations to us or to an entity in which we have invested our liquidity or the

liquidity of the entity in which we have invested could be materially adversely affected we could

become unable to take advantage of acquisition opportunities and we could suffer losses on

development projects or other investments that require additional capital Furthermore if the loan is

made to an entity in which we have invested such as development project and we and our affiliates

are not parties to the loan we will be unable to take direct action against the financial institution to

compel it to honor its financial obligations In addition if financial institution on which we rely

becomes insolvent or enters into receivership or if other regulatory action is taken against it we may
not be able to enforce any contractual rights we would otherwise have against it

Disruptions in the financial markets and adverse economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to

secure debt financing on attractive terms and have affected the value of our investments

The commercial real estate debt markets continue to experience volatility as result of certain

factors including the tightening of underwriting standards by lenders and credit rating agencies and the

significant inventory of unsold collateralized mortgage backed securities in the market Credit spreads

for major sources of capital have widened significantly as investors have demanded higher risk

premium This is resulting in lenders increasing the cost for debt financing An increase in the overall

cost of borrowings either by increases in the index rates or by increases in lender spreads may result

in our investment operations generating lower overall economic returns and reduced level of cash

flow which could potentially impact our ability to make distributions to our stockholders at current

levels In addition the recent dislocations in the debt markets have reduced the amount of capital that

is available to finance real estate which in turn leads to decline in real estate values generally

slows real estate transaction activity reduces the loan to value upon which lenders are willing to

extend debt and results in difficulty in refinancing debt as it becomes due If the current debt

market environment persists it may be difficult for us to refinance our debt coming due in 2010 and

2011 related to several of our portfolio assets and our credit facility

Further the recent market volatility will likely make the valuation of our investment properties

more difficult There may be significant uncertainty in the valuation or in the stability of the value of

our properties that could result in substantial decrease in the value of our properties As result we

may not be able to recover the carrying amount of our properties and we may be required to

recognize impairment charges which will reduce our reported earnings Specifically for the
year ended

December 31 2009 we recorded $9.9 million non-cash impairment charge related to our leasehold

interest in an office building in London England and $5.6 million non-cash impairment charge

related to our hotel and development property in Edwards Colorado due to the uncertainty of

valuations in the current volatile marketplace today

Our substantial indebtedness adversely affects our financial health and operating flexibility

At December 31 2009 we had notes payable of approximately $429.8 million in principal amount

consisting of $367.2 million of loans secured by mortgages on our properties and $62.6 million of
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borrowings under the revolving loans outstanding under our senior secured credit facility As result of

this substantial indebtedness we are required to use material portion of our cash flow to service

principal and interest on our debt which will limit the cash flow available to operate our properties In

addition we may not generate
sufficient cash flow after debt service to continue paying distributions in

the near term or at all

Our level of debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements could have significant

adverse consequences to us and the value of our common stock regardless of our ability to refinance

or extend our debt including

limiting our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital capital expenditures debt

service requirements execution of our business plan or other purposes

limiting our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business or to pay

distributions because we must dedicate substantial portion of these funds to service our debt

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions

limiting our ability to capitalize on business opportunities and to react to competitive pressures

and adverse changes in government regulation

limiting our ability to fund capital expenditures tenant improvements and leasing commissions

and

limiting our ability or increasing the costs to refinance our indebtedness

We may not be able to refinance or repay our substantial indebtedness

We have substantial amount of debt that we may not be able to refinance or repay At

December 31 2009 our notes payable had maturity dates that range from March 2010 to January 2016

During 2010 we have approximately $195.5 million or approximately 46% of our debt maturing In

2011 we have approximately $161.2 million or approximately 38% of our debt maturing $62.6 million

of which represents the revolving loans under our credit facility which matures in February 2011 Due

to potentially reduced values of our investments our substantial debt level limited access to

commercial real estate mortgages in the current market and material changes in lending

parameters including loan-to-value standards we will face significant challenges refinancing our current

debt on acceptable terms or at all Our substantial indebtedness also requires us to use material

portion of our cash flow to service principal and interest on our debt which limits the cash flow

available for other business expenses or opportunities

We may not have the cash necessary to repay our debt as it matures Therefore failure to

refinance or extend our debt as it comes due or failure to satisfy the conditions and requirements of

that debt could result in an event of default that could potentially allow lenders to accelerate that

debt If our debt is accelerated our assets may not be sufficient to repay the debt in full and our

available cash flow may not be adequate to maintain our current operations If we are unable to

refinance or repay our debt as it comes due and maintain sufficient cash flow our business financial

condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected Furthermore even if we

are able to obtain extensions on our existing debt those extensions may include operational and

financial covenants significantly more restrictive than our current debt covenants Any extensions will

also require us to pay certain fees to and expenses of our lenders Any fees and cash flow restrictions

will affect our ability of fund our ongoing operations from our operating cash flows
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Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate-Related Assets

We have invested in non-U.S dollar denominated real properly and real estate-related securities exposing us

to fluctuating currency rates

We have purchased real estate and real estate-related securities denominated in foreign currencies

change in foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse impact on returns on our non-U.S

dollar denominated investments Although we may hedge our foreign currency risk subject to the REIT

income qualification tests we may not be able to do so successfully and may incur losses on these

investments as result of exchange rate fluctuations

Our real estate-related securities investments are illiquid and we may not be able to adjust our portfolio in

response to changes in economic and other conditions

Certain of the real estate-related securities that we purchased in connection with privately

negotiated transactions will not be registered under the relevant securities laws resulting in

prohibition against their transfer sale pledge or other disposition except in transaction that is exempt

from the registration requirements of or is otherwise in accordance with those laws As result our

ability to
vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively

limited The mezzanine and bridge loans we make or purchase will be particularly illiquid investments

due to their short life their unsuitability for securitization and the greater difficulty of recoupment in

the event of borrowers default

We have relatively less experience investing in mortgage bridge mezzanine or other loans as compared to

investing directly in real properly which could adversely affect our return on loan investments

The experience of our advisor and its affiliates with respect to investing in mortgage bridge

mezzanine or other loans is not as extensive as it is with respect to investments directly in real

properties However we have made and may continue to make such loan investments to the extent our

advisor determines that it is advantageous to us due to the state of the real estate market or in order

to diversify our investment portfolio Our less extensive experience with respect to mortgage bridge

mezzanine or other loans could adversely affect our return on loan investments

Our mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans may be impacted by unfavorable real estate market conditions

which could decrease the value of our mortgage investments

We will be at risk of defaults on our mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans caused by many
conditions beyond our control including local and other economic conditions affecting real estate

values and interest rate levels We do not know whether the values of the property securing the loans

will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of the loans If the values of the underlying

properties drop our risk will increase and the values of our interests may decrease

The mezzanine loans in which we invest involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income-

producing real properties

We have invested in mezzanine loans that take the form of subordinated loans secured by second

mortgages on the underlying real property or loans secured by pledge of the ownership interests of

either the entity owning the real property or the entity that owns the interest in the entity owning the

real property These types of investments involve higher degree of risk than long-term senior

mortgage lending secured by income producing real property because the investment may become

unsecured as result of foreclosure by the senior lender In the event of bankruptcy of the entity

providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security we may not have full recourse to the assets

of the entity or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan If

borrower defaults on our loan or on debt senior to our loan or in the event of borrower bankruptcy
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our loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full Where debt senior to our loan exists

the presence of intercreditor arrangements may limit our ability to amend our loan documents assign

our loans accept prepayments exercise our remedies through standstill periods and control

decisions made in bankruptcy proceedings relating to borrowers As result we may not recover some

or all of our investment which could have negative impact on our ability to make distributions

Our mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans will be subject to interest rate fluctuations which could reduce our

returns as compared to market interest rates

If interest rates rise our fixed-rate long-term mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans could yield

return lower than then-current market rates If interest rates decrease we will be adversely affected to

the extent that mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans are prepaid because we may not be able to make

new loans at the previously higher interest rate

Delays in liquidating defaulted mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans could reduce our investment returns

If there are defaults under our loans we may not be able to repossess
and sell quickly any

properties securing such loans The resulting time delay could reduce the value of our investment in

the defaulted loans An action to foreclose on property securing loan is regulated by state statutes

and rules and is subject to many of the delays and expenses of other lawsuits if the defendant raises

defenses or counterclaims In the event of default by mortgagor these restrictions among other

things may impede our ability to foreclose on or sell the mortgaged property or to obtain proceeds

sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the loan

Returns on our mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans may be limited by regulations

The mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans in which we invest or that we make may be subject to

regulation by federal state and local authorities including those of foreign jurisdictions and subject to

various laws and judicial
and administrative decisions We may determine not to make mortgage bridge

or mezzanine loans in any jurisdiction in which we believe we have not complied in all material

respects with applicable requirements If we decide not to make mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans

in several jurisdictions it could reduce the amount of income we would otherwise receive

Foreclosures create additional ownership risks that could adversely impact our returns on mortgage

investments

If we acquire property by foreclosure following defaults under our mortgage bridge or mezzanine

loans we will have the economic and liability risks as the owner

The liquidation of our assets may be delayed which could delay distributions to our stockholders

Any intended liquidation of us may be delayed beyond the time of the sale of all of our properties

until all mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans expire or are sold because we may enter into mortgage

bridge or mezzanine loans with terms that expire after the date we intend to have sold all of our

properties

Our due diligence may not reveal all of borroweri liabilities and may not reveal other weaknesses in its

business

Before making loan to borrower or acquiring
debt or equity securities of company we

assessed the strength and skills of such entitys management and other factors that we believe are

material to the performance of the investment In making the assessment and otherwise conducting

customary due diligence we relied on the resources available to us and in some cases an investigation

by third parties This process
is particularly important

and subjective with respect to newly organized or
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private entities because there may be little or no information publicly available about the entities

There can be no assurance that our due diligence processes uncovered all relevant facts or that any
investment will he successful

We will depend on debtors for our revenue and accordingly our revenue and our ability to make distributions

to you will be dependent upon the success and economic viability of such debtors

The success of our investments in real estate-related loans real estate-related debt securities and
other real estate-related investments will materially depend on the financial stability of the debtors

underlying such investments The
inability of single major debtor or number of smaller debtors to

meet their payment obligations could result in reduced revenue or losses

Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to maintain our qualification as REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to make
distributions

We elected and qualified to be taxed as REI1 beginning with our taxable
year ended

December 31 2006 In order for us to remain qualified as REI1 we must satisfy certain requirements
set forth in the Code and Treasury Regulations and various factual matters and circumstances that are

not entirely within our control We intend to structure our activities in manner designed to satisfy all

of these requirements However if certain of our operations were to be recharacterized by the Internal

Revenue Service such recharacterization could jeopardize our ability to satisfy all of the requirements
for qualification as REIT and may affect our ability to continue to qualify as REIT In addition
new legislation new regulations administrative

interpretations or court decisions could significantly

change the tax laws with
respect to qualifying as REIT or the federal income tax consequences of

qualifying

Our qualification as REIT depends upon our ability to meet through investments actual

operating results distributions and satisfaction of specific stockholder rules the various tests imposed
by the Code We cannot assure you that we will

satisfy the REIT requirements in the future

If we fail to qualify as REIT for any taxable year we will be subject to federal income tax on
our taxable income at corporate rates In addition we would generally be disqualified from treatment

as REIT for the four taxable years following the year of losing our REIT status Losing our REIT
status would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because Of

the additional tax liability In addition distributions to stockholders would no longer qualify for the

distributions paid deduction and we would no longer be required to make distributions If this occurs
we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax

Qualification as REIT is subject to the satisfaction of tax requirements and various factUal

matters and circumstances that are not entirely within our control New legislation regulations
administrative

interpretations or court decisions could change the tax laws with respect to qualification

as REIT or the federal income tax consequences of being REIT Our failure to continue to qualify
as REIT would adversely affect your return on your investment

Our investment strategy may cause us to incur penalty taxes lose our REIT status or own and sell properties

through taxable REIT subsidiaries each of which would diminish the return to our stockholders

In light of our opportunistic investment strategy it is possible that one or more sales of our

properties may be prohibited transactions under provisions of the Code Any subdivision of property
such as the sale of condominiums would almost certainly be considered such prohibited transaction

we are deemed to have engaged in prohibited transaction i.e we sell property held by us

primarily for sale in the ordinary course of our trade or business all income that we derive from such
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sale would be subject to 100% tax The Code sets forth safe harbor for REITs that wish to sell

property without risking the imposition
of the 100% tax principal requirement of the safe harbor is

that the REIT must hold the applicable property for not less than two years prior to its sale Given our

opportunistic investment strategy it is entirely possible if not likely that the sale of one or more of

our properties will not fall within the prohibited transaction safe harbor

If we desire to sell property pursuant to transaction that does not fall within the safe harbor

we may be able to avoid the 100% penalty
tax if we acquired the property through taxable REIT

subsidiary or TRS or acquired the property and transferred it to TRS for non-tax business purpose

prior to the sale i.e for reason other than the avoidance of taxes However there may be

circumstances that prevent us from using TRS in transaction that does not qualify for the safe

harbor Additionally even if it is possible to effect property disposition through TRS we may

decide to forego the use of TRS in transaction that does not meet the safe harbor based on our

own internal analysis the opinion of counsel or the opinion of other tax advisors that the disposition

will not be subject to the 100% penalty tax In cases where property disposition is not effected

through TRS the Internal Revenue Service could successfully assert that the disposition constitutes

prohibited transaction in which event all of the net income from the sale of such property will be

payable as tax and none of the proceeds from such sale will be distributable by us to our stockholders

or available for investment by us

If we acquire property that we anticipate will not fall within the safe harbor from the 100%

penalty tax upon disposition then we may acquire such property through TRS in order to avoid the

possibility
that the sale of such property will be prohibited transaction and subject to the 100%

penalty tax If we already own such property directly or indirectly through an entity other than

TRS we may contribute the property to TRS if there is another non-tax related business purpose for

the contribution of such property to the TRS Following the transfer of the property to TRS the

TRS will operate
the

property
and may sell such property and distribute the net proceeds from such

sale to us and we may distribute the net proceeds distributed to us by the TRS to our stockholders

Though sale of the property by TRS likely would eliminate the danger of the application of the

100% penalty tax the TRS itself would be subject to tax at the federal level and potentially at the

state and local levels on the gain realized by it from the sale of the property as well as on the income

earned while the property is operated by the TRS This tax obligation would diminish the amount of

the proceeds from the sale of such property that would be distributable to our stockholders As

result the amount available for distribution to our stockholders would be substantially less than if the

REIT had not operated and sold such property through the TRS and such transaction was not

successfully characterized as prohibited transaction The maximum federal corporate
income tax rate

currently is 35% Federal state and local corporate income tax rates may be increased in the future

and any such increase would reduce the amount of the net proceeds available for distribution by us to

our stockholders from the sale of property through TRS after the effective date of any increase in

such tax rates

If we own too many properties through one or more of our TRSs then we may lose our status as

REIT If we fail to qualify as REIT for any taxable year we will be subject to federal income tax on

our taxable income at corporate
rates In addition we would generally be disqualified from treatment

as REIT for the four taxable
years following the year of losing our REIT status Losing our REIT

status would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of

the additional tax liability In addition distributions to stockholders would no longer qualify for the

distributions paid deduction and we would no longer be required to make distributions If this occurs

we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax

As REIT the value of the stock we hold in all of our TRSs may not exceed 25% of the value of all

of our assets at the end of any calendar quarter If the Internal Revenue Service were to determine

that the value of our interests in all of our TRSs exceeded 25% of the value of total assets at the end
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of any calendar quarter then we would fad to qualify as REIT If we determine it to be iii our best

interests to own substantial number of our properties through one or more TRSs then it is possible

that the Internal Revenue Service may conclude that the value of our interests in our TRSs exceeds

25% of the value of our total assets at the end of any calendar quarter and therefore cause us to fail to

qualify as REIT Additionally as REI1 no more than 25% of our gross income with respect to any

year may be from sources other than real estate Distributions paid to us from TRS are considered to

be non-real estate income Therefore we may fail to qualify as REIT if distributions from all of our

TRSs when aggregated with all other non-real estate income with respect to any one year are more
than 25% of our gross income with respect to such year We will use all reasonable efforts to structure

our activities in manner intended to satisfy the requirements for our continued qualification as

REIT Our failure to continue to qualify as REIT would adversely affect your return on your
investment

Certain fees paid to us may affect our REIT status

Income received in the nature of rental subsidies or rent guarantees in some cases may not

qualify as rental income and could be characterized by the Internal Revenue Service as non-qualifying

income for purposes of
satisfying the income tests required for REIT qualification In addition in

connection with our Section 1031 TIC Transactions we or one of our affiliates may enter into

number of contractual arrangements with Behringer Harvard Exchange Entities whereby we will

guarantee or effectively guarantee the sale of the co-tenancy interests being offered by any Behringer
Harvard Exchange Entity In consideration for entering into these agreements we will be paid fees that

could be characterized by the Internal Revenue Service as non-qualifying income for purposes of

satisfying the income tests required for REIT qualification If this fee income were in fact treated as

non-qualifying and if the aggregate of stich fee income and any other non-qualifying income in any
taxable

year ever exceeded 5% of our gross revenues for such year we could lose our REIT status for

that taxable
year and the four ensuing taxable years We will use all reasonable efforts to structure our

activities in manner intended to satisfy the requirements for our continued qualification as REIT
Our failure to continue to qualify as REIT would adversely affect your return on your investment

Recharacterizatjon of the Section 1031 TIC Transactions may result in taxation of income from prohibited

transaction which would diminish distributions to our stockholders

In the event that the Internal Revenue Service were to recharacterize the Section 1031 TIC
Transactions such that we rather than the Behringer Harvard Exchange Entity are treated as the bona

fide owner for tax purposes of properties acquired and resold by the Behringer Harvard Exchange

Entity in connection with the Section 1031 TIC Transactions such characterization could result in the

fees paid to us by the Behringer Harvard Exchange Entity as being deemed income from prohibited

transaction in which event the fee income paid to us in connection with the Section 1031 TIC
Transactions would be subject to 100% tax If this occurs our ability to make cash distributions to

our stockholders will be adversely affected

Stockholders may have tax liability on distributions they elect to reinvest in our common stock

If you elect to have your distributions reinvested in our common stock pursuant to our distribution

reinvestment plan you will be deemed to have received and for income tax purposes will be taxed on
the amount reinvested that does not represent return of capital As result unless you are

tax-exempt entity you may have to use funds from other sources to pay your tax liability on the value

of the common stock received
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If our operating partnership fails to maintain its status as partnership its income may be subject to

taxation which would reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders

We intend to maintain the status of the operating partnership as partnership for federal income

tax purposes However if the Internal Revenue Service were to successfully challenge the status of the

operating partnership as partnership it would be taxable as corporation In such event this would

reduce the amount of distributions that the operating partnership could make to us This would also

result in our losing REIT status and becoming subject to corporate level tax on our own income

This would substantially reduce our cash available to make distributions and the return on your

investment In addition if any of the partnerships or limited liability companies through which the

operating partnership owns its properties in whole or in part loses its characterization as partnership

for federal income tax purposes it would be subject to taxation as corporation thereby reducing

distributions to the operating partnership Such recharacterization of an underlying property owner

could also threaten our ability to maintain REIT status

In certain circumstances we may be subject to federal and state taxes which would reduce our cash available

for distribution to our stockholders

Even if we qualify and maintain our status as REI we may become subject to federal and state

taxes For example if we have net income from prohibited transaction such income will be subject

to 100% tax We may not be able to make sufficient distributions to avoid excise taxes applicable to

REITs We may also decide to retain income we earn from the sale or other disposition
of our property

and pay income tax directly on such income In that event our stockholders would be treated as if they

earned that income and paid the tax on it directly However stockholders that are tax-exempt such as

charities or qualified pension plans would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax

liability We may also be subject to state and local taxes including potentially the margin tax in the

State of Texas on our income or property either directly or at the level of the operating partnership or

at the level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets Any federal or state

taxes paid by us will reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders

Non-U.S income or other taxes and requirement to withhold any non-U.S taxes may apply and if so the

amount of net cash from operations payable to you will be reduced

We have made investments in real estate located outside of the United States and may invest in

stock or other securities of entities owning real property
located outside the U.S As result we may

be subject to foreign i.e non-U.S income taxes stamp taxes real property conveyance taxes

withholding taxes and other foreign taxes or similar impositions in connection with our ownership of

foreign real property or foreign securities The country in which the real property is located may

impose such taxes regardless of whether we are profitable and in addition to any U.S income tax or

other U.S taxes imposed on profits from our investments in such real property or securities If

foreign country imposes income taxes on profits from our investment in foreign real property or foreign

securities you will not be eligible to claim tax credit on your U.S federal income tax returns to offset

the income taxes paid to the foreign country and the imposition of any foreign taxes in connection

with our ownership and operation of foreign real property or our investment in securities of foreign

entities will reduce the amounts distributable to you Similarly the imposition of withholding taxes by

foreign country will reduce the amounts distributable to you We expect the organizational costs

associated with non-U.S investments including costs to structure the investments so as to minimize the

impact of foreign taxes will be higher than those associated with U.S investments Moreover we may

be required to file income tax or other information returns in foreign jurisdictions as result of our

investments made outside of the U.S Any organizational costs and reporting requirements will increase

our administrative expenses and reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to you You are
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urged to consult with your own tax advisors with respect to the impact of applicable non U.S taxes and

tax withholding requirements on an investment in our common stock

Our foreign investments will be subject to changes in foreign tax or other laws as well as to changes in US
tax laws and such changes could negatively impact our returns from any particular investment

We have made investments in real estate located outside of the United States Such investments

are typically structured to minimize non-U.S taxes and generally include the use of holding companies
Our ownership operation and disposition strategy with respect to non-U.S investments will take into

account foreign tax considerations For example it is typically advantageous from tax perspective in

non-U.S jurisdictions to sell interests in holding company that owns real estate rather than the real

estate itself Buyers of such entities however will often discount their purchase price by any inherent

or expected tax in such entity Additionally the pool of buyers for interests in such holding companies
is typically more limited than buyers of direct interests in real estate and we may be forced to dispose
of real estate directly thus potentially incurring higher foreign taxes and negatively affecting the return

on the investment

We will also capitalize our holding companies with debt and equity to reduce foreign income and

withholding taxes as appropriate and with consultation with local counsel in each jurisdiction Such

capitalization structures are complex and potentially subject to challenge by foreign and domestic taxing

authorities

We may use certain holding structures for our non-U.S investments to accommodate the needs of

one class of investors which reduce the after-tax returns to other classes of investors For example if

we interpose an entity treated as corporation for United States tax purposes in our chain of

ownership with respect to any particular investment U.S tax-exempt investors will generally benefit as

such investment will no longer generate unrelated business taxable income However if
corporate

entity is interposed in non investment holding structure this would prevent individual investors

from claiming foreign tax credit for any non-U.S income taxes incurred by the corporate entity or its

subsidiaries

Foreign investments are subject to changes in foreign tax or other laws Any such law changes may
require us to modify or abandon particular holding structure Such changes may also lead to higher
tax rates on our foreign investments than we anticipated regardless of structuring modifications

Additionally U.S tax laws with respect to foreign investments are subject to change and such changes
could negatively impact our returns from any particular investment

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect the returns to our investors

In recent years numerous legislative judicial and administrative changes have been made in the

provisions of the federal income tax laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in shares of

our common stock Additional changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to occur and we cannot

assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect the taxation of stockholder Any such

changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the

resale potential of our assets You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the

impact of recent legislation on your investment in our shares and the status of legislative regulatory or

administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares

You also should note that our counsels tax opinion is based upon existing law and Treasury

Regulations applicable as of the date of its opinion all of which are subject to change either

prospectively or retroactively

Congress passed major federal tax legislation in 2003 with modifications to that legislation in 2005
One of the changes affected by that legislation generally reduced the tax rate on dividends paid by

corporations to individuals to maximum of 15% prior to 2011 REIT distributions generally do not
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qualify for this reduced rate The tax changes did not however reduce the corporate tax rates

Therefore the maximum corporate tax rate of 35% has not been affected However as REI1 we

generally would not be subject to federal or state corporate income taxes on that portion
of our

ordinary income or capital gain that we distribute currently to our stockholders and we thus expect to

avoid the double taxation that other corporations are typically subject to

Although REITs continue to receive substantially better tax treatment than entities taxed as

corporations it is possible that future legislation would result in REIT having fewer tax advantages

and it could become more advantageous for company that invests in real estate to elect to be taxed

for federal income tax purposes as corporation As result our charter provides our board of

directors with the power under certain circumstances to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT

election and cause us to be taxed as corporation without the vote of our stockholders Our board of

directors has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax

treatment if it determines in good faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders

Equity participation in mortgage bridge mezzanine or other loans may result in taxable income and gains

from these properties that could adversely impact our REIT status

If we participate under loan in any appreciation of the properties securing the mortgage loan or

its cash flow and the Internal Revenue Service characterizes this participation as equity we might

have to recognize income gains and other items from the property for federal income tax purposes

This could affect our ability to qualify as REIT

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our ability to execute our business pkmn

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income subject to certain

adjustments and excluding any net capital gain in order for federal corporate income tax not to apply

to earnings that we distribute To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement but distribute

less than 100% of our REIT taxable income we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our

undistributed REIT taxable income In addition we will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax if

the actual amount that we pay out to our stockholders in calendar year is less than minimum

amount specified under federal tax laws We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply

with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code

From time to time we may generate taxable income greater than our taxable income for financial

reporting purposes or our taxable income may be greater than our cash flow available for distribution

to stockholders for example where borrower defers the payment of interest in cash pursuant to

contractual right or otherwise If we do not have other funds available in these situations we could be

required to borrow funds sell investments at disadvantageous prices or find another alternative source

of funds to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to

satisfy the REIT distribution requirement and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax in

particular year These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity Thus compliance with

the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

General

As of December 31 2009 we consolidated 11 wholly-owned properties and consolidated five

properties through investments in limited liability companies In addition we are the mezzanine lender

for two multifamily properties Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain that we consolidate

We have noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership interests in four investments that are accounted for

using the equity method Royal Island GrandMarc at Westberry Place GrandMarc at the Corner and

an investment in joint venture consisting of 22 properties located in the Czech Republic Poland

Hungary and Slovakia the Central Europe Portfolio or the Central Europe Joint Venture

The following table presents certain additional information about our consolidated properties as of

December 31 2009 in thousands

Property Name

12600 Whitewater

Drive

Ferncroft Corporate

Center

Bent Tree Green

Las Colinas

Commons

5000 Bowen Road
Santa Clara Tech

Center

Northpoint Central

Regency Center

2603 Augusta

Northborough Tower

Crossroads

Chase Park Plaza

The Lodge Spa at

Cordillera

Rio Salado Business

Center

Frisco Square

Becket House

Tanglewood at Voss

Alexan Black

Mountain

3-building office complex

9-story office building

6-story
office building

16-story office building

14-story
office building

7-story office building

hotel and development property

hotel and development property

development property

mixed-use development

multifamily retail office and

restaurant

long-term leasehold interest

multifamily

multifamily

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

93%

90%

55539 89%

18636 80%

395391 Lender

290001 Lender

Approximate

Rentable

Square Footage
Location unaudited

Minnetonka Minnesota 71000

Description

Ownership
Encumbrances Interest

2-story office building

8-story office building

3-story office building

3-building office complex

1-story data center campus

Middleton Massachusetts

Dallas Texas

Irving Texas

Arlington Texas

Santa Clara California

Houston Texas

Houston Texas

Houston Texas

Houston Texas

San Diego California

St Louis Missouri

Edwards Colorado

226000

138000

239000

87000

456000

180000

157000

242000

207000

140000

100%

100%

100%

$18000

6700

52479

21480

25023

$100791

Phoenix Arizona

Frisco Texas 100500

London England 46000

Houston Texas

Henderson Nevada

The mortgages payable of our mezzanine borrowers consolidated under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 810 are obligations
of our mezzanine borrowers and are not payble by us

The following information generally applies to all of our investments in real estate properties

we believe all of our investment properties are adequately covered by insurance and suitable for

their intended purposes

we have plans to make repairs and/or improvements or upgrades at several of our investment

properties for which we do not currently have bids from which to estimate the costs and at

several other properties we have plans for major redevelopment or development in accordance

with planned budgets

our investment properties are located in markets where we are subject to competition in

attracting new tenants and retaining current tenants and

depreciation is provided on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the buildings
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Future Lease Payments Table

The following table
presents

the future minimum base rental payments due to us over the next ten

years at our consolidated properties as of December 31 2009 in thousands

Future

Minimum
Base Rental

ar Payments

2010 36925

2011 35097

2012 34073

2013 20558

2014 14991

2015 11244

2016 10277

2017 9113

2018 4358

2019 1085

Portfolio Lease Expirations

The following table presents
lease expirations at our consolidated properties as of December 31

2009 in thousands

Percent of Percent of

Number of Portfolio Leased Portfolio

Year of Leases Annualized1 Annualized Base Rentable Rentable Sq Ft

Expiration Expiring Base Rent Rent Expiring Sq Ft Expiring

2010 23 4284 11% 202084 8d3

2011 20 1309 3% 59879 2%
2012 28 10838 28% 1096930 41%

2013 26 5190 14% 336909 13%

2014 25 5557 14% 454909 17%

2015 13 1731 5% 77788 3%
2016 10 1173 3% 57500 2%
2017 1167 3% 65886 2%
2018 13 5442 14% 225336 8%
2019 1215 3% 83212 3%
Thereafter 588 2% 28663 1%

Total 170 $38494 100% 2689096 10%

Annualized Base Rent represents contractual base rental income on US GAAP straight line

adjustment basis from the time of our acquisition without consideration of tenant contraction or

termination rights Tenant reimbursements generally include payment of real estate taxes operating

expenses and common area maintenance and utility charges
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Item Legal Proceedings

On March 2010 Shannon Skokos and Theodore Skokos the Skokoses owners of

$19.5 million limited partner interest in and lenders to the development and construction of resort

hotel spa golf course marina and residences on three islands located in the Commonwealth of

Bahamas Royal Island filed third amended petition in the 68th Judicial District Court of Dallas

County Texas which added Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc as defendant in lawsuit

they originally filed on December 19 2008 Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc is also

limited partner in and lender to Royal Island Other defendants in the lawsuit are Royal Island

Partners LP Cypress Equities LLC Christopher Maguire Behringer Harvard Royal Island LLC
Behringer Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard RI Lender LLC Royal Island Bahamas Ltd
Cypress Royal Island GP LP Cypress Royal Island GP LLC Royal Island Golf Club Bahamas Ltd
and RIBL US Borrower LLC The lawsuit asserts fraud in the inducement fraud in real estate

transaction negligent misrepresentation unjust enrichment violations of the Texas Securities Act
breach of credit agreement related to the lending arrangements at Royal Island and violation of

fiduciary duties arising out of the credit agreement and the related agreement among lenders and

agent

Among other relief the Skokoses are seeking damages and in the alternative to their damages

claim the Skokoses seek to rescind the partnership agreements they executed We do not believe the

claims against us have merit and the Behringer Harvard entities intend to vigorously defend this

action however the costs of defending this lawsuit may be significant in relation to our income and

could adversely affect our operating results

Item Removed and Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Market Information

There is no established public trading market for our common stock Therefore there is risk that

stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at time or price acceptable to the stockholder

Pursuant to the Offering we sold shares of our common stock to the public at price of $10.00 per

share and at price
of $9.50 per share pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan We are currently

publicly selling shares of our common stock at price of $8.03 per share pursuant to our third

amended and restated distribution reinvestment plan Unless and until our shares are listed on

national securities exchange it is not expected that public market for the shares will develop On

January 2010 pursuant to our Estimated Valuation Policy our board established an estimated per

share value of our common stock as of December 31 2009 of $8.03 adjusted
from the previous

estimated per share value of $8.17 established on June 22 2009 This estimated per share value is being

provided to assist broker-dealers in connection with their obligations under applicable Financial

Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA Rules with respect to customer account statements and to

assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to annual reporting requirements of ERISA in the

preparation of their reports

As with any valuation methodology our methodology is based upon number of estimates and

assumptions that may not be accurate or complete Different parties with different assumptions and

estimates could derive different estimated value per share and these differences could be significant

The estimated per share value does not represent the fair value according to accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP of our assets less our liabilities nor

does it represent the amount the shares would trade at on national securities exchange or the amount

an investor would obtain if the investor tried to sell his shares or if we liquidated our assets

Accordingly with respect to the estimated value per share we can give no assurance that

stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at this estimated value

stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the estimated value per

share upon liquidation of our assets and settlement of our liabilities or sale of us

our shares would trade at the estimated value per share on national securities exchange or

the methodologies used to estimate our value per share would be acceptable to FINRA or under

ERISA for compliance with their respective reporting requirements

For further information regarding the limitations of the estimated value per share see the

Estimated Valuation Policy filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on June 22 2009 For full description of the methodologies used to calculate the estimated value per

share see our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 15 2010

The estimated value per share has been determined as of December 31 2009 The value of our

shares will fluctuate over time in response to developments related to individual assets in the portfolio

and the management of those assets and in response to the real estate and finance markets The

current downturn in the economy has had negative effect on commercial property values and has

severely limited access to the capital markets As result this valuation represents
asset values that we

believe are quite depressed As required by the Estimated Valuation Policy we currently expect to

update our estimated value per share annually

57



Holders

As of February 28 2010 we had approximately 56182563 shares of common stock outstanding
held by total of approximately 20791 stockholders

Distributions

We elected to qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable

year ended December 31 2006 As REFJ we are required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income to our stockholders annually Until we generate sufficient cash flow to fully fund the

payment of distributions some or all of our distributions have been paid and may continue to be paid
from other sources To the extent our investments are in development or redevelopment projects or in

properties that have significant capital requirements our ability to make distributions may be negatively

impacted especially during our early periods of operation As development projects are completed and

begin to generate income we expect to have additional funds available to distribute to investors For

tax purposes of the amounts distributed by us in 2009 and 2008 100% represented return of capital

Distributions for the quarters in the
years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows

$in thousands except per share amounts

Total Declared
Distributions Paid

Distributions Distribution
2009 Cash Reinvested Total Declared Per Share

Fourth Quarter $1263 $2899 4164 41871 $0.075

Third Quarter 1192 2947 4139 4164 0.075

Second Quarter2 372 1033 1405 4140 0.075

First Quarter 1047 3017 4064 4070 0.075

Total $3874 $9896 $13772 $16561 $0.300

Total Declared
Distributions Paid

Distributions Distribution
2008 Cash Reinvested Total Declared Per Share

Fourth Quarter $1012 3083 4095 4142 $0.076

Third Quarter 1039 3085 4124 4129 0.076

Second Quarter 990 3127 4117 4076 0.074

First Quarter 965 3077 4042 4055 0.074

Total $4006 $12372 $16378 $16402 $0.300

The distribution declared for the fourth quarter 2009 was declared on January 2010

Prior to April 2009 distributions were declared in advance based upon daily rate of $0008219

per share and paid monthly by the 16th day of the following month Beginning with the second

quarter of 2009 our board determined to declare distributions quarterly in arrears As result the

distributions paid during the second quarter of 2009 related to distributions declared for March
2009 Distributions paid with respect to the second quarter of 2009 were paid during the third

quarter

For further discussion regarding our ability to sustain the current level of our distributions see

Risk Factors and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

OperationsLiquidity and Capital ResourcesDistributions
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides
information regarding our equity compensation plans as of

December 31 2009

Number of securities to be Weighted.average Number of securities remaining

issued upon exercise of exercise price of available for future issuance

outstanding options outstanding options under equity compensation

Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights plans

Equity compensation plans approved

by security holders 69583 $8.99 10930417

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders _________

Total 69583 $8.99 10930417

All shares authorized for issuance pursuant to awards not yet granted under the Incentive Plan

Share Redemption Program

In February 2006 our board of directors authorized share redemption program for stockholders

who held their shares for more than one year Under the program our board reserved the right in its

sole discretion at any time and from time to time to waive the one-year holding period in the

event of the death disability or bankruptcy of stockholder or other exigent circumstances reject

any request for redemption change the purchase price for redemptions or terminate suspend

or amend the share redemption program

On March 30 2009 our board of directors adopted an amended and restated share redemption

program and voted to accept all redemption requests submitted during the first
quarter

of 2009 from

stockholders whose requests were made on circumstances of death disability or confinement to

long-term care facility referred to herein as Exceptional Redemptions However the board

determined to not accept and to suspend until further notice redemptions other than Exceptional

Redemptions

On May 11 2009 our board approved second amended and restated share redemption program

On November 2009 our board approved certain amendments to the program which clarified the

determination of the per share redemption price as adopted under the May 11 2009 amendments to

the program Under the third amended and restated share redemption program the per share

redemption price will equal

in the case of redemptions other than Exceptional Redemptions 90% of the most recently

disclosed estimated value per share the Valuation as determined in accordance with our

valuation policy the Valuation Policy as such Valuation Policy is amended from time to time

less ii the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or

more of our assets or other special distributions so designated by our board of directors

distributed to stockholders after the Valuation was determined the Valuation Adjustment

provided however that the purchase price per share shall not exceed prior to the first

Valuation conducted by our board of directors or committee thereof the Initial Board

Valuation under the Valuation Policy 90% of the Original Share Price as defined herein

less ii the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or
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more of our assets or other special distributions so designate by our board of directors

distributed to stockholders prior to the redemption date the Special Distributions or on

or after the Initial Board Valuation the Original Share Price less any Special Distributions and

in the case of Exceptional Redemptions prior to the Initial Board Valuation the Original

Share Price less any Special Distributions or on or after the Initial Board Valuation the

most recently disclosed Valuation less any Valuation Adjustment provided however that the

purchase price per share shall not exceed the Original Share Price less any Special Distributions

Original share price means the average price per share the original purchaser or purchasers of

shares paid to us for all of his or her shares as adjusted for any stock dividends combinations splits

recapitalizations and the like with respect to our common stock

Notwithstanding the redemption prices set forth above our board of directors may determine

whether pursuant to formulae or processes approved or set by our board the redemption price of the

shares which may differ between exceptional and other redemptions provided however that we must

provide at least 30 days notice to stockholders before applying this new price determined by the board

Under the third amended and restated share redemption program the cash available for

redemption on any particular date will generally be limited to the proceeds from the Secondary DRP
during the period consisting of the preceding four fiscal quarters for which financial statements are

available less any cash already used for redemptions during the same period

On June 22 2009 our board of directors established an estimated per share value of $8.17

pursuant to the Valuation Policy Thus in accordance with the share redemption program as amended

and restated as of June 22 2009 the per share redemption price for Exceptional Redemptions

redeemed after June 22 2009 was the lesser of $8.17 and the average price per share that

investor paid for his shares During that respective period and through January 14 2010 all

redemptions other than Exceptional Redemptions the per share redemption price was the lesser of

$7.35 which is 90% of the estimated per share value and 90% of the average price per share

that the investor paid for his shares However as previously disclosed we have suspended redemptions
other than Exception Redemptions until further notice

On January 2010 our board of directors established new estimated per share value of $8.03

pursuant to the Estimated Valuation Policy adjusted from the previous per share value of $8.17 Thus
in accordance with the share redemption program as amended and restated as of January 15 2010 the

per share redemption price for Exceptional Redemptions will be the lesser of $8.03 which is the

estimated per share value disclosed above less the Valuation Adjustment and the average price per
share that investor paid for his shares less any Special Distributions

For all other ordinary redemptions the per share redemption price will be the lesser of $7.23

which is 90% of the estimated per share value disclosed above less any Valuation Adjustment and

90% of the average price per share that the investor paid for his shares less any Special

Distributions However as previously disclosed we have suspended redemptions other than Exceptional

Redemptions until further notice
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During the fourth quarter
ended December 31 2009 we redeemed shares as follows

Total Number of Maximum

Shares Purchased Number of Shares

as Part of That May Be

Publicly Purchased Under

Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans the Plans or

2009 Shares Redeemed Paid Per Share or Programs Programs

October

November 48368 $8.17 48368

December _____

48368 $8.17 48368

The maximum number of shares that may be purchased under the program is limited to 5% of the

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the twelve-month period immediately prior

to the date of redemption In addition our board of directors will determine whether we have

sufficient cash from operations to repurchase shares but in no event will the funds used for

redemption exceed the proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan during the preceding four

fiscal quarters
for which financial statements are available less any cash already used for

redemptions during the same period

Item Selected Financial Data

We were formed on November 23 2004 and commenced operations on November 2005 when

we accepted the minimum amount of subscriptions pursuant to the Offering

At December 31 2005 we owned no properties As of December 31 2006 we consolidated four

wholly-owned properties and consolidated one property in which we have 95% interest through an

investment in limited liability company In addition we consolidated two development properties as

mezzanine lender

As of December 31 2007 we consolidated nine wholly-owned properties and consolidated five

properties through investments in limited liability companies In addition we were the mezzanine

lender for two development properties that we consolidated under GAAP We had noncontrolling

unconsolidated ownership interests in three properties that are accounted for using the equity method

As of December 31 2008 and 2009 we consolidated 11 wholly-owned properties and consolidated

five properties through investments in joint ventures including two hotel and development properties

and mixed use office retail and multifamily property We were the mezzanine lender for two

properties that we consolidate under GAAR We had noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership interest

in four properties that are accounted for using the equity method Accordingly the following selected

financial data may not be comparable The following data should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K
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he selected data below has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements in
thousands except per share amounts

As of December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Total assets $843931 $890866 $778695 $267168 $19107

Long-term debt obligations $429787 $416179 $243902 89203
Other liabilities 39723 51320 53398 15870 2693
Noncontrolling interest 4325 5502 15335 2648
Stockholders equity 378746 417865 466060 159447 16414

Total liabilities and equity $843931 $890866 $778695 $267168 $19107

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Revenues 88491 73287 $35228 $4661
Net income loss $47960 $44729 4257 $2300 103

Add Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling

interest $10923 $10028 401 91

Net income loss attributable to Behringer Harvard

Opportunity REIT Inc $37037 $34701 $3856 $2391 103
Basic earnings loss per share 0.67 0.64 0.11 0.25 $0.59
Diluted earnings loss per share 0.67 0.64 0.11 0.25 $0.59
Distributions declared per share 0.30 0.30 0.29 0.18

Noncontrolling interest consists of the
noncontrolling ownership interests in real estate properties

that we consolidate Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain Chase Park Plaza The

Lodge Spa at Cordillera Rio Salado Business Center Frisco Square and the Becket House

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto

Executive Overview

We are Maryland corporation that was formed in November 2004 to invest in and operate
commercial real estate or real-estate related assets located in or outside the United States on an

opportunistic basis We conduct substantially all of our business through our operating partnership and
its subsidiaries We are organized and qualify as real-estate investment trust REIT for federal

income tax purposes

We are externally managed and advised by Behringer Opportunity Advisors LLC Texas limited

liability company formed in June 2007 Behringer Opportunity Advisors is responsible for managing
our day-to-day affairs and for identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf

As of December 31 2009 we had invested in 22 assets 11 consolidated wholly-owned properties
five properties consolidated through investments in joint ventures including two hotel and development
properties and mixed-used property an investment in an island development accounted for under the

equity method an investment in portfolio of 22 properties located in four Central European
countries accounted for under the equity method two investments in student housing projects in Texas

and Virginia also accounted for under the equity method and two multifamily properties deemed to
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be variable interest entities that we consolidate as mezzanine lender Our investment properties are

located in Arizona California Colorado Massachusetts Minnesota Missouri Nevada Texas Virginia

the Commonwealth of The Bahamas London England the Czech Republic Poland Hungary and

Slovakia

Market Outlook

Beginning in 2008 the U.S and global economies experienced significant downturn This

downturn included disruptions in the broader financial and credit markets declining consumer

confidence and an increase in unemployment rates These conditions have contributed to weakened

market conditions Due to the struggling U.S and global economies overall demand across most real

estate sectors including office multifamily hospitality and retail continued to remain low due to losses

in the financial and professional services industries and U.S unemployment rate of 10% throughout

much of the second half of 2009 We believe that corresponding rental rates will also remain weak at

least through the first half of 2010 The national vacancy percentage for office space increased from

14.5% in the fourth quarter
of 2008 to 19.7% in the fourth quarter of 2009 Vacancies are expected to

peak at over 21% in 2010 We also believe that tenant defaults and bankruptcies are likely to increase

in the short-term To date we have not experienced any significant tenant defaults resulting in the loss

of material rental income

The hospitality industry continues to be negatively
affected by the poor global economy Smith

Travel Research indicates that the national overall occupancy rate for hospitality properties in the

United States declined from 53.1% in the fourth quarter
of 2008 to 50.6% in the fourth quarter of

2009 The national overall Average Daily Rate ADR has also declined from $103.43 in the fourth

quarter of 2008 to $95.79 in the fourth quarter
of 2009 This weakening of the hospitality industry is

expected to continue throughout 2010 and is not expected to recover until 2011

Within the multifamily sector weak U.S labor markets and high unemployment rates across the

nation have been key factors contributing to high vacancy rates Property and Portfolio Research

PPR expects that vacancy rates will continue to climb through 2010 and that rent rates may still see

further decreases before bottoming out in 2011

We have several projects in various stages of development including Rio Salado located in Phoenix

Arizona Frisco Square located in Frisco Texas The Lodge Spa at Cordillera located in Edwards

Colorado and Royal Island located in The Bahamas Due in large part to the struggling U.S and

global economies we have decided to defer further substantive development activities on these projects

for the near term

While it is unclear as to when the overall economy will recover we do not expect conditions to

improve significantly in the near future Management expects
that the current volatility in the capital

markets will continue at least in the short-term This volatility has significantly impacted the availability

of credit for borrowers The Wall Street Journal reported in February 2010 that lending by U.S banks

fell by 7.4% in 2009 compared to the prior year the largest decline in bank lending since 1942 These

market conditions make it more difficult to refinance assets when their mortgages mature as well as

impact our ability to access bank capital for leasing tenant improvements and other capital needs of

our properties Consequently we may seek alternative sources of financing to achieve our investment

objectives including using the proceeds from the sale of our properties and/or temporarily reducing or

eliminating our quarterly dividend

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal demands for funds for the next twelve months and beyond will be for the payment

of costs associated with the lease-up of available space
at our operating properties including

commissions tenant improvements and capital improvements for certain ongoing costs at our
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development properties for the payment of operating expenses and distributions and for the payment
of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness Generally cash needs for items other than
costs associated with the

lease-up of available
space at our operating properties including commissions

tenant improvements and capital improvements and ongoing costs at our development properties are

expected to be met from operations and borrowings

We expect to fund our short-term liquidity requirements by using the short-term borrowings and
cash flow from the operations of our current investments Operating cash flows are expected to be flat

due to rental revenue stabilizing on our operating properties combined with lower hotel revenues at

The Lodge and Spa at Cordillera offset by anticipated condominium sales at The Private Residences at

The Chase Park Plaza For both our short-term and long-term liquidity requirements other potential
future sources of capital may include proceeds from secured or unsecured debt financing asset

dispositions reduction or elimination of the amount of distributions paid decreases in the amount of

nonessential capital expenditures and undistributed funds from operations If necessary we may use

financings or other sources of capital in the event of unforeseen significant capital expenditures

Debt
Financings

We may from time to time make mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans and other loans for

investments or property development We may obtain
financing at the time an investment is made or at

such later time as determined to be necessary depending on multiple factors

Our notes payable increased to $429.8 million at December 31 2009 from $416.2 million at

December 31 2008 primarily as result of borrowings under our senior secured credit facility and new
borrowings associated with Bent Tree Green Each of our loans is secured by one or more of our

properties At December 31 2009 our notes payable interest rates ranged from 1.9% to 6.3% with

weighted average interest rate of 3.1% Generally our notes payable mature at approximately two to

ten years from origination and require payments of interest only for approximately two to five years
with all principal and interest due at maturity Notes payable associated with our Northborough and
Frisco Square investments require monthly payments of both principal and interest At December 31
2009 our notes payable had maturity dates that range from March 2010 to January 2016

Our loan agreements generally stipulate that we comply with certain reporting and financial

covenants These covenants include among other things notifying the lender of any change in

management and maintaining minimum debt service coverage ratios At December 31 2009 we believe

we were in compliance with each of the debt covenants under our loan agreements However after

December 31 2009 one of our non-recourse property loans went into default We have begun
discussions with the lender to restructure the debt in way that is supported by the underlying asset
value of the property We can provide no assurance that we will be able to restructure the debt or to

purchase or payoff the debt at discount which could result in foreclosure or transfer of ownership
of the property to the lender Further we believe at least two other properties and potentially others

have property loans that need to be modified during 2010 in order to support the underlying asset
value

In December 2009 we recognized $8.7 million of other income related to the monetization of

State of Missouri historic tax credits on the redevelopment of the Chase Park Plaza Hotel located in

St Louis Missouri The proceeds from the historic tax credits were used to pay down the outstanding
balance of the Chase Park Plaza Hotel loan

In November 2009 we amended the Frisco Square LLC Land loan with the lender extending
the maturity date to July 28 2011 The amended loan requires monthly payments of principal and
interest and bears interest at floating rate of LIBOR 4.5% This loan is secured by real property
and is unconditionally guaranteed by us
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The commercial real estate debt markets have been experiencing and continue to experience

volatility as result of certain factors including the tightening of underwriting standards by lenders and

credit rating agencies Credit spreads for major sources of capital have widened significantly as

investors have demanded higher risk premium This is resulting in lenders increasing the cost for debt

financing Current economic conditions as well as few unmortgaged assets negatively impact our ability

to finance capital needs through borrowings Current market conditions also make it more difficult to

refinance assets when their mortgages mature In general in the current market lenders have increased

the amount of equity required to support
either new or existing borrowings Consequently there is

greater uncertainty regarding our ability to access the credit markets in order to attract financing on

reasonable terms

In addition capitalization rates or cap rates for real estate properties have generally increased

Cap rates and property prices move inversely so that an increase in cap rates should without an

increase in property net operating income result in decrease in property value Although this

development is positive for new property acquisitions the overall impact will likely be negative for us

because we believe it will further strain our ability to finance our business using existing assets and to

refinance debt on our existing assets because our properties may be viewed as less valuable

As the overall cost of borrowings increase either by increases in the index rates or by increases in

lender spreads we will need to factor such increases into the economics of our developments and

property contributions This may result in our investment operations generating lower overall economic

returns and reduced level of cash flow which could potentially impact our ability to make

distributions to our stockholders at current levels In addition the recent dislocations in the debt

markets have reduced the amount of capital that is available to finance real estate which in turn

leads to decline in real estate values generally ii slows real estate transaction activity

iii reduces the loan to value upon which lenders are willing to extend debt and iv results in

difficulty in refinancing debt as it becomes due all of which may reasonably be expected to have

material adverse impact on the value of real estate investments and the revenues income or cash flow

from the acquisition and operations of real properties
and mortgage loans In addition the current

state of the debt markets has negatively impacted the ability to raise equity capital

If debt financing is not available on acceptable terms and conditions we may not be able to

refinance maturing debt or obtain financing for investments Domestic and international financial

markets have been experiencing and continue to experience unusual volatility and uncertainty If this

volatility and uncertainty persists our ability to borrow monies on acceptable terms and conditions to

finance the purchase of or other activities related to real estate assets will be significantly impacted If

we are unable to borrow monies on acceptable terms and conditions we may find it difficult costly or

impossible to refinance indebtedness upon maturity If interest rates are higher when the properties are

refinanced our cash flow from operating activities will be reduced In addition in the current market

lenders have increased the amount of equity required to support either new or existing borrowings

One of our principal long-term liquidity requirements includes the repayment of maturing debt

including borrowings under our senior secured credit facility discussed below The following table
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provides information with
respect to the contractual maturities and scheduled principal repayments of

our indebtedness as of December 31 2009 The table does not represent any extension options

Payments Due by Period

2010 2011-2012 2013-2014 Mter 2014 Total

Principal paymentsfixed rate debt 287 2299 $17025 $18883 38494
Interest paymentsfixed rate debt 2326 4543 2979 1166 11014

Principal paymentsvariable rate debt 195196 167462 27650 390308
Interest paymentsvariable rate debt based on

rates in effect as of December 31 2009 9930 5944 101 15975

Total $207739 $180248 $47755 $20049 $455791

Included within the table above are amounts due related to the Alexan Black Mountain and

Tanglewood at Voss notes payable The notes payable related to Alexan Black Mountain and

Tanglewood at Voss are not our obligations but are the obligations of our mezzanine borrowers Of the

$195.2 million variable rate debt principal payments due in 2010 $39.5 million is related to the

Tanglewood at Voss loan which matures on March 22 2010 We as the mezzanine lender are in

discussion with the mezzanine borrower and the senior construction lender to extend or refinance the

Tanglewood at Voss note payable In February 2010 the Alexan Black Mountain loan was extended

through December 29 2012 The loan bears interest at floating rate at the election of the borrower

of LIBOR 3% or the Prime Rate 2% and has an interest rate floor of 5.5%

Notes payable related to Santa Clara Tech Center Chase Park Plaza Hotel and ChaseThe
Private Residences are scheduled to mature in 2010 Subject to certain conditions the respective loan

agreements provide us with two one-year options to extend the maturity dates of the Santa Clara Tech

Center Chase Park Plaza Hotel and ChaseThe Private Residences notes payable We anticipate

pay down on the outstanding balance of the Chase Park Plaza Hotel note payable in the second quarter
of 2010 through the monetization of additional historic state tax credits earned on the redevelopment
of the Chase Park Plaza property In the first half of 2010 we expect to pay down the outstanding
balance on the note payable related to ChaseThe Private Residences through proceeds from the sale

of the 16 condominium units currently under contract or reserved as of December 31 2009 We are in

discussions with the respective lenders to extend the maturity date or refinance these loans If we are

unable to reach satisfactory arrangement with the lenders or are unable to extend the maturity dates

under the loan agreements we could go into default under the respective loan agreements

Consequently we may seek other lenders to refinance the notes payable Or seek alternative sources of

funding including the use of proceeds from the sale of our properties

Credit Facility

On February 13 2008 we entered into senior secured revolving credit facility the Credit

Agreement providing for up to $75 million of secured borrowings with Bank of America as lender

and administrative agent and other lending institutions that become party to the Credit Agreement
The credit facility is secured by first lien on all real property assets in collateral pool consisting of

six wholly-owned properties In May 2009 we entered into separate loan agreement with another

bank to place up to $8.75 million of debt on the Bent Tree Green property which was part of the

collateral pool securing the credit facility Accordingly the Bent Tree Green property was removed

from the collateral pool Loans under the credit facility bear interest at an annual rate that is equal to

combination of the LIBOR plus an applicable margin that depending upon the debt service

coverage ratio may vary from 1.5% to 1.7% or the prime rate plus an applicable margin that

depending upon the debt service coverage ratio may vary from 0% to 0.2% The credit facility matures

on February 13 2011
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We have unconditionally guaranteed payment of the senior secured revolving credit facility The

availability of credit under the senior secured credit facility is limited by the terms of the Credit

Agreement As of December 31 2009 the maximum availability under the senior secured credit facility

was $71.2 million and the outstanding balance was $62.6 million The proceeds of the senior secured

credit facility have been used to fund ongoing costs at our development and operating properties
and

for general corporate purposes Our ability to fund our liquidity requirements are expected to come

from the cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet totaling $9.5 million as of

December 31 2009 and additional amounts available under our senior secured credit facility As

necessary we may seek alternative sources of financing including using the proceeds from the sale of

our properties and temporarily reducing or eliminating our quarterly
distribution to achieve our

investment objectives

Restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet of $8.6 million as of December 31 2009 includes

amounts set aside as interest reserves totaling $3.7 million The remaining balance of $4.9 million

includes amounts set aside related to certain operating properties for tenant improvement and

commission reserves tax reserves maintenance and capital expenditures reserves and other amounts as

may be required by our lenders

Joint Venture Indebtedness

We have noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership investments in three properties
and one

investment in joint venture consisting of 22 properties Our effective ownership percentages range

from 30% to 50% We exercise significant
influence over but do not control these entities and

therefore they are presently accounted for using the equity method of accounting As of December 31

2009 the aggregate debt held by unrelated parties including both ours and our partners share

incurred by these ventures was approximately $163.6 million In December 2009 the construction loans

associated with GrandMarc at the Corner and GrandMarc at Westberry Place were refinanced with

Freddie Mac The maturity date of both refinanced loans is January 2020 The refinanced loans

require payments of principal
and interest and bear interest at variable rate which was 5.08% as of

December 31 2009

The table below summarizes the outstanding debt of these properties as of December 31 2009

Venture Interest Rate

Ownership as of Carrying Maturity

Properties
December 31 2009 Amount Date

GrandMarc at the Corner 50% 4.94% 27250 January 2020

GrandMarc at Westberry Place 50% 4.87% 38000 January 2020

Central Europe Joint Venture 47% 2.38% 98306 March 20122

Total
$163556

Represents the weighted average
interest rate of the various notes payable secured by the 22

properties in the Central Europe Joint Venture

Represents the weighted average maturity date of the various notes payable secured by the 22

properties in the Central Europe Joint Venture
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Results of Operations

As of the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we had invested in 22 assets 11 consolidated

wholly-owned properties five properties consolidated through investments in joint ventures including
two hotel and development properties and mixed-used property an investment in an island

development accounted for under the equity method an investment in portfolio of 22 properties
located in four Central European countries accounted for under the equity method two investments in

student housing projects in Texas and Virginia also accounted for under the equity method and two
multifamily development properties as mezzanine lender consolidated as VIEs under GAAP Our
investment

properties are located in Arizona California Colorado Massachusetts Minnesota Missouri
Nevada Texas Virginia the Commonwealth of The Bahamas London England the Czech Republic
Poland Hungary and Slovakia

Fiscal
year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

Year Ended December 31 Increase Decrease

2009 2008 Amount Percent

Revenue

Rental revenue 62877 57624 5253 9%
Hotel revenue 3776 5959 2183 37%
Condominium sales 21838 9704 12134 125%

Total revenues 88491 73287 $15204 21%

Expenses

Property operating expenses 25324 24566 758 3%
Bad debt expense 10230 317 9913 3127%
Cost of condominium sales 21738 9708 12030 124%
Interest expense 16500 17438 938 5%
Real estate taxes 8152 7277 875 12%
Impairment charge 15522 19413 3891 20%
Property management fees 2429 2297 132 6%
Asset management fees 6690 4798 1892 39%
General and administrative 5704 4934 770 16%
Advertising costs 761 2199 1438 65%
Depreciation and amortization 29975 25661 4314 17%

Total expenses $143025 $118608 $24417 21%

Revenues Our total revenues increased by $15.2 million to $88.5 million for the
year ended

December 31 2009 as compared to $73.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The change in

revenues is primarily due to

an increase in rental revenues in 2009 of $2.1 million from properties acquired in 2008 which did

not contribute full
year

of rental revenue in 2008

decreased hotel revenues of $2.2 million largely due to the negative effect of the poor global

economy on the hospitality industry Hotel revenues consisted of revenues generated by the

operations of The Lodge Spa at Cordillera In general both occupancy rates and average
daily rates for hospitality properties in the United States have declined compared to the same
periods in 2008 and

an increase in condominium sales of $12.1 million in 2009 compared to 2008 We closed on the
sale of 23 condominium units at The Private Residences at The Chase Park Plaza

during the
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year ended December 31 2009 Of the remaining 48 units 14 units were under contract with

non-refundable deposits and two units were reserved with refundable deposits as of

December 31 2009 We closed on the sale of 15 condominium units during the
year

ended

December 31 2008

Properly Operating Expenses Property operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2009

were $25.3 million as compared to $24.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 and were

comprised of operating expenses from our consolidated properties We expect property operating

expenses to remain flat in the near future

Bad debt expense Bad debt expense for the year ended December 31 2009 was $10.2 million as

compared to $0.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase in bad debt expense was

primarily due to charge for bad debt established in the third quarter of 2009 for Chase Park Plaza

Hotel occupancy rates and ADR have declined sharply nationwide in 2009 As result the Chase Park

Plaza lessee Kingsdell L.E has been unable to pay the full amount of its lease payment In February

2010 the lease with Kingsdell L.R was amended to include revised rental schedule and forgiveness
of

certain amounts past
due under the original lease

Cost of Condominium Sales Cost of condominium sales relating to the sale of condominium

units at The Private Residences at The Chase Park Plaza for the year ended December 31 2009 were

$21.7 million as compared to $9.7 million for the year
ended December 31 2008 The increase is due

to the increased number of condominiums sold for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to

the year
ended December 31 2008 We closed On the sale of 23 condominium units at The Private

Residences at The Chase Park Plaza during the year
ended December 31 2009 We closed on the sale

of 15 condominium units during the
year

ended December 31 2008

Interest Expense Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2009 was approximately

$16.5 million as compared to approximately $17.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008

primarily due to general decline in average interest rates on our variable rate debt compared to the

prior year

Impairment Charge For the year
ended December 31 2009 we recognized $15.5 million in

non-cash impairment charges as result of the difficult economic conditions We recorded

$9.9 million non-cash impairment charge related to our leasehold interest in an office building in

London England and $5.6 million non-cash impairment charge related to our hotel and development

property in Edwards Colorado For the year
ended December 31 2008 we recognized $19.4 million in

non-cash impairment charges including $12.5 million related to our hotel and development property in

Edwards Colorado $6 million non-cash impairment charge related to our leasehold interest in an

office building in London England and $0.9 million non-cash impairment charge related to an

investment in an unconsolidated joint venture If market conditions worsen beyond our current

expectations or if changes in our development strategy significantly affect any key assumptions used in

our fair value calculations we may need to take additional charges in future periods for impairments

related to existing assets

Properly Management Fees Property management fees were $2.4 million and $2.3 million for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively
and were comprised of fees incurred by our

consolidated properties We expect increases in property management fees in the future as available

space at our operating properties is leased-up

Asset Management Fees Asset management fees for the year ended December 31 2009 totaled

$6.7 million as compared to $4.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 and were comprised of

fees incurred by our consolidated properties The increase in asset management fees was primarily
due

to the fu 11 year effects of the acquisitions of Crossroads Office Park in June 2008 and the Central
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Europe Joint Venture in July 2008 and to the payment of fees associated with our Royal Island

development project We expect asset management fees to stabilize in the future

General and Administrative Expenses General and administrative expenses for the year ended

December 31 2009 were $5.7 million as compared to $4.9 million for the
year ended December 31

2008 and were comprised of insurance premiums auditing fees transfer
agent fees legal fees

reimbursement for salaries and benefits of persons employed by an affiliate of Behringer Harvard

Opportunity Advisors who provides services to us and other administrative expenses The increase is

primarily due to $0.8 million increase for expenses incurred by our advisor for services provided to us
and $0.3 million increase in directors and officers insurance premiums offset by $0.3 million

decrease related to other various corporate general and administrative activities

Advertising costs Advertising costs for the year ended December 31 2009 were $0.8 million as

compared to $2.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The decrease is primarily due to the

temporary suspension of development activities at Rio Salado and The Lodge Spa at Cordillera

Other income net Other income net for the
year ended December 31 2009 was $8.4 million as

compared to $0.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase is
primarily due to the

monetization of State of Missouri historic tax credits totaling $8.7 million on the redevelopment of the

Chase Park Plaza Hotel located in St Louis Missouri The proceeds from the historic tax credits were
used to pay down the outstanding balance of the Chase Park Plaza Hotel loan

Fiscal year ended December 31 2008 as compared to the fiscal year ended December 31 2007

Year Ended December 31 Increase Decrease

2098 2007 Amount Percent

Revenue

Rental revenue 57624 $30814 $26810 87%
Hotel revenue 5959 4414 1545 35%
Condominium sales 9704 9704 n/a

Total revenues 73287 $35228 $38059 108%

Expenses

Property operating expenses 24566 $12008 $12558 105%
Bad debt expense 317 117 200 171%
Cost of condominium sales 9708 9708 n/a

Interest expense 17438 4805 12633 263%
Real estate taxes 7277 3549 3728 105%
Impairment charge 19413 19413 n/a

Property management fees 2297 910 1387 152%
Asset management fees 4798 2322 2476 107%
General and administrative 4934 1562 3372 216%

Advertising costs 2199 1171 1028 88%
Depreciation and amortization 25661 13069 12592 96%

Total expenses $118608 $39513 $79095 200%

Revenues Our total revenues increased by $38.1 million to $73.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 as compared to $35.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase

in revenues is
primarily due to

rental revenue from the acquisition of new properties in 2008 of $7.1 million
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an increase in rental revenues in 2008 of $16.1 million from properties acquired in 2007 which

did not contribute full year of rental revenue in 2007 and

condominium sales of $9.7 million in 2008 as compared to no condominium sales in 2007

Hotel revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 totaled $6 million as compared to

$4.4 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 and consisted of revenues generated by the

operations of The Lodge Spa at Cordillera resort and spa property acquired in June 2007

Properly Operating Expenses Property operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2008

were $24.9 million as compared to $12.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007 and were

comprised of operating expenses from our consolidated properties
The increase in property operating

expenses was primarily
due to expenses incurred by properties acquired in 2008 of $1.8 million and

$6.1 million from properties acquired in 2007 that did not incur full year
of operating expenses in

2007

Cost of Condominium Sales Cost of condominium sales relating to the sale of condominium

units at The Private Residences at The Chase Park Plaza were $9.7 million for the year
ended

December 31 2008 We did not have any such sales and related costs for the year ended December 31

2007

Interest Expense Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2008 was approximately

$17.4 million as compared to approximately $4.8 million for the year ended December 31 2007 and

was primarily
due to the increase in notes payable balances of $172.3 million related to our acquisition

of real estate properties and borrowings under our senior secured credit facility Our total notes

payable at December 31 2008 was $416.2 million as compared to $243.9 million at December 31 2007

Impairment Charge We recognized $19.4 million in non-cash impairment charges for the year

ended December 31 2008 as result of the difficult economic conditions that accelerated during the

fourth quarter of 2008 including the significant disruption
in financing available in the broader credit

markets We recorded non-cash impairment charge of $12.5 million related to our hotel property in

Edwards Colorado $6 million non-cash impairment charge related to our leasehold interest in an

office building in London England and $0.9 million non-cash impairment charge related to an

investment in an unconsolidated joint venture We did not recognize any impairment charges for the

year ended December 31 2007

Properly Management Fees Property and asset management fees for the
year

ended December 31

2008 totaled $2.3 million as compared to $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 and were

comprised of fees incurred by our consolidated properties Property management fees increased due to

the additional properties acquired

Asset Management Fees Asset management fees for the year ended December 31 2008 totaled

$4.8 million as compared to $2.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007 and were comprised of

fees incurred by our consolidated properties Asset management fees increased due to the additional

properties acquired

General and Administrative Expenses General and administrative expenses for the
year

ended

December 31 2008 were $4.9 million as compared to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31

2007 and were comprised of corporate general and administrative expenses including directors and

officers insurance premiums auditing fees legal fees and other administrative expenses The increase

was primarily due to

$0.3 million increase in directors and officers insurance premiums and errors and omissions

EO insurance premiums
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$1 million reimbursement to Behringer Opportunity Advisors for expenses incurred by them in

2008 for services provided to us There was no reimbursement for such services in 2007

$0.3 million increase in
auditing and accounting expenses primarily related to the our investment

in the Central Europe Joint Venture and

$1 million related to services provided by our stock transfer agent Prior to the termination of

the
Offering in December 2007 such fees were reduction of the

gross proceeds of the

Offering

Cash Flow Analysis

Fiscal year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

Cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31 2009 were $11.4 million

and were comprised primarily of the net loss of $48 million and an increase in accounts receivable of

$3.4 million offset by depreciation and amortization expense of $25.7 million bad debt expense charges
of $10.2 million and non-cash impairment charge of $15.5 million During the year ended

December 31 2008 cash flows used in operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 were
$29.3 million and were comprised primarily of the net loss of $44.7 million presented as net loss of

$34.7 million in the 2008 Form 10-K due to the inclusion within net loss of minority interest of

$10 million an increase in condominium inventory of $20.9 million changes in prepaid expenses and
other assets of $7.4 million and an increase in accounts receivable of $7.8 million offset by
depreciation and amortization expense of $21 million non-cash impairment charge of $19.4 million

and an increase in accrued and other liabilities of $7.7 million

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 were $33.2 million

and primarily represent expenditures for real estate under development including capital expenditures
of consolidated borrowers totaling $10.9 million additions of property and equipment of $8.5 million
investment in notes receivable of $6 million an increase in restricted cash of $4.5 million and

investment in unconsolidated joint ventures of $3.4 million Cash flows used in investing activities for
the

year ended December 31 2008 were $167.3 million and primarily represent purchases of real estate

properties of $47.5 million acquisition of interest in unconsolidated joint ventures totaling
$29.5 million expenditures for real estate under development including capital expenditures of

consolidated borrowers totaling $60.7 million and investment in notes receivable of $27 million

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 were
$8.5 million and were comprised primarily of proceeds from notes payable of $26 million payments on
notes payable of $30.3 million and net borrowings on our senior secured revolving credit facility of

$14.6 million Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 were
$143.7 million and were comprised primarily of proceeds from notes payable of $128.5 million

payments on notes payable of $46.6 million proceeds from mortgages of consolidated borrowers of

$27.3 million and net borrowings on our senior secured revolving credit facility of $48 million

Fiscal year ended December 31 2008 as compared to the fiscal year ended December 31 2007

Cash flows used in
operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 were $29.3 million

and were comprised primarily of the net loss of $44.7 million an increase in condominium inventory of

$20.9 million changes in prepaid expenses and other assets of $7.4 million and an increase in accounts
receivable of $7.8 million offset by depreciation and amortization expense of $21 million non-cash

impairment charge of $19.4 million and an increase in accrued and other liabilities of $7.7 million

During the year ended December 31 2007 cash flows used by operating activities were $12.6 million

and were comprised primarily of the net loss of $4.3 million changes in condominium inventory of
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$21 million the loss on the early extinguishment of the debt related to Chase Park Plaza of

$2.5 million partially offset by depreciation
and amortization of $10.4 million

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 were $167.3 million

and primarily represent purchases of real estate properties
of $47.5 million acquisition

of interest in

unconsolidated joint ventures totaling $29.5 million expenditures for real estate under development

including capital expenditures of consolidated borrowers totaling $607 million and investment in notes

receivable of $27 million Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31 2007

were $368.1 million and primarily represented real estate purchases totaling $257.3 million and capital

expenditures of real estate under development including real estate of our consolidated borrowers of

$47.5 million We also used cash to acquire interests in three unconsolidated joint ventures totaling

$23.5 million

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the
year

ended December 31 2008 were

$143.7 million and were comprised primarily of proceeds from notes payable
of $128.5 million

payments on notes payable of $46.6 million proceeds from mortgages of consolidated borrowers of

$27.3 million and net borrowings on our senior secured revolving credit facility of $48 million During

the year ended December 31 2007 cash flows provided by financing activities were $404.6 million and

were comprised primarily of funds received from the issuance of stock net of offering costs of

$314.6 million proceeds from notes payable of $79 million and proceeds from bridge notes of

$52.1 million

Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

Funds from operations FF0 is non-GAAP financial measure that is widely recognized as

measure of REIT operating performance We use FF0 defined by the National Association of Real

Estate Investment Trusts as net income loss computed in accordance with GAA1 excluding

extraordinary items as defined by GAAP and gains or losses from sales of property plus depreciation

and amortization on real estate assets and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships joint

ventures and subsidiaries as one measure to evaluate our operating performance In addition to FF0

we use modified funds from operations Modified Funds from Operations or MFFOwhich

excludes from FF0 acquisition-related costs impairment charges and adjustments to fair value for

derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting to further evaluate our operating performance

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that

the value of real estate diminishes predictably over time Since real estate values have historically risen

or fallen with market conditions many industry investors and analysts have considered the presentation

of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting alone to be

insufficient As result our management believes that the use of FF0 and MFFO together with the

required GAAP presentations provide more complete understanding of our performance

We believe that FF0 is helpful to investors and our management as measure of operating

performance because it excludes depreciation and amortization gains and losses from property

dispositions and extraordinary items and as result when compared year over year reflects the

impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates rental rates operating costs general and

administrative expenses and interest costs which is not immediately apparent from net income We

believe that MFFO is helpful to our investors and our management as measure of operating

performance because it excludes costs that management considers more reflective of investing activities

and other non-operating items included in FF0 By providing FF0 and MFFO we present information

that assists investors in aligning their analysis with managements analysis of long-term core operating

activities We believe fluctuations in MFFO are indicative of changes in operating activities and provide

comparability in evaluating our performance over time and as compared to other real estate companies

that may not have acquisition activities or derivatives or be affected by impairments
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As explained below managements evaluation of our operating performance excludes the items

considered in the calculation of MFFO based on the following economic considerations

Impairment charges An impairment charge represents downward adjustment to the carrying
amount of long-lived asset to reflect the current valuation of the asset even when the asset is

intended to be held long-term Such adjustment when properly recognized under GAAI may
lag the underlying consequences related to rental rates occupancy and other operating

performance trends The valuation is also based in part on the impact of current market

fluctuations and estimates of future capital requirements and long-term operating performance
that may not be directly attributable to current operating performance Because MFFO excludes

impairment charges management believes MFFO provides useful supplemental information by
focusing on the changes in our operating fundamentals rather than changes that may reflect only

anticipated losses

Adjustments to fair value for derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting Management uses

derivatives in the management of our debt and interest rate exposure We do not intend to

speculate in these interest rate derivatives and
accordingly period-to-period changes in derivative

valuations are not primary factors in managements decision-making process We believe by

excluding the gains or losses from these derivatives MFFO provides useful supplemental
information on the realized economic impact of the hedges independent of short-term market

fluctuations

Acquisition-related costs In evaluating investments in real estate including both business

combinations and investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting

managements investment models and analysis differentiates costs to acquire the investment from
the operations derived from the investment Prior to 2009 acquisition costs for these

types of

investments were capitalized however beginning in 2009 acquisition costs related to business

combinations are expensed We believe by excluding expensed acquisition costs MFFO provides
useful supplemental information that is comparable for each

type of our real estate investments

and is consistent with managements analysis of the investing and operating performance of our

properties

FF0 or MFFO should not be considered an alternative to net income loss or an indication of

our liquidity Neither is indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to

make distributions and each should be reviewed in connection with other GAAP measurements Our
FF0 and MFFO may not be comparable to presentations by other REITs
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The following section presents our calculation of FF0 and MFFO and provides additional

information related to our FF0 and MFFO in thousands expect per share amounts

Year Ended

2009 2008 2007

Net loss $47960 $44729 4257

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 10923 10028 401

Adjustments for

Real estate depreciation
and amortization per income statement 29975 25661 13069

Pro rata share of unconsolidated JV depreciation
and

amortization0 4980 3290 564

Noncontrolling interest depreciation
amortization2 3982 2734 515

Funds from operations FF0 6064 8484 9262

Other Adjustments

Impairment charge 15522 19413

Noncontrolling interest share of impairment charge 2373 2453

Gain loss on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 1613 2383

Noncontrolling interest share of gain loss on derivatives not

designated as hedging instruments 80 119

MFFO 5552 $10740 9262

GAAP weighted average shares

Basic and diluted 55352 54529 36338

MFFO per share
0.10 0.20 0.25

This represents the depreciation and amortization expense of our share of depreciation and

amortization expense of the properties
which we account for under the equity method of

accounting

This reflects the noncontrolling interest adjustment for the third-party partners proportionate

share of the real estate depreciation and amortization

Provided below is additional information related to selected non-cash items included in net loss

above which may be helpful
in assessing our operating

results

Straight-line rental revenue of $2.6 million $3.6 million and $4.6 million was recognized for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities was recognized as net increase to rental

revenues of $4.5 million $4.8 million and $3 million for the
years

ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively

Amortization of intangible property tax abatement assets was recognized as an increase to real

estate tax expense of $0.3 million for each of the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007

Bad debt expense of $10.2 million $0.3 million and $0.1 million was recognized for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively and

Amortization of deferred financing costs of $3.1 million $3.4 million and $0.7 million was

recognized as interest expense for mortgages and notes payable for the
years

ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively and $0.8 million $1.7 million and $0.6 million
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was recognized as reduction of interest income for notes receivable for the
years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

In addition cash flows generated from MFFO may be used to fund all or portion of certain

capitalizable items that are excluded from MFFO such as capital expenditures and payments of

principal on debt each of which may impact the amount of cash available for distribution to our

stockholders

As noted above we believe FF0 and MFFO are helpful to investors and our management as

measure of
operating performance FF0 and MFFO are not indicative of our cash available to fund

distributions since other uses of cash such as capital expenditures at our properties and principal

payments of debt are not deducted when calculating FF0 and MFFO

Share Redemption Plan

Our board of directors has authorized share redemption program for stockholders who have held

their shares for more than one year On March 30 2009 our board of directors suspended until

further notice redemptions other than those submitted in respect of stockholders death disability or

confinement to long-term care facility On May 11 2009 and November 2009 our board of

directors approved certain amendments to the program related to the per share redemption price In

the fourth quarter ended December 31 2009 we redeemed 48368 shares of common stock

Distributions

Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors based on its
analysis of our

performance over the previous period expectations of performance for future periods including actual

and anticipated operating cash flow changes in market capitalization rates for investments suitable for

our portfolio capital expenditure needs general financial condition and other factors that our board

deems relevant The boards decision will be influenced in substantial part by its obligation to ensure
that we maintain our status as REIT In light of the pervasive and fundamental

disruptions in the

global financial and real estate markets we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to achieve

expected cash flows
necessary to continue to pay distributions at any particular level or at all Our

board may determine to reduce our current distribution rate or cease paying distributions in order to

conserve cash

Cash amounts distributed to stockholders during the year ended December 31 2009 was

$3.9 million For the year ended December 31 2009 cash flows provided by operating activities was

$11.4 million Accordingly for the year ended December 31 2009 cash flow from operations exceeded

cash amounts distributed to stockholders by $7.5 million Cash amounts distributed to stockholders

during the
year ended December 31 2008 was $4 million For the

year ended December 31 2008 cash

flows used in
operating activities was $29.3 million Accordingly for the year ended December 31 2008

none of the cash flows from operating activities exceeded cash amounts distributed to stockholders The
shortfall was funded principally from proceeds from our offering
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The following are the distributions paid and declared for the quarters in December 31 2009 and

2008 in thousands except per share amounts

Distributions Paid

Cash Reinvested Total

$1263 $2899 4164

1192 2947 4139

372 1033 1405

1047 3017 4064

$3874 $9896 $13772

Distributions Paid

Cash Reinvested Total

$1012 3083 4095

1039 3085 4124

990 3127 4117

965 3077 4042
_______ _____

$4006 $12372 $16378
_______ _____

The distribution declared for the fourth quarter 2009 was declared on January 2010

On April 2009 our Board of Directors voted to declare dividends on quarterly basis rather

than monthly basis thus generating significant
administrative cost savings to our shareholders In

addition future distributions will be determined and paid in arrears rather than in advance of the

period to which they apply On July 14 2009 our board of directors authorized quarterly distribution

in the amount of $0.075 per
share of common stock which is equivalent to an annual distribution of

3% assuming $10 price per share The distribution was payable to the common stockholders of record

at the close of business on June 30 2009 and the distribution was paid on July 29 2009 On January

2010 our Board of Directors authorized quarterly distribution in the amount of $0.075 per
share of

common stock which is equivalent to an annual distribution of 3% assuming $10 price per
share The

distribution is payable to the common stockholders of record at the close of business on December 31

2009 the record date previously established by the board on November 2009 The distribution was

paid on February 2010

Operating performance cannot be accurately predicted due to numerous factors including the

financial performance of our investments in the current real estate environment the types and mix of

investments in our portfolio and the accounting treatment of our investments in accordance with our

accounting policies As result future distributions declared and paid may continue to exceed cash

flow from operating activities

2009

Fourth Quarter

Third Quarter

Second Quarter

First Quarter

Total

2008

Fourth Quarter

Third Quarter

Second Quarter

First Quarter

Total

Total Declared

Distributions Distribution

Declared Per Share

4187L $0075

4164 0.075

4140 0.075

4070 0.075

$16561 $0.300

Total Declared

Distributions Distribution

Declared Per Share

4142 $0.076

4129 0.076

4076 0.074

4055 0.074

$16402 $0.300

77



ontractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2009 in

thousands

Notes Payable Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereaftei

Principal $4288022 $195483 $161241 8520 $44314 361 $18883

Interest 26989 12256 6492 3995 1983 1097 1166

Total $455791 $207739 $167733 $12515 $46297 $1458 $20049

Includes the mortgages payable of our mezzanine borrowers that we consolidate with principal

balances totaling approximately $68.5 million as of December 31 2009 These mortgages payable

are obligations of our mezzanine borrowers and are not payable by us

Does not include approximately $1 million of unamortized premium related to debt we assumed

on our acquisition of Northborough Tower

In February 2010 the Alexan Black Mountain loan was extended through December 29 2012 The
loan bears interest at floating rate at the election of the borrower of LIBOR 3% or the Prime

Rate 2% and has an interest rate floor of 5.5%

Trends in Other Behringer Harvard-Sponsored Programs

As discussed elsewhere herein the current economic crisis which began with the collapse of

residential subprime credit markets and continued through an overall crisis in and freeze of the credit

markets toward the end of 2008 followed by unemployment and economic declines unprecedented in

the last 70 years has had severely negative effects across substantially all commercial real estate As the

industry has been affected just as we have been adversely affected other Behringer Harvard-sponsored
investment programs that

substantially completed their primary equity offerings at or prior to the end

of 2008 have been adversely affected by the disruptions to the economy generally and the real estate

market These economic conditions have adversely affected the financial condition of many of these

programs tenants and lease guarantors resulting in tenant defaults or bankruptcies Further lowered

asset values as result of declining occupancies reduced rental rates and greater tenant concessions

and leasing costs have reduced investor returns in these investment programs because these factors not

only reduce current return to investors but also negatively impact the ability of these investment

programs to refinance or sell their assets and to realize gains thereon

In response to these economic stresses like us these Behringer Harvard-sponsored investment

programs have altered their overall strategies from acquisition and growth to focusing on capital

conservation debt extensions and restructurings reduction of operating expenses and management of

lease renewals and retenanting declining occupancies and rental rates and increases in tenant

concessions and leasing costs Identified and described below are trends regarding the consequences of

the current economic environment affecting certain characteristics of these other investment programs
These trends provide additional information as to the consequences of the current economic conditions

on real estate investment programs of the type sponsored by Behringer Harvard many of which

consequences currently or in the future may affect us

Distributions and Redemptions Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund LP has

paid and continues to pay monthly distributions at 6% annualized rate all distribution rate

calculations herein assume per unit or share purchase price of $10.00 reduced for capital distributions

arising from sales of assets While portfolio liquidation has been delayed because of current economic

challenges Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund LP is at the stage where it is

operating with view to provide capital returns to its investors through the sale of its assets and it has
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entered into contract to sell one of the five buildings currently included in its portfolio
If that sale is

consummated the general partners currently anticipate distributing the net proceeds of the sale to the

limited partners and would also consider reducing the normal distribution to reflect the reduction of

income resulting from the disposition of this asset and resulting higher operating costs relative to

revenues

Behringer Harvard REIT Inc lowered its annualized distribution rate from 6.5% to 3.25% in

connection with its monthly distributions beginning in April
2009 The regular distribution of Behringer

Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP was discontinued beginning with the third quarter of 2009

Behringer Harvard REIT Inc and Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund LP have

each indicated that their focus in the current environment is on capital preservation
and that they may

reduce their distribution rates or cease paying distributions

In March 2009 to conserve capital Behringer Harvard REIT Inc suspended its share

redemption program except for redemptions requested by shareholders by reason of death disability or

confinement to long-term care and further limited such redemptions to no more than $10 million for

the 2010 fiscal year Behringer Harvard REIT Inc may further limit or suspend redemptions In

connection with their announcements of their intention to enter their portfolio liquidation phase in

December 2006 Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund LP and Behringer Harvard

Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP terminated their redemption programs as well as their distribution

reinvestment plans

The recession has also negatively impacted the operating performance of Behringer Harvard

REIT Inc Cash flow from operating activities has decreased and has been insufficient to fund both

the net cash required to fund distributions and the capital requirements of its properties As result

portion of the net cash required for distributions and capital expenditures of this REIT was funded

from its cash on hand including proceeds from its offerings and/or borrowings

Estimated Valuations Both Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement LP and Behringer

Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP announced estimated valuations as of December 31 2009

of $7.09 and $6.45 per unit respectively of their limited partner units Each of these units were

originally sold in their best efforts public offerings for gross offering price of $10.00 Behringer

Harvard REIT Inc intends to announce an estimated valuation of its common stock as of June 30

2010 that it expects
to be less than the

gross offering price of $10.00 per share at which shares were

originally offered on primary basis in its public offerings

As with any valuation methodology the methodologies used by the Behringer Harvard-sponsored

investment programs utilize number of estimates and assumptions Parties using different assumptions

and estimates could derive different estimated value and these differences could be significant The

estimated values per share or unit were adopted pursuant to the specific valuation policies of these

investment programs and do not represent
the fair value of the shares or units calculated in accordance

with GAAP or the price at which such shares or units would trade on national securities exchange

The valuation policies and the announcements of estimated values for these programs should be

reviewed for additional information and limitations

Waiver of Fees and Expenses Behringer Harvard Holdings and its affiliates have from time to

time voluntarily when it has perceived circumstances to warrant it waived fees and expenses due from

their sponsored investment programs In 2009 Behringer
Harvard Holdings entities waived asset

management fees of approximately $7.5 million owed by Behringer Harvard REIT Inc asset

management fees and reimbursement of operating expenses of approximately $31000 and $301000

respectively owed by Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP asset management fees

and reimbursement of operating expenses of approximately $70000 and $187000 respectively owed by

Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund LP privately offered program and asset

management fees and reimbursement of operating expenses of approximately $172000 and $161000
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respectively owed by Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund LP also privately uttered

program In addition Behringer Harvard Holdings entities waived property management oversight fees
of approximately $161000 owed by Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund II LR There is no
assurance that Behringer Harvard Holdings or its affiliated entities will waive or defer fees or expenses
due from its sponsored investment programs in the future

Impairments Under GAA1 Behringer Harvard-sponsored investment programs consider the

applicability of any financial statement impairments of the assets that they own As result of adverse

economic conditions beginning in 2008 and continuing through 2009 Behringer Harvard REIT Inc
has taken impairments of approximately $21.1 million and $259.1 million during the fiscal years ended
December 31 2008 and 2009 respectively Also for the

years ended December 31 2007 and 2008
Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP recognized inventory valuation adjustments of

approximately $2.4 million and $16.8 million respectively and expects to recognize inventory valuation

adjustments of approximately $0.5 million for the fiscal
year ended December 31 2009

Financings The recent turbulent financial markets and disruption in the banking system as well

as the nationwide economic downturn have created severe lack of credit rising costs of any debt that

is available and reluctance by lenders to lend as large percentage of debt to equity than in prior

periods These market disruptions have adversely affected all of the Behringer Harvard investment

programs that substantially completed their equity offerings at or prior to the end of 2008 except
Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund L1 which incurred no debt These

investment programs have experienced property loan maturities that have not been refinanced or that
have been refinanced at reduced values requiring additional collateral or equity and/or at higher
interest rates or loan defaults related to certain of their assets These programs are working with their
lenders to replace extend or restructure debt arrangements as they mature or to purchase or payoff
the debt at discounted amounts To date these investment programs have had success in these

activities though in
respect of two assets where it was unable to negotiate satisfactory restructuring

or debt purchase Behringer Harvard REIT Inc has allowed the mortgage lenders to foreclose or

take the related property in lieu of foreclosure These investment programs each intend to continue
with their efforts to manage their debt arrangements to preserve value for their investors but there is

no assurances that they will be able retain all of their assets as mortgage loans mature

Sponsor Activities Behringer Harvard Holding entities have also voluntarily and in circumstances
where short term need for liquidity has been deemed by them to be advisable provided loans to

certain Behringer Harvard-sponsored investment programs including Behringer Harvard Short-Term

Opportunity Fund L1 Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund L1 and Behringer Harvard

Strategic Opportunity Fund II LE The
outstanding principal balance of these loans as of December 31

2009 was approximately $13.9 million net of the loan forgiveness described below $10.8 million and
$13.2 million respectively On December 31 2007 and 2009 Behringer Harvard Holdings forgave

approximately $7.5 million and $15 million respectively of
principal loans and all interest thereon

owed by Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund L1 which was accounted for as capital
contribution by its general partners Behringer Harvard Holdings has also leased vacant space at certain

of its TIC Programs discussed below There is no assurance that Behringer Harvard Holdings or its

affiliated entities will engage in such activities with respect to its sponsored investment programs in the

future

Co-Investor Arrangements Behringer Harvard Holdings sponsored private offerings from 2003

through 2005 for eight single asset co-investment arrangements structured as tenant-in-common

programs TIC Programs Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund sponsored one TIC
Program As of December 31 2009 Behringer Harvard REIT Inc had acquired all TIC interests

where it had been the
largest TIC owner in four TIC Programs and remained the largest

tenant-in-common investor in two TIC Programs Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund LP
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owns tenant-in-common interest in the one TIC Program it sponsored and the remaining TIC

Program is owned by tenant-in-common investors with small interest owned by Behringer Harvard

Holdings The remaining TIC Program sold its property in 2008

Investors in five of the TIC Programs received positive total return on their investment including

investors in one TIC Program who received total return above what was projected
in its private

placement offering memorandum In general the recession has adversely affected the operating

performance of the remaining four TIC Programs One of the TIC Programs is underperforming

relative to projections substantially due to representations
made by the seller and its agents related to

its operating expenses and revenues that Behringer Harvard Holdings believes to be false Behringer

Harvard Holdings is currently engaged in lawsuit where it has received settlements for the TIC

investors while it remains in dispute with the former on-site property manager The tenant-in-common

investors have received substantial settlement consideration and are no longer party to this suit

Several Behringer Harvard-sponsored investment programs have made portfolio investments under

co-investment arrangements generally as partnerships Certain of these co-investors have threatened

claims against these investment programs and their sponsor where current economic conditions have

resulted in these investments underperforming expectations None of these threats have resulted in

lawsuits While there is not believed to be any merit in this lawsuit or any of the threats the defense

and any settlement of these claims may negatively impact returns to the investors in these investment

programs

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have current or future

material effect on our financial condition changes in financial condition revenues or expenses results

of operations liquidity capital expenditures or capital resources

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Managements discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based

upon our consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP The

preparation of these financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related discosure of

contingent assets and liabilities We evaluate these estimates including investment impairment on

regular basis These estimates will be based on managements historical industry experience and on

various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results

may differ from these estimates

Below is discussion of the accounting policies that we consider will be critical in that they may

require complex judgment in their application or require estimates about matters that are inherently

uncertain

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of other subsidiaries

over which we have control All inter-company transactions balances and profits have been eliminated

in consolidation Interests in entities acquired will be evaluated based on applicable GAAI which

includes the requirement to consolidate entities deemed to be variable interest entities VIE in

which we are the primary beneficiary If the interest in the entity is determined not to be VIE then

the entities will be evaluated for consolidation based on legal form economic substance and the extent

to which we have control and/or substantive participating rights under the respective ownership

agreement
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There are judgments and estimates involved in determining if an entity in which we have made an
investment is VIE and if so whether we are the primary beneficiary The entity is evaluated to

determine if it is VIE by among other things calculating the percentage of equity being risked

compared to the total equity of the entity Determining expected future losses involves assumptions of

various possibilities of the results of future operations of the entity assigning probability to each

possibility and using discount rate to determine the net present value of those future losses change
in the judgments assumptions and estimates outlined above could result in

consolidating an entity that

should not be consolidated or accounting for an investment using the equity method that should in fact

be consolidated the effects of which could be material to our financial statements

Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties we recognize the assets acquired the liabilities

assumed and any noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition date measured at their fair values The

acquisition date is the date on which we obtain control of the real estate property These assets

acquired and liabilities assumed may consist of buildings any assumed debt identified intangible assets

and asset retirement obligations Identified intangible assets generally consist of the above-market and

below-market leases in-place leases in-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships Goodwill is

recognized as of the acquisition date and measured as the aggregate fair value of the consideration

transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired Likewise bargain purchase gain is recognized in current earnings when the aggregate fair

value of the consideration transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree is less than the

fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period
incurred

Initial valuations are subject to change until our information is finalized which is no later than

twelve months from the acquisition date

The fair value of any tangible assets acquired expected to consist of land land improvements

buildings building improvements and furniture fixtures and equipment is determined by valuing the

property as if it were vacant and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to the tangible assets Land
values are derived from appraisals and building and land improvements values are calculated as

replacement cost less depreciation or managements estimates of the relative fair value of these assets

using discounted cash flow analyses or similar methods Furniture fixtures and equipment values are

determined based on current reproduction or replacement cost less depreciation and other estimated

allowances based on physical functional or economic factors The value of buildings is depreciated

over the estimated useful lives ranging from 25
years

for commercial office property to 39 years for

hotel/mixed-use property using the straight-line method Land improvements are depreciated over the

estimated useful life of 15 years and furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated over estimated

useful lives ranging from five to seven years using the straight-line method

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties
based on the present value using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases

acquired of the difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place
leases and managements estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place

leases measured over period equal to the remaining noncancelable lease term for above-market

leases or the remaining noncancelable lease term plus any fixed rate renewal options for below
market leases We record the fair value of above-market and below-market leases as intangible assets

or intangible liabilities respectively and amortize them as an adjustment to rental income over the

determined lease term

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets that we may acquire in the future is

further allocated to in-place lease values and tenant relationships based on our evaluation of the

82



specific
characteristics of each tenants lease and our overall relationship with that respective tenant

The aggregate value of in-place leases acquired and tenant relationships is determined by applying

fair value model The estimates of fair value of in-place leases include an estimate of carrying costs

during the expected lease-up periods for the respective spaces considering current market conditions In

estimating fair value of in-place leases we consider items such as real estate taxes insurance and other

operating expenses as well as lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up period and carrying costs

that would have otherwise been incurred had the leases not been in place including tenant

improvements and commissions The estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also include

costs to execute similar leases including leasing commissions legal costs and tenant improvements as

well as an estimate of the likelihood of renewal as determined by management on tenant-by-tenant

basis

We amortize the value of in-place leases acquired in the future to expense over the term of the

respective leases The value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial

term and any anticipated renewal periods but in no event does the amortization period for intangible

assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building Should tenant terminate their lease the

unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles would be charged to

expense

Other intangible assets include the value of identified hotel trade names and in-place property tax

abatements These fair values are based on managements estimates of the relative fair value of these

assets using discounted cash flow analyses or similar methods The value of the trade names is

amortized over its respective estimated useful life of 20 years using the straight-line method and the

value of the in-place property tax abatement is amortized over its estimated term of 10 years using the

straight-line
method

We determine the fair value of assumed debt by calculating the net present value of the scheduled

mortgage payments using interest rates for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities that

management believes we could obtain Any difference between the fair value and stated value of the

assumed debt is recorded as discount or premium and amortized over the remaining life of the loan

Investment Impairments

For real estate we wholly own we monitor events and changes in circumstances indicating that the

carrying amounts of the real estate assets may not be recoverable When such events or changes in

circumstances are present we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future undiscounted

operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual

disposition to the carrying amount of the asset In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the

estimated future undiscounted operating cash flows we recognize an impairment loss to adjust the

carrying amount of the asset to estimated fair value We consider projected future undiscounted cash

flows trends strategic decisions regarding future development plans and other factors in our

assessment of whether impairment conditions exist While we believe our estimates of future cash flows

are reasonable different assumptions regarding such factors as market rents economies and

occupancies could significantly affect these estimates

In addition we evaluate our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and our investments in

the Chase Park Plaza working capital loan and Royal Island bridge loan at each reporting date and if

we believe there is an other than temporary decline in market value or if it is probable we will not

collect all principal and interest in accordance with the terms of the working capital or bridge loan we

will record an impairment charge based on these evaluations

We have determined that Alexan Black Mountain and Tanglewood at Voss meet the criteria of

VIE and that we are the primary beneficiary of these entities Therefore we have consolidated these

entities including the related real estate assets and third party
construction financing As of
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1ecember 31 2009 the outstanding principal balance under our mezzanine loans with Alexan Black

Mountain and Tanglewood at Voss was $9.7 million and $13 million respectively plus accrued interest

which is eliminated upon consolidation As of December 31 2009 we believe that all of the amounts

due under our mezzanine loans may not be collectible and to the extent that we would in the future

deconsolidate the assets of Alexan Black Mountain and Tanglewood at Voss we would recognize an

impairment for our mezzanine loans

Though we believe it is currently probable that we will collect scheduled principal and interest with

respect to our Chase Park Plaza working capital loan and our Royal Island bridge loans current market

conditions with respect to credit availability and with respect to real estate market fundamentals create

significant amount of uncertainty Given this any future adverse development in market conditions

would cause us to re-evaluate our conclusions and could result in material impairment charges with

respect to our working capital or bridge loans

In evaluating our investments for impairment management may use appraisals and makes
estimates and assumptions including but not limited to the projected date of disposition of the

properties the estimated future cash flows of the properties during our ownership and the projected

sales price of each of the properties change in these estimates and assumptions could result in

understating or overstating the book value of our investments which could be material to our financial

statements The value of our properties held for development depends on market conditions including

estimates of the project start date as well as estimates of future demand for the property type under

development We have analyzed trends and other information related to each potential development
and incorporated this information as well as our current outlook into the assumptions we use in our

impairment analyses Due to the judgment and assumptions applied in the estimation process with

respect to impairments including the fact that limited market information regarding the value of

comparable land exists at this time it is possible actual results could differ substantially from those

estimated

As result of the continued adverse economic conditions including the general weakness in market

rental rates and tenant renewals we evaluated certain of our real estate investments for potential

impairment during each quarter of 2009 Based on our analyses we recorded cumulative non-cash

impairment charges of $9.9 million related to our leasehold interest in an office building in London
England during the second and third quarters of 2009 During the fourth quarter of 2009 we recorded

non-cash impairment charge of $5.6 million related to our hotel and development property in

Edwards Colorado which includes an inventory valuation adjustment of $4.7 million related to

condominium inventory work in progress

Other than the impairment charges discussed above we believe the carrying value of our operating

real estate assets properties under development investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and

working capital and bridge loans is currently recoverable However if market conditions worsen beyond
our current expectations or if changes in our development strategy significantly affect any key

assumptions used in our fair value calculations we may need to take additional charges in future

periods for impairments related to existing assets Any such non-cash charges would have an adverse

effect on our consolidated financial position and results of operations

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB delayed the effective date

of applying updated accounting guidance in regards to nonrecurring fair value measurements of

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities until the fiscal
year beginning after November 2008

We adopted the updated accounting guidance effective January 2009 and this adoption is expected
to enhance our future disclosures regarding how we develop fair value estimates related to

non-financial assets and liabilities in our financial statements
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In December 2007 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance on business combinations The

updated guidance retains the fundamental requirement that the acquisition
method of accounting or

purchase method be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each

business combination This Statement is broader in scope than the original guidance which applied

only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration The updated

guidance applies the same method of accounting the acquisition method to all transactions and other

events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses This Statement also

makes certain other modifications including broader definition of business and the requirement

that acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred This statement applies to business combinations

occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after

December 15 2008 The acquisition of real estate property has been determined to meet the definition

of business combination as defined in the updated guidance Therefore effective January 2009 we

no longer capitalize acquisition related costs for future acquisitions of real estate properties but

expense
such costs as incurred

In February 2007 the FASB issued updated guidance regarding
the fair value option for financial

assets and financial liabilities The fair value option established by the new guidance permits all entities

to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates business entity will report

unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings or

another performance indicator if the business entity does not report earnings at each subsequent

reporting date We adopted this standard effective January 2008 but have not elected the fair value

measurement option for any financial assets or liabilities at the present time however we may elect to

measure future eligible financial assets or liabilities at fair value

In March 2008 the FASB issued updated guidance for disclosures about derivative instruments and

hedging activities The updated accounting guidance is intended to improve financial reporting about

derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to

better understand their effects on an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows

Our adoption of the updated accounting guidance affected disclosures only and had no impact on our

financial position or results of operations

In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance on noncontrolling interests This

guidance clarifies that noncontrolling interest in subsidiary which is sometimes referred to as

minority interest is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity

in the consolidated financial statements Among other requirements this guidance requires

consolidated net income to be reported on the face of the consolidated statement of operations at

amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest Our

adoption of this guidance on January 2009 increased our total equity Net income loss no longer

includes an allocation of income or losses to noncontrolling interests Income available to common

stockholders was not affected

In April 2009 the FASB issued staff position providing additional guidance for estimating fair

value when there has been significant decrease in market activity for financial asset This staff

position re-emphasizes that regardless of market conditions the fair value measurement is an exit price

concept It clarifies and includes additional factors to consider in determining whether there has been

significant decrease in market activity for an asset or liability and provides additional clarification on

estimating fair value when the market activity for an asset or liability has declined significantly This

guidance is applied prospectively to all fair value measurements where appropriate and is effective for

interim and annual periods ending after June 15 2009 The implementation of this guidance on

June 30 2009 did not have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In June 2009 the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for

the consolidation of variable interest entities The guidance eliminates exceptions to consolidating
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qualifying special-purpose entities contains new criteria for determining the primary beneficiary and

increases the frequency of required reassessments to determine whether company is the primary

beneficiary of variable interest entity It also contains new requirement that any term transaction

or arrangement that does not have substantive effect on an entitys status as variable interest entity

companys power over variable interest entity or companys obligation to absorb losses or its

rights to receive benefits of an entity must be disregarded The guidance is applicable for annual

periods after November 15 2009 and interim periods thereafter As result of this new accounting

guidance on January 2010 we will deconsolidate the assets and liabilities of Tanglewood at Voss and

Alexan Black Mountain along with the associated revenue and expenses Further we will recognize in

consolidation our mezzanine loans related to Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain which

will result in the addition of $22.7 million of notes receivable to our consolidated balance sheet

Further the new accounting standard related to the consolidated of variable interest entitys

requires an enterprise to perform qualitative analysis when determining whether or not it must

consolidate variable interest entity Additionally it requires enhanced disclosures about an

enterprises involvement with variable interest entities and any significant change in risk exposure due

to that involvement as well as how significant its involvement with the variable interest entity impacts
the enterprises financial statements Finally an enterprise is required to disclose significant judgments
and assumptions used to determine whether or not to consolidate variable interest entity With the

exception of the impact of Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain discussed above the

adoption of this accounting standard did not change any of our previous conclusions regarding our

variable interest entities and thus did not have an effect on our financial position results of operations

or liquidity

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

For our net investments in foreign real estate properties we use British pound and Euro foreign

currency forward exchange contracts and foreign currency put/call options to eliminate the impact of

foreign currency movements on our financial position At December 31 2009 our foreign currency
derivative contracts were reported at their fair value of $0.2 million within prepaid expenses and other

assets in our consolidated balance sheet 10% increase in the respective forward foreign currency
US dollar exchange rate would result in $0.1 million decrease in fair value 10% decrease in the

respective forward foreign currencyUS dollar exchange rate would result in $0.3 million increase in

fair value

We maintain less than $0.1 million in Euro-denominated accounts at European financial

institutions Accordingly we are not materially exposed to any significant foreign currency fluctuations

related to these accounts We do not enter into derivatives for trading or speculative purposes nor do

we maintain any market risk sensitive instruments for trading or speculative purposes

Interest Rate Risk

We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as result of long-term debt used to acquire

properties and make loans and other permitted investments Our managements objectives with regard

to interest rate risks are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to

lower overall borrowing costs To achieve these objectives we will borrow primarily at fixed rates or

variable rates with the lowest margins available and in some cases with the ability to convert variable

rates to fixed rates With regard to variable rate financing we will assess interest rate cash flow risk by

continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate exposures that may adversely impact

expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities We may enter into derivative

financial instruments such as options forwards interest rate swaps caps or floors to mitigate our
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interest rate risk on related financial instrument or to effectively lock the interest rate portion of our

variable rate debt Of our $429.8 million in notes payable at December 31 2009 $390.3 million

represented debt subject to variable interest rates which included the mortgages payable of borrowers

we consolidated If our variable interest rates increased 100 basis points we estimate that total annual

interest cost including interest expensed interest capitalized
and the effects of the interest rate caps

and swaps would increase by $2.8 million

At December 31 2009 interest rate caps used to mitigate our interest rate risk classified as assets

were reported at their combined fair value of less than $0.1 million within prepaid expenses and other

assets Interest rate swaps classified as liabilities were reported at their combined fair values of

$3.1 million in other liabilities at December 31 2009 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would

result in $0.3 million net decrease in the fair value of our interest rate caps and swaps 100 basis

point increase in interest rates would result in $1 million net increase in the fair value of our interest

rate caps and swaps

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is included in our Consolidated Financial Statements

beginning on page F-i of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9AT Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15b and Rule i5d-i5b under the Exchange Act our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated as of December 31 2009

the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15

and Rule 15d-15e Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2009 to

provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in this report is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the

Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosures

We believe however that controls system no matter how well designed and operated cannot

provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls systems are met and no evaluation of

controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error if any

within company have been detected

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and i5d-i5f Our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated as of December 31 2009

the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the framework in Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

concluded that our internal controls as of December 31 2009 were effective in providing reasonable

assurance regarding reliability of financial reporting
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This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Cornpanys registered public

accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting Managements report was not

subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the

Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only managements report in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the

quarter ended December 31 2009 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors

Because our directors take critical role in guiding our strategic direction and oversee our

management they must demonstrate broad-based business and professional skills and experiences

concern for the long-term interests of our stockholders and personal integrity and judgment In

addition our directors must have time available to devote to board activities and to enhance their

knowledge of our industry As described further below we believe our directors have the appropriate

mix of experiences qualifications attributes and skills required of our board members in the context of

the current needs of our company

Robert Behringer 61 has served as our Chairman of the Board and director since our

inception
in November 2004 From November 2004 until June 2008 he also served as Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Investment Officer He has also served as the sole manager and Chief Executive

Officer of Behringer Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard Holdings the indirect parent

corporation of our advisor since December 2001 Mr Behringer has also served as Chairman of the

Board and director of Behringer Harvard REIT Inc Behringer Harvard REIT since June

2002 Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT Inc Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT since

December 2007 and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II Inc Behringer Harvard Opportunity

REIT II since January 2007 each publicly registered real estate investment trust and Behringer

Harvard REIT II Inc Behringer Harvard REIT II newly formed real estate investment trust

since April 2007 Since 2002 Mr Behringer has been general partner of Behringer Harvard

Short-Term Opportunity Fund LP Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund and Behringer

Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund LP Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement

Fund each publicly registered real estate limited partnership Mr Behringer also controls the

general partners of Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund LP Behringer Harvard Strategic

Opportunity Fund and Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund II LP Behringer Harvard

Strategic Opportunity Fund II private real estate limited partnerships Since 2001 Mr Behringer also

has been the Chief Executive Officer of the other companies affiliated with Behringer Harvard

Holdings LLC

From 1995 until 2001 Mr Behringer was Chief Executive Officer of Harvard Property Trust Inc

privately-held REIT formed by Mr Behringer that has been liquidated and that had net asset value

of approximately $200 million before its liquidation Before forming Harvard Property Trust Inc
Mr Behringer invested in commercial real estate as Behringer Partners sole proprietorship formed in

1989 that invested in single asset limited partnerships From 1985 until 1993 Mr Behringer was Vice

President and Investment Officer of Equitable Real Estate Investment Management Inc now known

as Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Inc one of the largest pension fund advisors and owners of

real estate in the United States While at Equitable Mr Behringer was responsible for its General

Account Real Estate Assets located in the south-central United States which included working on

mortgage loan workouts and restructurings The portfolio included institutional-quality office

industrial retail apartment and hotel properties exceeding 17 million square feet with value of

approximately $2.8 billion Mr Behringers experience at Equitable required him to negotiate unique

terms such as loan length interest rates principal payments loan covenants i.e debt to equity

ratios col1ateral guaranties and general credit enhancements for each restructured loan specifically

tailored to the debtors particular facts and circumstances and market conditions Although

Mr Behringer was significant participant in acquisitions management leasing redevelopment and

dispositions his primary responsibility was to increase net operating income and the overall value of

the portfolio
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Mr Behringer has over 2t
years

of experience in real estate investment management and hnance

activities including approximately 140 different properties with over 24 million square feet of office

retail industrial apartment hotel and recreational space Since the founding of the Behringer Harvard

organization Mr Behringers experience includes an additional approximately 140 properties with over

approximately 31 million square feet of office retail industrial apartment hotel and recreational

properties Mr Behringer is Certified Property Manager Real Property Administrator and Certified

Hotel Administrator holds FINRA Series 24 and 63 registrations and is member of the Institute of

Real Estate Management the Building Owners and Managers Association the Urban Land Institute

and the Real Estate Council Mr Behringer was also licensed certified public accountant for over

20 years Mr Behringer received Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Minnesota

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Behringer is qualified to serve as one of our board

of directors and the Chairman of the Board for reasons including his over 25 years of experience in

real estate investing and having sponsored numerous public and private real estate programs Further

as Chairman of the Board and director of Behringer Harvard REIT Behringer Harvard Multifamily

REIT and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II he has an understanding of the requirements of

serving on public company board and the leadership experience necessary to serve as the Chairman

of the Board of our company

Robert Aisner 63 has served as our Chief Executive Officer since June 2008 and as our

President and one of our directors since our inception in November 2004 From July 2005 through June

2008 Mr Aisner served as our Chief Operating Officer In addition Mr Aisner has served as

President since May 2005 Chief Executive Officer since July 2009 and from June 2008 until May

2009 and director since June 2003 of Behringer Harvard REIT Inc Mr Aisner also has served

as President since January 2007 Chief executive Officer since June 2008 and director since

January 2007 of Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II Inc as Chief Executive Officer and

director of Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT Inc since August 2006 and as President since April

2007 and Chief Executive Officer since September 2008 of Behringer Harvard REIT II Inc

Mr Aisner is also Chief Executive Officer of our advisor and President and Chief Operating Officer of

our sponsor Behringer Harvard Holdings

Mr Aisner has over 30 years of commercial real estate experience In addition to Mr Aisners

commercial real estate experience as an officer and director of Behringer Harvard-sponsored programs

and their advisors Mr Aisner has overseen the acquisition structuring and management of various

types of real estate-related loans including mortgages and mezzanine loans From 1996 until joining

Behringer Harvard in 2003 Mr Aisner served as Executive Vice President of AMLI Residential

Properties Trust formerly New York Stock Exchange-listed REIT focused on the development

acquisition and management of upscale apartment communities and served as advisor and asset

manager for institutional investors with respect to their multifamily real estate investment activities

President of AMLI Management Company which oversaw all of AMLIs apartment operations in

80 communities President of the AMLI Corporate Homes division that managed AMLIs corporate

housing properties Vice President of AMLI Residential Construction division of AMLI that

performed real estate construction services and Vice President of AMLI Institutional Advisors the

AMLI division that served as institutional advisor and asset manager for institutional investors with

respect to their multifamily real estate activities Mr Aisner also served on AMLIs Executive

Committee and Investment Committee During Mr Aisners tenure AMLI was actively engaged in real

estate debt activities some of which were similar to our current loan structures From 1994 until 1996

Mr Aisner owned and operated Regents Management Inc which had both multifamily development

and construction group and general commercial property management group Mr Aisner is

member of the Board of Directors of the Association of Foreign Investors in Real Estate AFIRE the

Board of Directors of the National Multi-Housing Council NMHC the Urban Land Institute ULI
and the Pension Real Estate Association PREA From 1984 to 1994 Mr Aisner served as Vice
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President of HRW Resources Inc real estate development and management company Mr Aisner

received Bachelor of Arts degree from Colby College and Masters of Business Administration

degree from the University of New Hampshire

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Aisner is qualified to serve as one of our board of

directors for reasons including his over 30
years

of commercial real estate experience This experience

allows him to offer valuable insight and advice with respect to our investments and investment

strategies
In addition as the Chief Executive Officer of our advisor and with prior experience as an

executive officer of New York Stock Exchange-listed REI1 Mr Aisner is able to direct to the board

of directors to the critical issues facing our company Further as director of Behringer Harvard

REIT Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II he has

an understanding of the requirements of serving on public company board

Barbara Bufkin 54 has served as one of our directors since March 2005 Ms Bufkin is

30-year veteran of the insurance industry and has been Senior Vice President Business Development of

Argo Group International Holdings Ltd since August 2007 Prior to that from August 2004

Ms Bulkin was Senior Vice President Corporate Business Development of Argonaut Group Inc From

September 2002 until August 2004 Ms Bufkin was Vice President of Corporate Business Development

of Argonaut From 2001 until Ms Bufkin became an employee of Argonaut in September 2002 she

provided insurance and business development consulting services to Argonaut From 2000 to September

2002 Ms Bufkin also provided insurance and business development consulting services to other

insurance companies and financial institutions including consulting services to Swiss Re New Markets

General Re and AIG in connection with the $3 billion workers compensation privatization of the

Florida Special Disability Trust Fund Prior to that Ms Bulkin served as Director of Swiss Re New

Markets and Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer of Swiss Re subsidiaries Facility

Insurance Corporation FTC and Facility Insurance Holding Corporation FIHC Her background also

includes nearly 15 years
of industry experience in executive positions with Sedgwick Payne Company

E.W Blanch Company and other insurance industry firms Ms Bufkin graduated cum laude from the

State University of New York at Buffalo with B.A in Philosophy She is an alumna of the

Leadership Texas Stanford Executive Education and Wharton Executive Education She was

Director of the Southwestern Insurance Information Service for eight years In 2000 she was

nominated to the Texas Womens Hall of Fame and was selected to the 2004 Class of Leadership

America

Our board of directors has concluded that Ms Bufkin is qualified to serve as one of our board of

directors for reasons including her significant corporate business development experience as an

insurance industry executive Ms Bufkins background compliments that of our other board members

and brings unique perspective to our board She provides valuable knowledge and insight into

business development and management issues

Terry Gage 52 has served as one of our directors since September 2007 Mr Gage has more

than 20 years of senior management experience in corporate
financial management accounting and

administration within the software engineering government contracting and professional services

industries Since June 2008 Mr Gage has been Chief Financial Officer and Vice President Finance of

Wilson Associates LLC an interior architectural design firm From September 2007 to June 2008

Mr Gage served as Chief Administrative Officer of Wilson Associates LLC From 2003 to

September 2007 Mr Gage was business and financial consultant From 1995 to 2003 Mr Gage

served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer as well as Treasurer and Assistant

Secretary of Carreker Corporation formerly publicly traded consulting and software solutions

company for the banking industry Prior to joining Carreker Mr Gage was Vice President Chief

Financial Officer Secretary and Treasurer for FAAC Inc software engineering and consulting

services company from 1986 to 1995 He holds Bachelor of Business Administration degree from

Eastern Michigan University and was Certified Public Accountant from 1982 to 1989
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Our Board of Directors has concluded that Mr Gage is qualified io serve as one of oui directors

and chairman of our audit committee for reasons including his having served as Chief Financial Officer

for both public and private companies including publicly traded consulting and software solutions

company Mr Gage has significant management experience relating to preparing and reviewing

financial statements and coordinating with external auditors

Steven Kaplan 59 has served as one of our directors since February 2006 Mr Kaplan also

served as director of Behringer Harvard REIT from May 2003 until April 2004 He has over

30 years of experience in the commercial real estate industry From 1979 through 1993 Mr Kaplan was

principal of and general counsel for Edgewood Investment Corporation regional real estate firm

that acquired operated and disposed of over 15 apartment communities 12 shopping centers 14 office

buildings and six hotels From 1994 through August 1999 Mr Kaplan served as the President and Chief

Executive Officer of Landauer Associates Inc national valuation and consulting firm In this

capacity Mr Kaplan expanded the services of Landauer to include national capital markets group as

well as an international hospitality division Landauer was sold to Grubb Ellis in August 1999 and

Mr Kaplan served as chief operating officer of this international brokerage and property management
firm Since leaving Grubb Ellis in March 2000 Mr Kaplan has served as an advisor to leading real

estate service providers Mr Kaplan is an attorney and is admitted to practice law in Texas Iowa and

Illinois

Our Board of Directors has concluded that Mr Kaplan is qualified to serve as one of our directors

for reasons including his significant experience relating to real estate investments and his prior

experience serving as director of Behringer Harvard REIT Mr Kaplan is 30-year commercial real

estate industry veteran and has substantial experience as an attorney and general counsel which brings

unique perspective to our board In addition as former director of Behringer Harvard REIT
Mr Kaplan has an understanding of the requirements of serving on public company board
Mr Kaplan continues to provide advisory and consulting services to real estate service providers and
as such remains in tune with industry trends and issues

Executive Officers

In addition to Robert Behringer and Robert Aisner the following individuals serve as our

executive officers

Gerald Reihsen III 50 has served as our Executive Vice PresidentCorporate Development

Legal since our inception in November 2004 He also serves in these capacities with our advisor and in

these and similar capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings including

Behringer Harvard REIT Behringer Harvard REIT II Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II and

Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT Mr Reihsen is also President of Behringer Securities LP

For over 20 years Mr Reihsens business and legal background has centered on sophisticated

financial and transactional matters including commercial real estate transactions real estate

partnerships and public and private securities offerings For the period from 1985 to 2000 Mr Reihsen

practiced as an outside corporate securities attorney After serving from 1986 to 1995 in the corporate

department of Gibson Dunn Crutcher leading international commercial law firm Mr Reihsen

established his own firm Travis Reihsen where he served as corporate/securities partner until

1998 In 1998 Mr Reihsen became the lead partner in the corporate/securities section of the law firm

Novakov Davis where he served until 2000 In 2000 he practiced law as principal of Block

Balestri corporate and securities law firm In 2000 and 2001 Mr Reihsen was employed as the Vice

PresidentCorporate Development and Legal of Xybridge Technologies Inc telecommunications

software company that Mr Reihsen helped guide through venture funding strategic alliances with

international telecommunications leaders and its ultimate sale to Zhone Technologies Inc Mr Reihsen

holds FINRA Series 24 27 and 63 registrations Mr Reihsen received Bachelor of Arts degree
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magna cum laude from the University of Mississippi and Juris Doctorate degree cum laude from

the University of Wisconsin

Gary Bresky 43 has served as our Chief Financial Officer since our inception in November

2004 and has served as our Executive Vice President since June 2007 Mr Bresky also has served as

our Treasurer since June 2008 and previously served as our Treasurer from March 2005 until July 2005

Mr Bresky also is the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of our advisor and serves

in these and similar executive capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings

including Behringer Harvard REIT Behringer Harvard REIT II Behringer Harvard Opportunity

REIT II and Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT

Mr Bresky has been active in commercial real estate and related financial activities for over

20 years Prior to joining Behringer Harvard in 2002 Mr Bresky served from 1997 to 2001 as Senior

Vice President of Finance with Harvard Property Trust Inc In this capacity Mr Bresky was

responsible for directing all accounting and financial reporting functions and overseeing all treasury

management and banking functions for the company Mr Bresky also was integral in analyzing deal

and capital structures as well as participating in all major decisions related to any acquisition or sale of

assets From 1995 until 1996 Mr Bresky worked in the Real Estate Group at Coopers Lybrand LLP

in Dallas Texas where he focused on finance and accounting for both public and private real estate

investment trusts His experience included conducting annual audits preparing quarterly and annual

public securities reporting compliance filings and public real estate securities registration statements for

his clients From 1989 to 1994 Mr Bresky worked with Ten West Associates LTD and Westwood

Financial Corporation in Los Angeles California as real estate analyst and asset manager for two

commercial real estate portfolios totaling in excess of $185 million From 1988 until 1989 Mr Bresky

worked as an analysts assistant for both Shearson-Lehman Bros Inc and Hambrecht and Quist Inc

assisting brokers in portfolio management Mr Bresky holds FINRA Series 24 27 and 63

registrations Mr Bresky received Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California

Berkeley and Masters of Business Administration degree from the University of Texas at Austin

Jason Mattox 34 has served as our Executive Vice President since March 2006 Mr Mattox

also serves as an Executive Vice President of our advisor and serves in these and similar executive

capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings including Behringer Harvard

REIT Behringer Harvard REIT II Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II and Behringer Harvard

Multifamily REIT

From 1997 until joining Behringer Harvard in 2002 Mr Mattox served as Vice President of

Harvard Property Trust Inc and became member of its Investment Committee in 1998 From 199
until 2001 Mr Mattox served as Vice President of Sun Resorts International Inc recreational

property investment company coordinating marina acquisitions throughout the southern United States

and the U.S Virgin Islands From 1999 until 2001 in addition to providing services related to investing

acquisition disposition and operational activities Mr Mattox served as an asset manager with

responsibility for over one million square feet of Harvard Property Trust Inc.s commercial office assets

in Texas and Minnesota overseeing property performance management offices personnel and

outsourcing relationships

Mr Mattox is continuing member of the Building Owners and Managers Association and the

National Association of Industrial and Office Properties Mr Mattox holds FINRA Series 24 and

63 registrations Mr Mattox received Bachelor of Business Administration degree with honors and

Bachelor of Science degree cum laude from Southern Methodist University

Samuel Gillespie 51 has served as our Chief Operating Officer since June 2008 In addition

Mr Gillespie has served as Senior Vice PresidentFunds Management of Harvard Property

Trust LLC the managing member of our advisor since March 2006 Mr Gillespie also serves as Chief

Operating Officer for Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II and for the general partner of
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Behringcr Harvard Shortferm Opportunity Fund and Bchringcr Harvard Mid-ibrm Value

Enhancement Fund In addition Mr Gillespie serves as the Chief Operating Officer of Behringer

Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund and Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund II

Mr Gillespie has over 25 years of experience in the commercial real estate industry guiding

diverse and sophisticated portfolios Prior to joining Behringer Harvard in November 2004
Mr Gillespie was with the Trammell Crow Company for 21 years At Trammell Crow he held the

position of Managing Director of National Accounts and was responsible for Trammell Crow

Companys largest institutional customers Prior to that Mr Gillespie was partner in charge of

Trammel Crows Indianapolis office from 1986 to 1997 He began his career with Trammel Crow as

leasing agent in Oklahoma City in 1983 Mr Gillespie holds Bachelor of Science degree summa cum

laude in accounting from Texas AM University and holds the CCIM designation

Key Personnel

The following individuals are non-executive personnel who are important to our success

James Fant 50 is Senior Vice PresidentReal Estate of our advisor Behringer Harvard

Opportunity Advisors LLC Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors Mr Fant also serves in this

capacity for Harvard Property Trust the managing member of our advisor and with other entities

sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Fant joined Behringer Harvard in April 2005 and was

recently appointed Chief Investment Officer of Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II LP

Mr Fant has been in the commercial real estate business since 1983 primarily in investment advisory

services project development and investment sales From October 2002 until March 2005 Mr Fant

was the founder of an advisory business providing financial and real estate services to small businesses

From March 2000 until September 2002 Mr Fant served as Vice President of Acquisitions for the

pension advisory firm Kennedy Associates sourcing opportunity acquisitions and ground up

development transactions with local development partners in the mid continent region of the country

From October 1998 until February 2000 he served as Vice President for Metro-American Developers

and Investors sourcing development and investment opportunities Mr Fant served in multiple

capacities for MEPC American Properties from December 1983 until September 1998 As Senior Vice

President his responsibilities included acquisitions and dispositions project development and asset

management in markets throughout the country Mr Fant has experience in variety of product types

including office industrial and retail Mr Fant received Bachelor of Business Administration degree

from the University of Texas at Arlington is Certified Public Accountant licensed in the State of

Texas and is Licensed Real Estate Salesman

Albert Palamara 54 currently serves as Senior Vice President and Portfolio Manager of

Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors LLC and Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II LP

Prior to joining the company in 2007 Mr Palamara was Senior Vice President of Lexington Realty

Trust one of the largest publicly traded REITS in the United States that specializes in single tenant

net leased properties In this role he oversaw asset management for approximately $1 billion of office

and industrial assets In addition Mr Palamara helped the company open its Dallas office in May 2005

From 2004 until 2005 Mr Palamara was the Chief Operating Officer for Holt Lunsford Commercial

one of Dallas largest management and leasing companies For seven years prior to that Mr Palamara

was Senior Asset Manager at INVESCO Real Estate pension fund advisor He began his real estate

career with LaSalle Partners now Jones Lang LaSalle in 1987 and spent 10 years with its management
services group specializing in property management leasing and redeveloping office properties

Mr Palamara holds Master of Business degree and Bachelor of Arts degree from Baylor University
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Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended requires each director officer

and individual beneficially owning more than 10% of registered security of the Company to file with

the SEC within specified time frames initial statements of beneficial ownership Form and

statements of changes in beneficial ownership Forms and of common stock of the Company
These specified time frames require the reporting of changes in ownership within two business days of

the transaction giving rise to the reporting obligation Reporting persons are required to furnish us with

copies of all Section 16a forms filed with the SEC Based solely on review of the copies of such

forms furnished to the Company during and with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 or

written representations that no additional forms were required to the best of our knowledge all

required Section 16a filings were timely and correctly made by reporting persons during 2009

Code of Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted Code of Business Conduct Policy that is applicable to all

members of our board of directors our executive officers and employees of our advisor and its

affiliates We have posted the policy on the website maintained for us at wwwbehringerhariard.com If

in the future we amend modify or waive provision in the Code of Business Conduct Policy we may
rather than filing Current Report on Form 8-K satisfy the disclosure requirement by promptly

posting such information on the website maintained for us as necessary

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Audit Committee consists of independent directors Terry Gage the chairman Barbara

Bufkin and Steven Kaplan Our board of directors has determined that Mr Gage is an audit

committee financial expert as defined by the rules of the SEC The biography of Mr Gage including

his relevant qualifications is previously described in this Item 10 Our shares are not listed for trading

on any national securities exchange and therefore our audit committee members are not subject to the

independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange NYSE or any other national

securities exchange However each member of our audit committee is independent as defined by the

NYSE

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

We do not directly compensate our named executive officers including Mr Aisner our Chief

Executive Officer for services rendered to us Our executive officers also are officers of Behringer

Harvard Opportunity Advisors our advisor and its affiliates and are compensated by an affiliate of

Behringer Harvard Holdings for their services to us as well as for their services to other Behringer

Harvard entities description of the fees that we pay to our advisor and other affiliates is found in

the Certain Transactions section below

If we determine to compensate our named executive officers in the future the Compensation

Committee will review all forms of compensation and approve all stock option grants warrants stock

appreciation rights and other current or deferred compensation payable with
respect to the current or

future value of our shares

Directors Compensation

We pay each of our directors who is not an employee of the Company Behringer Harvard

Opportunity Advisors or their affiliates an annual retainer of $30000 In addition we pay the

chairperson of the Audit Committee an annual retainer of $10000 and the chairpersons of our
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Nominating and Compensation Corrirnittees annual retainers of $5000 each These retainers are

payable quarterly in arrears In addition we pay each non-employee director $1500 for each board

of directors or committee meeting attended in person $750 for each board of directors or

committee meeting attended by telephone and $750 for each written consent considered by the

director

Under our 2004 Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan the Incentive Award Plan each

non-employee director is automatically granted an option to purchase 5000 shares of common stock on

the date he or she first becomes director and upon each persons reelection as director The board

of directors determines the fair market value of our shares under the Incentive Award Plan Options

granted prior to 2008 have an exercise price of $9.10 per share options granted in 2008 have an

exercise price of $9.50 per share and options granted in 2009 have an exercise price of $8.17 Options

granted to non-employee directors prior to 2008 pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan became

exercisable as to 25% of the original option grant during 2010 The remaining 75% will become

exercisable as to 25% of the original option grant during 2011 and as to 50% of the original option

grant during 2012 Options granted to non-employee directors in 2008 pursuant to the Incentive Award

Plan became fully exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant Options granted to

non-employee directors in 2009 pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan become fully exercisable on the

first anniversary of the date of grant

All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection

with attendance at meetings of our board of directors If director is also an employee of us or an

employee of Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates we do not pay compensation for

services rendered as director

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our director compensation during

the fiscal year ended December 31 2009

Fees Earned or

Name Paid in Cash Option Awards Total

Robert Behringer

Robert Aisner

Barbara Bufkin $58250.O02 $11752.00 $70002.00

Terry Gage $64250.00 $11753.00 $76003.00

Steven Kaplan $59750.002 $11753.00 $71503.00

The value of stock option awards represents the amount of compensation cost under

Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 718

Includes payment of $13250 in 2009 for services rendered in 2008

Includes payment of $14000 in 2009 for services rendered in 2008

Incentive Award Plan

The Incentive Award Plan was approved by our board of directors on July 19 2005 and by our

stockholders on July 25 2005 The Incentive Award Plan is administered by our board of directors and

provides for equity awards to our employees directors and consultants and those of our affiliates

total of 11000000 shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance under our Incentive Award

Plan An option to acquire 1250 shares was awarded to Mr Kaplan on February 17 2006 when he was

elected to our board of directors In addition on that date an option to acquire 5000 shares of our

common stock was awarded to each of Ms Bufkin and Robert Chapman members of our board of
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directors Options to acquire an additional 5000 shares of our common stock were awarded to each of

Ms Bulkin Robert Chapman and Mr Kaplan on both June 29 2006 and June 21 2007 in

connection with their reelection to our board of directors however upon his resignation from the

board of directors in August 2007 Mr Chapman forfeited the option to purchase 5000 shares of our

common stock that was awarded to him on June 21 2007 An option to acquire 3333 shares of our

common stock was awarded to Mr Gage on September 24 2007 when he was elected to our board of

directors Options to acquire an additional 5000 shares of our common stock were awarded to each of

Ms Bulkin Mr Gage and Mr Kaplan on July 24 2008 and June 22 2009 in connection with their

reelection to our board of directors As of December 31 2009 these are the only options to acquire

shares of our common stock that have been awarded pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of our Compensation Committee served as an officer or employee of the Company or

any of our subsidiaries during the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 or formerly served as an officer

of the Company or any of our subsidiaries In addition during the fiscal year ended December 31

2009 none of our executive officers served as director or member of compensation committee or
other board committee performing equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee the

entire board of directors of any entity that has one or more executive officers or directors serving as

member of our board of directors or Compensation Committee

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table gives information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31
2009

Number of securities to be Weighted-average Number of securities remaining
issued upon exercise of exercise price of available for future issuance

outstanding options outstanding options under equity compensation
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 69583 $8.99 10930417

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders

Total 69583 $8.99 10930417

Represents options that were granted pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan as of December 31
2009

All shares authorized for issuance pursuant to awards not yet granted under the Incentive Award

Plan
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Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth information as of December 31 2009 regarding the beneficial

ownership of our common stock by each person known by us to own 5% or more of the outstanding

shares of common stock each of our directors each of our executive officers and our directors and

executive officers as group

Amount and

Nature of Percentage

Beneficial of

Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Class

Robert Behringer2 21739

Robert Aisner3

Samuel Gillespie

Gerald Reihsen III 2747

Gary Bresky5 2747

Jason Mattox6 385

Barbara Bufkin 8750

Steven Kaplan 8750

Terry Gage 5833.25

All directors and executive officers as group ten

persons7 50951.25

Represents less than 1%

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally

includes voting or investment power with respect to securities and shares issuable

pursuant to options warrants and similar rights held by the respective person or group

that may be exercised within 60 days following March 2010 Except as otherwise

indicated by footnote and subject to community property laws where applicable the

persons named in the table above have sole voting and investment power with respect to

all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them

Includes 21739 shares of common stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings It does

not include 1000 shares of convertible stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings As

of March 2010 Mr Behringer controlled the disposition of approximately 40% of the

outstanding limited liability company interests and the voting of 85% of the outstanding

limited liability company interests of Behringer Harvard Holdings

Does not include 21739 shares of common stock and 1000 shares of convertible stock

owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Aisner controls the disposition of 4% of the

limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Behringer has the

right to vote Mr Aisners interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings

Does not include 21739 shares of common stock and 1000 shares of convertible stock

owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Reihsen controls the disposition of 4.5% of

the limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Behringer has

the right to vote Mr Reihsens interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings

Does not include 21739 shares of common stock and 1000 shares of convertible stock

owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Bresky controls the disposition of 3% of the

limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Behringer has the

right to vote Mr Breskys interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings
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Does not include 21739 shares of common stock and 1000 shares of convertible stock

owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Mattox controls the disposition
of 1.5% of

the limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings Mr Behringer has

the right to vote Mr Mattoxs interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings

Does not include 1000 shares of convertible stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings

The actual number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the

convertible stock is indeterminable at this time

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Policies and Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons

We do not currently have written formal policies and procedures for the review approval or

ratification of transactions with related persons as defined by Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Under that definition transactions with related persons

are transactions in which we were or are participant and the amount involved exceeds $120000 and

in which any related person
had or will have direct or indirect material interest Related parties

include any executive officers directors director nominees beneficial owners of more than 5% of our

voting securities immediate family members of any of the foregoing persons and any firm corporation

or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed and in which such person has 10% or

greater beneficial ownership interest

However in order to reduce or eliminate certain potential conflicts of interest our charter

contains number of restrictions relating to transactions we enter into with our advisor and its

affiliates certain future offerings and allocation of investment opportunities among affiliated

entities As general rule any related party transactions must be approved by majority of the

directors including majority of independent directors not otherwise interested in the transaction In

determining whether to approve or authorize particular related party transaction these persons will

consider whether the transaction between us and the related party
is fair and reasonable to us and has

terms and conditions no less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties

Transactions with Related Persons

Behringer Opportunity Advisors and certain of its affiliates receive fees and compensation in

connection with our offering of common stock to the public and in connection with the acquisition

management and sale of our assets We terminated our primary offering component of our initial

public offering on December 28 2007 and currently are offering shares of our common stock only to

our existing stockholders through the Secondary DRP

Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates receives acquisition and advisory fees of 2.5% of

the contract purchase price of each asset for the acquisition development or construction of real

property or 2.5% of the funds advanced in respect of loan Our advisor or its affiliates also receives

reimbursement of acquisition expenses up to 0.5% of the contract purchase price of each asset or with

respect to loan up to 0.5% of the funds advanced Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its

predecessor-in-interest did not earn acquisition and advisory fees or acquisition expense

reimbursements in the year ended December 31 2009 For the year
ended December 31 2008 we

incurred $4.5 million in acquisition
and advisory fees and $0.9 million in acquisition expense

reimbursements For the year ended December 31 2007 we incurred $12.8 million in acquisition and

advisory fees and $2.6 million in acquisition expense reimbursements

We pay Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates debt financing fee equal to 1% of the

amount of any debt made available to us We incurred $0.4 million $2.4 million and $0.8 million in

debt financing fees for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

99



HP \/Luegmcnt Services LP Behi mgci 1-arvaid Real Estate Seiviecs Ll.X
Behrmgcr IIarard Opportunity Management Services LLC collectively BH Property Managemenf
affiliates of our advisor and our property managers fees for management leasing and construction

supervision of our properties which may be subcontracted to unaffiliated third parties Such fees arc

equal to 45 of gross revenues plus leasing commissions based upon the customary leasing

commission applicable to the same geographic location of the respective property In the event that we
contract directly with non-affiliated third-party property manager in respect of property we will pay
BH Property Management an oversight fee equal to 0.5% of gross revenues of the property managed
In no event will we pay both property management fee and an oversight fee to BH Property

Management with respect to any particular property We incurred and expensed property management
fees or oversight fees totaling $2 million $1.7 million and $0.7 million in the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively For the year ended December 31 2009 we incurred

less than $0.1 million of construction management fees payable to BH Property Management We did

not incur any construction management fees to BH Property Management for the years ended

December 31 2008 or 2007

We pay Behringer Opportunity Advisors an annual asset management fee of 0.75% of the

aggregate asset value of acquired real estate The fee is payable monthly in an amount equal to

one-twelfth of 0.75% of the aggregate asset value as of the last day of the preceding month For the

year ended December 31 2009 we expensed $6.6 million of asset management fees and capitalized less

than $0.1 million of asset management fees to real estate For the year ended December 31 2008 we
expensed $4.7 million of asset management fees and capitalized $0.2 million of asset management fees

to real estate For the year ended December 31 2007 we expensed $2.3 million of asset management
fees and capitalized $0.3 million of asset management fees to real estate

We will reimburse Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates for all expenses paid or

incurred by them in connection with the services they provide to us including direct expenses and the

costs of salaries and benefits of persons employed by those entities and performing services for us
subject to the limitation that we will not reimburse for any amount by which our advisors operating

expenses including the asset management fee at the end of the four fiscal quarters immediately

preceding the date reimbursement is sought exceeds the greater of 2% of our average invested

assets or 25% of our net income for that four quarter period other than any additions to reserves

for depreciation bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and any gain from the sale of our assets

for that period Notwithstanding the preceding sentence we may reimburse the advisor for expenses in

excess of this limitation if majority of our independent directors determines that such excess expenses
are justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors For the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 we incurred and expensed costs for administrative services totaling $1.9 million and $1 million

respectively No such costs were incurred and expensed for the year ended December 31 2007

At December 31 2009 we had payable to our advisor and its affiliates of $1.8 million This

balance consists primarily of asset management fees and expenses and administrative service expenses

payable to Behringer Opportunity Advisors management fees payable to BH Property Management
and other miscellaneous payables This payable is offset by receivable from our advisor and its

affiliates of $0.1 million which is included in receivables from related parties at December 31 2009

We are dependent on Behringer Opportunity Advisors and BH Property Management for certain

services that are essential to us including asset acquisition and disposition decisions asset management
property management and leasing services and other general administrative responsibilities In the

event that these companies were unable to provide us with the respective services we would be

required to obtain such services from other sources
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Independence

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange and therefore

our board of directors is not subject to the independence requirements of the NYSE or any other

national securities exchange our board has evaluated whether our directors are independent as

defined by the NYSE The NYSE standards provide that to qualify as an independent director in

addition to satisfying certain bright-line criteria the board of directors must affirmatively determine

that director has no material relationship with us either directly or as partner stockholder or

officer of an organization that has rehitionship with us

Consistent with these considerations after review of all relevant transactions or relationships

between each director or any of his family members and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT our

senior management and our independent registered public accounting firm the board has determined

that the majority of the members of our board and each member of our audit committee

compensation committee and nominating committee is independent as defined by the NYSE

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte Touche LLP has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since

September 2005 Our management believes that it is knowledgeable about our operations and

accounting practices and well qualified to act as our independent registered public accounting firm

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The following table presents fees for professional services rendered by our independent registered

public accounting firm Deloitte Touche LLF the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and

their respective affiliates collectively Deloitte Touche for the years ended December 31 2009

and 2008

2009 2008

Audit Fees $686000 $629390

Audit-Related Fees2 59051

Tax Fees3 100418 96621

All Other Fees

Total Fees $786418 $785062

Audit fees consisted of professional services performed in connection with the audit of

our annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in our

quarterly reports on Form 10-0

Audit-related fees consisted of professional services performed in connection with the

audit of historical financial statements for property acquisitions and Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Section 404 advisory services

Tax fees consist principally of assistance with matters related to tax compliance tax

planning and tax advice

The Audit Committee considers the provision of these services to be compatible with maintaining

the independence of Deloitte Touche LLP
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Audit Committees Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee must approve any fee for services to be performed by our independent

registered public accounting firm in advance of the service being performed For proposed projects

using the services of our independent registered public accounting firm that are expected to cost under

$100000 the Audit Committee will be provided information to review and must approve each project

prior to commencement of any work For proposed projects using the services of our independent

registered public accounting firm that are expected to cost up to $100000 the Audit Committee will be

provided with detailed explanation of what is being included and asked to approve maximum

amount for specifically identified services in each of the following categories audit fees audit-

related fees tax fees and all other fees for any services allowed to be performed by the

independent registered public accounting firm If additional amounts are needed the Audit Committee

must approve the increased amounts prior to the previously approved maximum being reached and

before the work may continue Approval by the Audit Committee may be made at its regularly

scheduled meetings or as permitted by our Bylaws including by telephonic or other electronic

communications We will report the status of the various types of approved services and fees and

cumulative amounts paid and owed to the Audit Committee on regular basis

The Audit Committee approved all of the services provided by and fees paid to Deloitte

Touche during the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008
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PART lv

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

List of Documents Filed

Financial Statements

The list of the financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set

forth on page F-i herein

Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Schedule TIValuation and Qua1ifring Accounts and Reserves

Schedule IllReal Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Schedule TVMortgage Loans on Real Estate

Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is submitted in the

Exhibit Index following the financial statements in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K

Exhibits

The exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index

attached hereto

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules except
for Schedules II III and IV see above have been

omitted because the required information of such schedules is not present is not present in

amounts sufficient to require schedule or is included in the financial statements

103



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Dated March 19 2010 By /s/ ROBERT AIsNER

Robert Aisner

Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

March 19 2010

Is RoBERT BEHRINGER

Robert Behringer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Is RoBERT AISNER

Robert Aisner

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Is GARY BREsKY

Gary Bresky

Chief Financial Officer

Princzal Financial Officer

/s BRY SINcLAIR

Bryan Sinclair

ChiefAccounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

/s BBArA BuFKIN

Barbara Bufkin

Director

/s TERRY GAGE

Terry Gage
Director

/5/ STEVEN KAPLAN

Steven Kaplan

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REJT Inc

Addison Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Behringer Harvard Opportunity

REIT Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income equity and cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

The Company is not required to have nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control

over financial reporting Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting

as basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial

reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc and subsidiaries at December 31

2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements on January 2009 the Company

changed its method of accounting for noncontrolling interests and retrospectively adjusted all periods

presented in the consolidated financial statements

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Dallas Texas

March 19 2010
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

in thousands except share and per share amounts

$130254 $131028

408786 416821

20701 17306

559741 565155

86485 94723

9511 25260

8585 4134

8169 14946

2138 3550

16406 23160

63552 62316

11836 13932

3827 6407

42557 36542

21228 28303

8348 9025

1548 3413

843931 $890866

429787 $416179

1885 6073

1790 1643

12726 17567

23322 26037

469510 467499

Commitments and contingencies

Equity

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc Stockholders Equity

Preferred stock $.0001 par value per share 50000000 shares authorized

none outstanding

Convertible stock $.0001 par value per share 1000 shares authorized

1000 shares issued and outstanding

Common stock $.0001 par value per share 350000000 shares authorized

55825078 and 54836985 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated distributions and net loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
_________ ________

Total Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc Stockholders Equity

Noncontrolling interest
_________ _________

Total equity _______ _______

Total liabilities and equity
_________ ________

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

Assets

Real estate

Land and improvements net

Buildings and improvements net

Real estate under development

Total real estate

Condominium inventory

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable net

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Leasehold interests net

Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures

Furniture fixtures and equipment net

Deferred financing fees net

Notes receivable

Lease intangibles net

Other intangibles net

Receivables from related parties

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Notes payable

Accounts payable

Payables to related parties

Acquired below-market leases net

Accrued and other liabilities

Total liabilities

497648

115496
3412

378746

4325

374421

843931

489139

66085
5194

417865

5502

423367

$890866
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Rental revenue 62877 57624 $30814
Hotel revenue 3776 5959 4414
Condominium sales 21838 9704

______
Total revenues 88491 73287 35228

Expenses

Property operating expenses 25324 24566 12008
Bad debt expense 10230 317 117

Cost of condominium sales 21738 9708
Interest expense 16500 17438 4805
Real estate taxes 8152 7277 3549

Impairment charge 15522 19413

Property management fees 2429 2297 910

Asset management fees 6690 4798 2322
General and administrative 5704 4934 1562
Advertising costs 761 2199 1171

Depreciation and amortization 29975 25661 13069

Total
expenses 143025 118608 39513

Interest income 414 3538 3779
Other income net 8446 100

Loss on debt extinguishment
_______ 2455

Loss before income taxes and equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures 45674 41683 2961
Provision for income taxes 145 184 95
Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures 2141 2862 1201

Net loss 47960 44729 4257
Add Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 10923 10028 401

Net loss attributable to Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc 37037 34701 3856

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 55352 54529 36338
Loss per share attributable to Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Basic and diluted 0.67 0.64 0.11

Comprehensive income

Net loss 47960 44729 4257
Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation gain loss 1315 3011 236
Unrealized gain loss on interest rate derivatives 1336 2690 363
Reclassifications due to hedging activities 240 176

_______
Total other comprehensive income 261 5525 599

Comprehensive loss 47699 50254 4856
Comprehensive loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 12445 10843 517

Comprehensive income loss attributable to Behringer Harvard Opportunity
REIT Inc 35254 61097 5373

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Consolidated Statements of Equity

in thousands except share amounts

Convertible Stock Common Stock
Accumulated Accumulated

_________________ _________________ Additional Distributions Other

Number of Par Number of Par Paid-In and Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Total

Shares Value Shares Value Capital Net Loss Income Loss Interest Equity

Balance at January 2007 1000 18202576 $159906 461 2648 $162095

Issuance of common stock net 35081049 314226 314229

Redemption of common stock 148951 1366 1366
Distributions declared on common

stock 10665 10665

Contributions from non-controlling

interest 14022 14022

Distributions to non-controlling

interest 819 819
Shares issued pursuant to Distribution

Reinvestment Plan net 921680 8755 8755

Comprehensive loss

Net loss 3856 401 4257
Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation loss 121 115 236
Unrealized losses on interest rate

derivatives 363 363

Total comprehensive loss 517 4856

Balance at December 31 2007 1000 54056354 $5 $481521 14982 $484 $15335 $481395

Redemption of common stock 521671 4753 4753
Distributions declared on common

stock 16402 16402

Contributions from non-controlling

interest 2291 2291

Distributions to non-controlling

interest .- 1281 1281
Shares issued pursuant to Distribution

Reinvestment Plan net 1302302 12371 ._ 12371

Comprehensive loss

Net loss 34701 10028 44729
Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation gain
_- 2196 815 3011

Unrealized losses on interest rate

derivatives 2690 2690
Reclassifications due to hedging

activities 176 176

Total comprehensive loss 10843 50254

Balance at December 31 2008 1000 54836985 $5 $489139 66085 $5194 5502 $423367

Redemption of common stock 153755 1387 1387
Distributions declared on common

stock 12374 12374
Contributions fresm non-controlling

interest 2871 2871

Distributions to non-controlling

interest 254 254
Shares issued pursuant to Distribution

Reinvestment Plan net 1141848 9896 9897

Comprehensive loss

Net loss 37037 10923 47960
Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation loss 324 1639 1315
Unrealized gain on interest rate

derivatives 1218 118 1336

Reclassifications due to hedging

activities 240 240

Total comprehensive loss
_________ ________ ________

12445 47699

Balance at December 31 2009 1000 55825078 $6 $497648 $115496 $3412 4325 $374421

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

in thousands

25677

3093

15522

10230

2141

909

3369
3327

1448

771
2479

2012

1499

11421

21036

3321

19413

317

2862

2541

7798
20943
7392
1452
7708

2131
2035

29282

10366

1.265

2455

117

1201

6419
20976

239

726

3602

332

1218

12567

1072
257303

23481
16957
30500
13272
2966

22006

587

368144

3608
1622
52115

79031

23311

55030
154

349857

1366
35239
2620

2651

818
570
570

1914

404594

24

23859

54639

78498

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows froni operating activities

Net loss 847960 44729 4257
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of deferred
financing

fees

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Impairment charge

Bad debt expense

Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures

Gain on derivatives

Unrealized loss on derivatives

Change in accounts receivable

Change in condominium
inventoly

Change in prepaid expenses and other assets

Change in accounts payable

Change in accrued and other liabilities

Change in payables to related
parties

Addition of lease intangibles

Cash provided by used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Escrow
deposits

and
pre-acquisition costs on real estate to be acquired

Purchases of real estate properties 47473
Purchase of derivative instruments 1272
Proceeds from termination of derivative instruments 5069

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 3377 29466
Capital expenditures for real estate under development 10311 33236
Capital expenditures for real estate under development of consolidated borrowers 583 27500
Additions of property and equipment 8489 6642
Change in restricted cash 4451 597

Investment in notes receivable 6015 26983
Distributions from unconsolidated joint venture 696

Fees paid to related party for mezzanine loan arrangements 1081

Cash used in investing activities 33226 167291
_________

Cash flows from financing activities

Financing costs 764 5416
Premium paid on extinguishments of debt

Proceeds from bridge note

Proceeds fromnotes payable 25966 128549

Proceeds from mortgages of consolidated borrowers 1700 27324

Net borrowings on senior secured revolving credit facility 14600 48000

Payments on notes payable 30325 46645
Purchase of interest rate derivatives

Issuance of common stock

Redemptions of common stock 1387 4753
Offering costs

Distributions 3874 4006
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders 2871 2291

Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders 254 1276
Change in subscriptions for common stock

Change in subscription cash received

Change in payables to related parties 328
_________

Cash provided by financing activities 8533 143740
________

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2477 405
________

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 15749 53238
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 25260 78498

________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 9511 25260

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity RELT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Business and Organization

Organization

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc which may be referred to as the Company we
us or our was incorporated in November 2004 as Maryland corporation and has elected to be

taxed and currently qualifies as real estate investment trust REIT for federal income tax

purposes

We Operate commercial real estate or real estate-related assets located in and outside the United

States on an opportunistic basis In particular we have focused on acquiring properties with significant

possibilities for short term capital appreciation such as those requiring development redevelopment or

repositioning or those located in markets and submarkets with higher volatility lower barriers to entry

and high growth potential We have acquired wide variety of properties including office industrial

retail hospitality recreation and leisure multifamily and other properties We have purchased existing

and newly constructed properties and properties under development or construction including

multifamily properties We have also originated two mezzanine loans We completed our first property

acquisition in March 2006 and as of December 31 2009 we wholly owned 11 properties and

consolidated five properties through investments in joint ventures In addition we are the mezzanine

lender for two multifamily properties that we consolidate as variable interest entities and for which we

have been deemed the primary beneficiaries We also have noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership

interests in three properties and one investment in joint venture consisting of 22 properties that are

accounted for using the equity method

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP LP
Texas limited partnership organized in November 2004 Behringer Harvard OP or subsidiaries

thereof Our wholly-owned subsidiary BHO Inc Delaware corporation owns less than 0.1%

interest in Behringer Harvard OP as its sole general partner The remaining interest of Behringer

Harvard OP is held as limited partnership interest by BHO Business Trust Maryland business

trust which is our wholly-owned subsidiary

We are externally managed and advised by Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors LLC

Behringer Opportunity Advisors Texas limited liability company formed in June 2007 Behringer

Opportunity Advisors is responsible for managing our day-to-day affairs and for identifying and

making acquisitions and investments on our behalf

Our office is located at 15601 Dallas Parkway Suite 600 Addison Texas 75001 and our toll-free

telephone number is 866 655-3600 The name Behringer Harvard is the property of Behringer

Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard Holdings and is used by permission

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period These estimates include such items as purchase price allocation for real

estate acquisitions impairment of long-lived assets depreciation and amortization and allowance for

doubtful accounts Actual results could differ from those estimates
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of other subsidiaries

over which we have control All inter-company transactions balances and profits have been eliminated

in consolidation Interests in entities acquired will be evaluated based on applicable GAAP which

includes the requirement to consolidate entities deemed to be VIEs in which we are the primary

beneficiary If the interest in the entity is determined not to be VIE then the entities will be

evaluated for consolidation based on legal form economic substance and the extent to which we have

control and/or substantive participating rights under the respective ownership agreement In the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements all dollar and share amounts in tabulation are in thousands of

dollars and shares respectively unless otherwise noted

There are judgments and estimates involved in determining if an entity in which we have made an

investment is VIE and if so whether we are the primary beneficiary The entity is evaluated to

determine if it is VIE by among other things calculating the percentage of equity being risked

compared to the total equity of the entity Determining expected future losses involves assumptions of

various possibilities of the results of future operations of the entity assigning probability to each

possibility and using discount rate to determine the net present value of those future losses

change in the judgments assumptions and estimates outlined above could result in consolidating an

entity that should not be consolidated or accounting for an investment using the equity method that

should in fact be consolidated the effects of which could be material to our financial statements

To conform to the current-year presentation which presents bad debt expense separately on our

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income we reclassified to bad debt expense
$0.3 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively These

amounts were previously reported within property operating expenses on our consolidated statements

of operations

We have evaluated subsequent events for recognition or disclosure in our consolidated financial

statements

Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties we recognize the assets acquired the liabilities

assumed and any noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition date measured at their fair values The

acquisition date is the date on which we obtain control of the real estate property These assets

acquired and liabilities assumed may consist of buildings any assumed debt identified intangible assets

and asset retirement obligations Identified intangible assets generally consist of the above-market and

below-market leases in-place leases in-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships Goodwill is

recognized as of the acquisition date and measured as the aggregate fair value of the consideration

transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired Likewise bargain purchase gain is recognized in current earnings when the aggregate fair

value of the consideration transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree is less than the

fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period

incurred

Initial valuations are subject to change until our information is finalized which is no later than

twelve months from the acquisition date
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

We deternhiine the fair value of assumed debt by calculating the net present value of the scheduled

mortgage paynients using interest rates for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities that

management believes we could obtain Any difference between the fair value and stated value of the

assumed debt is recorded as discount or premium and amortized over the remaining life of the loan

The fair value of any tangible assets acquired consisting of land land improvements buildings

building improvements tenant improvements and furniture fixtures and equipment is determined by

valuing the property as if it were vacant and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to the tangible

assets Land values are derived from appraisals and building values are calculated as replacement cost

less depreciation or managements estimates of the relative fair value of these assets using discounted

cash flow analyses or similar methods Furniture fixtures and equipment values are determined based

on current reproduction or replacement cost less depreciation and other estimated allowances based on

physical functional or economic factors The values of the buildings are depreciated over their

respective
estimated useful lives ranging from 25 years for commercial office property to 39 years

for

hotel/mixed-use property using the straight-line method Building improvements are depreciated over

their estimated useful lives ranging from to 25 years Tenant improvements are depreciated over the

term of the respective leases Land improvements are depreciated over the estimated useful life of

15 years and furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated over estimated useful lives ranging

from five to seven years using the straight-line method Our leasehold interest is depreciated over its

remaining contractual life or approximately 100 years

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties

based on the present value using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases

acquired of the difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place

leases and managements estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place

leases measured over period equal to the remaining non-cancelable lease term for above-market

leases or the remaining non-cancelable lease term plus any fixed rate renewal options for below-

market leases We record the fair value of above-market and below-market leases as intangible assets

or intangible liabilities respectively and amortize them as an adjustment to rental income over the

determined lease term

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets for acquired properties is further allocated

to in-place lease values and tenant relationships based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics

of each tenants lease and our overall relationship with that respective tenant The aggregate value of

in-place leases acquired and tenant relationships is determined by applying fair value model The

estimates of fair value of in-place leases include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected

lease-up periods for the respective spaces considering current market conditions In estimating fair

value of in-place leases we consider items such as real estate taxes insurance and other operating

expenses as well as lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up period and carrying costs that

would have otherwise been incurred had the leases not been in place including tenant improvements

and commissions The estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also include costs to execute

similar leases including leasing commissions legal costs and tenant improvements as well as an

estimate of the likelihood of renewal as determined by management on tenant-by-tenant basis
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Beheinger Harvard pportunity REIT inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

We amortize the value of in-place leases acquired in the future to expense over the term of the

respective leases The value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial

term and any anticipated renewal periods but in no event does the amortization period for intangible

assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building Should tenant terminate its lease the

unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles would be charged to

expense As of December 31 2009 the estimated remaining useful lives for acquired lease intangibles

range from less than one year to approximately 11 years

Other intangible assets include the value of identified hotel trade names and in-place property tax

abatements These fair values are based on managements estimates of the relative fair value of these

assets using discounted cash flow analyses or similar methods The value of the trade names is

amortized over its respective estimated useful life of 20 years using the straight-line method and the

value of the in-place property tax abatement is amortized over its estimated term of ten years using the

straight-line method

Anticipated amortization expense associated with the acquired lease intangibles and acquired other

intangible assets as of December 31 2009 is as follows

Lease Other

Intangibles

2010 $1543
2011 1286
2012 1041

2013 890

2014 958

Accumulated depreciation and amortization related to our consolidated investments in real estate

assets and intangibles were as follows

Acquired

Buildings and Land and Lease Below-Market Leasehold Other
As of December 31 2009 Improvements improvements Intangibles Leases Interest Intangibles

Cost $448121 $130786 34151 $21392 $16981 $10439
Less depreciation and amortization 39335 532 12923 8666 575 2091

Net $408786 $130254 21228 $12726 $16406 8348

Acquired

Buildings and Land and Lease Below-Market Leasehold Other
As of December 31 2008 Improvements Improvements Intangibles Leases Interest Intangibles

Cost $438228 $131299 39399 $25917 $23477 $10439
Less depreciation and amortization 21407 271 11096 8350 317 1414

Net $416821 $131028 28303 $17567 $23160 9025

Condominium Inventoty

Condominium inventory is stated at the lower of cost or fair market value In addition to land

acquisition costs land development costs and construction costs costs include interest and real estate
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

taxes which are capitalized during the period beginning with the commencement of development and

ending with the completion of construction At December 31 2009 condominium inventory consisted

of $31.5 million of finished units and $55 million of work in progress As of December 31 2008

condominium inventory consisted of $9.3 million of finished units and $85.4 million of work in

progress

For condominium inventory at each reporting date management compares the estimated fair

value less costs to sell to the carrying value An adjustment is recorded to the extent that the fair value

less costs to sell is less than the carrying value We determine the estimated fair value of condominiums

based on comparable sales in the normal course of business under existing and anticipated market

conditions This evaluation takes into consideration estimated future selling prices costs incurred to

date estimated additional future costs and managements plans for the property During the fourth

quarter of 2009 as result of continued adverse economic conditions we recorded $4.7 million

valuation adjustment related to our hotel and development property in Edwards Colorado There were

no inventory valuation adjustments related to our condominium inventory for the year ended

December 31 2008

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider investments in highly-liquid money market funds or investments with original

maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

As required by our lenders restricted cash is held in escrow accounts for real estate taxes and

other reserves for our consolidated properties

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily consist of straight-line rental revenue receivables of $5.6 million and

$8.6 million as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively and receivables from our

hotel operators and tenants related to our other consolidated properties of $2.9 million and

$6.6 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively
The allowance for doubtful accounts was

$0.3 million and $0.2 million as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively

We recognized bad debt expense of $10.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively In the third quarter of 2009 we recognized $10.1 million

charge for bad debt expense related to the Chase Park Plaza hotel Hotel occupancy rates declined

sharply nationwide in 2009

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets include prepaid directors and officers insurance prepaid

advertising the fair value of certain derivative instruments as well as inventory prepaid insurance and

real estate taxes of our consolidated properties Inventory consists of food beverages linens glassware

china and silverware and is carried at the lower of cost or market value
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Furniture Fixtures and Equipment

Furniture fixtures and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives of five to seven years Maintenance and repairs are charged to

operations as incurred while renewals or improvements to such assets are capitalized Accumulated

depreciation associated with our furniture fixtures and equipment as of December 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 was $6.1 million and $3.5 million respectively

Investment Impairment

For real estate we wholly own we monitor events and changes in circumstances indicating that the

carrying amounts of the real estate assets may not be recoverable When such events or changes in

circumstances are present we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future undiscounted

operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual

disposition to the carrying amount of the asset In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the

estimated future undiscounted operating cash flows we recognize an impairment loss to adjust the

carrying amount of the asset to estimated fair value We consider projected future undiscounted cash

flows trends strategic decisions regarding future development plans and other factors in our

assessment of whether impairment conditions exist While we believe our estimates of future cash flows

are reasonable different assumptions regarding factors such as market rents economic conditions and

occupancy rates could significantly affect these estimates

In addition we evaluate our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and our investments in

the Chase Park Plaza working capital loan and Royal Island bridge loans at each reporting date and if

we believe there is an other than temporary decline in market value or if it is probable we will not

collect all principal and interest in accordance with the terms of the working capital or bridge loans we
will record an impairment charge based on these evaluations While we believe it is currently probable

we will collect all scheduled principal and interest with respect to our working capital and bridge loans

current market conditions with respect to credit availability and with respect to real estate market

fundamentals create significant amount of uncertainty Given this any future adverse development in

market conditions would cause us to re-evaluate our conclusions and could result in material

impairment charges with respect to our working capital or bridge loans

In evaluating our investments for impairment management may use appraisals and make estimates

and assumptions including but not limited to the projected date of disposition of the properties the

estimated future cash flows of the properties during our ownership and the projected sales price of

each of the properties change in these estimates and assumptions could result in understating or

overstating the book value of our investments which could be material to our financial statements The
value of our properties held for development depends on market conditions including estimates of the

project start date as well as estimates of future demand for the property type under development We
have analyzed trends and other information related to each potential development and incorporated

this information as well as our current outlook into the assumptions we use in our impairment analyses

Due to the judgment and assumptions applied in the estimation process with respect to impairments

including the fact that limited market information regarding the value of comparable land exists at this

time it is possible actual results could differ substantially from those estimated

As result of the continued adverse economic conditions including the general weakness in market

rental rates and tenant renewals we evaluated certain of our real estate investments for potential
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

impairment during each quarter of 2009 Based on our analyses we recorded cumulative non-cash

impairment charges of $9.9 million related to our leasehold interest in an office building in London

England during the second and third quarters
of 2009 During the fourth quarter

of 2009 we recorded

non-cash imp1irment charge of $5.6 million related to our hotel and development property
in

Edwards Colorado which includes an inventory valuation adjustment of $4.7 million related to

condominium inventory work in progress

Other thaii the impairment charges discussed above we believe the carrying value of our operating

real estate assets properties under development investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and

working capital and bridge loans is currently recoverable However if market conditions worsen beyond

our current expectations or if our assumptions regarding expected future cash flows from the use and

eventual dispos ition of our assets decrease or our expected hold periods decrease or if changes in our

development stTategy significantly affect any key assumptions used in our fair value calculations we

may need to talke additional charges in future periods for impairments related to existing assets Any

such non-cash charges would have an adverse effect on our consolidated financial position and results

of operations

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees are recorded at cost and are amortized to interest income for notes

receivable and interest expense for notes payable using straight-line method that approximates the

effective interest method over the life of the related debt Accumulated amortization of deferred

financing fees vas $7.4 million and $4.9 million as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008

respectively

Derivative Financial Instruments

Our objective in using derivatives is to add stability to interest expense
and to manage our

exposure to interest rate movements or other identified risks and to minimize the variability caused by

foreign currency translation risk related to our net investment in foreign real estate To accomplish

these objectives we use various types of derivative instruments to manage fluctuations in cash flows

resulting from interest rate risk attributable to changes in the benchmark interest rate of LIBOR

These instruments include LIBOR-based interest rate swaps and caps For our net investments in

foreign real estate we use foreign currency
forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange put/call

options to eliminate the impact of foreign currency exchange movements on our financial position

We measure our derivative instruments and hedging activities at fair value and record them as an

asset or liability depending on our rights or obligations under the applicable derivative contract For

derivatives designated as fair value hedges the changes in the fair value of both the derivative

instrument and the hedged items are recorded in earnings Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to

variability in expected future cash flows or other types of forecasted transactions are considered cash

flow hedges For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges the effective portions of changes in fair

value of the derivatives are reported in other comprehensive income loss and are subsequently

reclassified into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings For derivatives designated as net

investment hedges changes in fair value are reported in other comprehensive income loss as part of

the foreign currency translation gain or loss Changes in fair value of derivative instruments not

designated as hedges and ineffective portions of hedges are recognized
in earnings in the affected
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

period We assess the effectiveness of each hedging relationship by comparing the changes in fair value

or cash flows of the derivative hedging instrument with the changes in fair value or cash flows of the

designated hedged item or transaction

As of December 31 2009 we do not have any derivatives designated as fair value hedges nor are
derivatives being used for trading or speculative purposes See Notes and 11 for further information

regarding our derivative financial instruments

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of any conditional asset retirement obligations in accordance with GAAR
As part of the anticipated renovation and redevelopment of an acquired property we will incur future
costs for the abatement of regulated materials primarily asbestos-containing materials as required
under environmental regulations Our estimate of the fair value of the liability is based on future

anticipated costs to be incurred for the legal removal or remediation of the regulated materials There
was no asset retirement obligation as of December 31 2009 or 2008

Foreign Currency Translation

For our international investments where the functional
currency

is other than the U.S dollar
assets and liabilities are translated using period-end exchange rates while the statement of operations
amounts are translated using the average exchange rates for the respective period Differences arising
from the translation of assets and liabilities in comparison with the translation of the previous periods
or from initial recognition during the period are included as separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive income loss

The British pound is the functional
currency for our Becket House investment

operating in

London England and the Euro is the functional currency for the
operations of our Central Europe

Joint Venture We also maintain Euro-denominated bank accounts that are translated into U.S dollars

at the current exchange rate at each reporting period The
resulting translation adjustments are

recorded as separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss in our
consolidated statement of equity The foreign currency translation adjustment was loss of $0.3 million

gain of $2.2 million and gain of $0.1 million as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss AOCI which is reported in the accompanying
consolidated statement of equity consists of gains and losses

affecting equity that are excluded from
net income loss under GAAP The components of accumulated other comprehensive income loss
consist of foreign currency translation gains and losses and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives

designated as hedges

Revenue Recognition

We recognize rental income generated from leases on real estate assets on straight-line basis

over the terms of the respective leases including the effect of rent holidays if any Straight-line rental

revenue of $2.6 million $3.6 million and $4.6 million was recognized in rental revenues for the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Hotel revenue is derived from the operations
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

of The Lodge Spa at Cordillera and consists of guest room food and beverage and other revenue

and is recognized as the services are rendered

Revenues from the sales of condominiums are recognized when sales are closed and title passes to

the new owner the new owners initial and continuing investment is adequate to demonstrate

commitment to pay for the condominium the new owners receivable is not subject to future

subordination and we do not have substantial continuing involvement with the new condominium

Amounts received prior to closing on sales of condominiums are recorded as deposits in our financial

statements

Advertising Costs

Marketing costs including the costs of model units and their furnishings incurred in connection

with the sale of condominiums are deferred and recorded as costs of sales when revenue is recognized

Certain prepaid costs are capitalized and expensed over the stated terms of the contract All other

advertising costs are expensed as incurred We expensed advertising costs of $0.8 million $2.2 million

and $1.2 million for the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Income Taxes

We elected to be taxed and qualified as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Interiial

Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code beginning with the year ended December 31 2006

We are organized and operate in such manner as to qualify for taxation as REIT under the Code

and we intend to continue to operate
in such manner but no assurance can be given that we will

operate in manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as REIT To qualify as REIT we must

meet number of organizational and operational requirements including requirement that we

distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders As REIT we generally will

not be subject to federal income tax at the corporate level except for the operations of our wholly-

owned taxable REIT subsidiaries We have three taxable REIT subsidiaries that own and/or provide

management and development services to certain of our investments in real estate and real estate

under development

We have reviewed our tax positions under GAAP guidance that clarifies the relevant criteria and

approach for the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions The guidance prescribes

recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition of tax

position taken or expected to be taken in tax return tax position may only be recognized in the

financial statements if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon

examination We believe it is more likely than not that the tax positions taken relative to our status as

REIT will be sustained in any tax examination In addition we believe that it is more likely than not

that the tax positions taken relative to the taxable REIT subsidiaries will be sustained in any tax

examination

On May 18 2006 the State of Texas enacted new law which replaced the existing state franchise

tax with margin tax effective January 2007 For the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 we recognized current and deferred tax provision of $0.1 million $0.2 million and less than

$0.1 million respectively related to the Texas margin tax
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Stock-Based Compensation

We have stock-based incentive award plan for our directors and consultants and for employees

directors and consultants of our affiliates Awards are granted at the fair market value on the date of

grant with fair value estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model which

incorporates assumptions surrounding volatility dividend yield the risk-free interest rate expected life

and the exercise price as compared to the underlying stock price on the grant date The tax benefits

associated with these share-based payments are classified as financing activities in the consolidated

statement of cash flows For the years ended December 2009 2008 and 2007 we had no significant

compensation cost related to our incentive award plan

Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents deposited in certain financial

institutions in excess of federally insured levels We have diversified our cash and cash equivalents

between several banking institutions in an attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these entities

We regularly monitor the financial stability of these financial institutions and believe that we are not

exposed to any significant credit risk in cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash

Noncontrolling Interest

We hold primary beneficiary interest as lender in two variable interest entities that own real

estate properties and thus we consolidate their accounts with and into our accounts Noncontrolling
interest represents the noncontrolling ownership interests proportionate share of the equity in our

consolidated real estate investments including the 5% 7% 10% 11% and 20% unaffiliated partners
share of the equity in Chase Park Plaza The Lodge Spa at Cordillera Rio Salado Business Center

Frisco Square and Becket House respectively as well as 100% of the equity of the two properties we
consolidate as lender and primary beneficiary Income and losses are allocated to noncontrolling

interest holders based on their ownership percentage

Reportable Segments

We have determined that we have one reportable segment with activities related to the ownership

development and management of real estate assets Our income producing properties generated 100%
of our consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 Our chief

operating decision maker evaluates operating performance on an individual property level Therefore

our properties are aggregated into one reportable segment

Earnings per Share

Earnings loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares

outstanding during each period As of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we had options to purchase

69583 54583 and 39583 shares of common stock outstanding at weighted average exercise price of

$8.99 $9.21 and $9.10 respectively These options are excluded from the calculation of earnings per
share for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 because the effect would be anti-dilutive
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Inflation

The real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the past several years due

to the relatively low inflation rate However we include provisions in the majority of our tenant leases

that would protect us from the impact of inflation These provisions include reimbursement billings for

common area maintenance charges real estate tax and insurance reimbursements on per square foot

basis or in some cases annual reimbursement of operating expenses above certain per square foot

allowance

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB delayed the effective date

of applying updated accounting guidance in regards to nonrecurring fair value measurements of

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities until the fiscal year beginning after November 2008

We adopted the updated accounting guidance effective January 2009 and this adoption is expected

to enhance our future disclosures regarding how we develop fair value estimates related to

non-financial assets and liabilities in our financial statements

In December 2007 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance on business combinations The

updated guidance retains the fundamental requirement that the acquisition method of accounting or

purchase method be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each

business combination This Statement is broader in scope than the original guidance which applied

only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration The updated

guidance applies the same method of accounting the acquisition method to all transactions and other

events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses This Statement also

makes certain other modifications including broader definition of business and the requirement

that acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred This statement applies to business combinations

occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after

December 15 2008 The acquisition
of real estate property has been determined to meet the definition

of business combination as defined in the updated guidance Therefore effective January 2009 we

no longer capitalize acquisition related costs for future acquisitions of real estate properties but

expense such costs as incurred

In February 2007 the FASB issued updated guidance regarding the fair value option for financial

assets and financial liabilities The fair value option established by the new guidance permits all entities

to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates business entity will report

unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings or

another performance indicator if the business entity does not report earnings at each subsequent

reporting date We adopted this standard effective January 2008 but have not elected the fair value

measurement option for any financial assets or liabilities at the present time however we may elect to

measure future eligible financial assets or liabilities at fair value

In March 2008 the FASB issued updated guidance for disclosures about derivative instruments and

hedging activities The updated accounting guidance is intended to improve financial reporting about

derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to

better understand their effects on an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows

Our adoption of the updated accounting guidance affected disclosures only and had no impact on our

financial position or results of operations
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In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance on noncontrolling interests This

guidance clarifies that
noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary which is sometimes referred to as

minority interest is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity
in the consolidated financial statements Among other requirements this guidance requires
consolidated net income to be reported on the face of the consolidated statement of operations at

amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the
noncontrolling interest Our

adoption of this guidance on January 2009 increased our total equity Net income loss no longer
includes an allocation of income or losses to noncontrolling interests Income available to common
stockholders was not affected

In April 2009 the FASB issued staff position providing additional guidance for estimating fair

value when there has been significant decrease in market activity for financial asset This staff

position re emphasizes that regardless of market conditions the fair value measurement is an exit price

concept It clarifies and includes additional factors to consider in determining whether there has been

significant decrease in market activity for an asset or liability and provides additional clarification on

estimating fair value when the market activity for an asset or liability has declined significantly This

guidance is applied prospectively to all fair value measurements where
appropriate and is effective for

interim and annual periods ending after June 15 2009 The implementation of this guidance on
June 30 2009 did not have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In June 2009 the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for

the consolidation of variable interest entities The guidance eliminates exceptions to
consolidating

qualifying special purpose entities contains new criteria for determining the primary beneficiary and
increases the frequency of required reassessments to determine whether company is the primary
beneficiary of variable interest entity It also contains new requirement that any term transaction
or arrangement that does not have substantive effect on an entitys status as variable interest entity

companys power over variable interest entity or companys obligation to absorb losses or its

rights to receive benefits of an entity must be disregarded The guidance is applicable for annual

periods after November 15 2009 and interim periods thereafter As result of this new accounting
guidance on January 2010 we will deconsohdate the assets and liabilities of Tanglewood at Voss and
Alexan Black Mountain along with the associated revenue and expenses Further we will reØognize in

consolidation our mezzanine loans related to Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain which
will result in the addition of $22.7 million of notes receivable to our consolidated balance sheet

Further the new accounting standard related to the consolidated of variable interest entity

requires an enterprise to perform qualitative analysis when determining whether or not it must
consolidate variable interest entity Additionally it requires enhanced disclosUres about an

enterprises involvement with variable interest entities and any significant change in risk exposure due
to that involvement as well as how significant its involvement with the variable interest entity impacts
the enterprises financial statements Finally an enterprise is

required to disclose significant judgments
and assumptions used to determine whether or not to consolidate variable interest entity With the

exception of the impact of Tanglewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain discussed above the

adoption of this accounting standard did not change any of our previous conclusions
regarding our

variable interest entities and thus did not have an effect on our financial position results of operations
or liquidity
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

Fair value measurements are determined based on the assumptions that market participants would

use in pricing
the asset or liability As basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair

value measurements fair value hierarchy that distinguishes
between market participant assumptions

based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity observable inputs

that are classified within Levels and of the hierarchy and the reporting entitys own assumptions

about market participant assumptions unobservable inputs classified within Level of the hierarchy

has been established

Level inputs utilize quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

that we have the ability to access Level inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in

Level that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly Level inputs may

include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets as well as inputs that are

observable for the asset or liability other than quoted prices such as interest rates foreign exchange

rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals Level inputs are

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that are typically based on an entitys own assumptions as

there is little if any related market activity In instances where the determination of the fair value

measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy the level in the fair

value hierarchy within which th fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of

particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors

specific to the asset or liability

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Derivative financial instruments

Currently we use interest rate swaps and caps to manage our interest rate risk and foreign

exchange put/call options to manage the impact of foreign currency movements on our financial

position for our net investments in foreign real estate joint ventures The valuation of these instruments

is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis on the

expected cash flows of each derivative This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives

including the period to maturity and uses observable market-based inputs including interest rate

curves implied volatilities and foreign currency exchange rates

We incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own nonperformance

risk and the respective counterpartys performance risk in the fair value measurements Although we

have determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level of the

fair value hierarchy the credit valuation adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level

inputs such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its

counterparties However as of December 31 2009 and 2008 we have assessed the significance of the

impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our derivative positions and have

determined that the credit valuatiOn adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of our

derivatives As result we have determined that our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified

in Level of the fair value hierarchy
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The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about our assets and liabilities

measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2009 and 2008

2009
Level Level Level Total

Assets

Derivative financial instruments 204 204

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments $3081 $3081

2008
Level Level Level Total

Assets

Derivative financial instruments $1273 $1273

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments $5518 $5518

Derivative financial instruments classified as assets are included in other assets on the balance
sheet while derivative financial instruments classified as liabilities are included in other liabilities See
Notes and 11 for further information regarding our use of hedging instruments

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

Impairment of Real Estate Asset and Condominium Inventoiy Adjustment

As result of the continued adverse economic conditions including the general weakness in market
rental rates and tenant renewals we evaluated certain of our real estate investments for potential
impairment during 2009 Based on our analyses for the year ended December 31 2009 we recorded
cumulative non-cash impairment charges of $9.9 million related to our leasehold interest in an office

building in London England and non-cash impairment charge of $5.6 million related to our hotel

and development property in Edwards Colorado which includes an inventory valuation adjustment of

$4.7 million related to condominium inventory work in progress The inputs used to calculate the fair

value of these assets included projected cash flows and risk-adjusted rate of return that we estimated
would be used by market participant in

valuing these assets These fair value estimates are considered
Level of the fair value hierarchy

The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about our assets measured at fair

value on nonrecurring basis during December 31 2009

Gain
2009

Level Level Level Total Fair Value Loss

Asset

Leasehold interest net $16406 $16406 9895
Land and improvements net 4430 4430 959
Condominium inventory 16907 16907 4668

Total
$37743 $37743 $15522
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Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments

We determined the following disclosure of estimated fair values using available market information

and appropriate valuation methodologies However considerable judgment is necessary to interpret

market data and develop the related estimates of fair value Accordingly the estimates presented

herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized upon disposition of the

financial instruments The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may

have material effect on the estimated fair value amounts

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 management estimated that the carrying value of cash and

cash equivalents restricted cash accounts receivable accounts payable accrued expenses other

liabilities payables/receivables
from related parties and distributions payable were at amounts that

reasonably approximated their fair value based on their highly-liquid nature and/or short-term

maturities and the carrying value of notes receivable reasonably approximated fair value based on

expected interest rates for notes to similar borrowers with similar terms and remaining maturities

The notes payable totaling $429.8 million and $416.2 million as of December 31 2009 and 208
respectively have fair value of approximately $435.3 million and $418.4 million respectively based

upon interest rates for mortgages with similar terms and remaining maturities that management

believes we could obtain Interest rate swaps and
caps along with our foreign currency exchange

forward contract are recorded at their respective fair values in prepaid expenses and other assets for

those derivative instruments that have an asset balance and in other liabilities for those derivative

instruments that are liabilities See Note

The fair value estimates presented herein are based on information available to our management

as of December 31 2009 and 2008 Although our management is not aware of any factors that would

significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts such amounts have not been comprehensively

revalued for purposes of these consolidated financial statements since that date and current estimates

of fair value may differ significantly from the amounts presented herein

Real Estate Investments

As of December 31 2009 we wholly-owned 11 properties and consolidated five properties through

investments iii joint ventures In addition we are the mezzanine lender for two multifamily properties

that we consolidate both fully operational as of December 31 2009 In addition we have

noncontrolling unconsolidated ownership interests in three properties and one investment in joint

venture consisting of 22 properties that are accounted for using the equity method Capital

contributions distributions and profits and losses of these properties are allocated in accordance with
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the terms of the applicable partnership agreement The following table presents certain information

about our consolidated properties as of December 31 2009

Approximate
Rentable

Square Footage Ownership
Property Name Location unaudited Description Encumbrances Interest

12600 Whitewater Drive Minnetonka Minnesota 71000 2-story office building 100%
Ferncroft Corporate

Center Middleton Massachusetts 226000 8-story office building $18000 100%
Bent Tree Green Dallas Texas 138000 3-story office building 6700 100%
Las Colinas Commons Irving Texas 239000 3-building office complex 100%
5000 Bowen Road Arlington Texas 87000 1-story data center 100%

campus
Santa Clara Tech Center Santa Clara California 456000 3-building office complex 52479 100%
Northpoint Central Houston Texas 180000 9-story office building 100%

Regency Center Houston Texas 157000 6-story office building 100%
2603 Augusta Houston Texas 242000 16-story office building 100%

Northborough Tower Houston Texas 207000 14-story office building 21480 100%
Crossroads San Diego California 140000 7-story office building 25023 100%
Chase Park Plaza St Louis Missouri hotel and development $100791 95%

property
The Lodge Spa at

Cordillera Edwards Colorado hotel and development 93%

property

Rio Salado Business

Center Phoenix Arizona development property 90%
Frisco Square Frisco Texas 100500 mixed-use development 55539 89%

multifamily retail

office and restaurant
Becket House London England 46000 long-term leasehold 18636 80%

interest

Tanglewood at Voss Houston Texas multifamily 395391 Lender

Alexan Black Mountain Henderson Nevada multifamily 290001 Lender

The mortgages payableof our mezzanine borrowers consolidated under Accounting Standards Codification Topic
810 are obligations of our mezzanine borrowers and are not payble by us

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The following table presents certain information about our unconsolidated investments as of

December 31 2009 and 2008

Carrying Value of Investment

Ownership December 31 December 31
Property Name Interest 2009 2008

Royal Island 31.22% $22594 $22060

GrandMarc at Westberry Place 50.00% 7348 7324
GrandMarc at the Corner 50.00% 6559 5527
Central Europe Joint Venture 47.27% 27051 27405

Total $63552 $62316
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As of December 31

2009 2008

$382061 $371223

15628 24636

3528 2791

$401217 $398650

$246176 $245203

19846 25442

266022 270645

135195 128005

$401217 $398650

Our equity in losses from these investments is our proportionate share of the combined losses of

our unconsolidated joint ventures for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Revenue

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Property taxes

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Non-operating expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Interest and other net

Total non-operating expenses

Net loss

6287 6159 2104

803 786 174

7090 6945 2278

17068 7744 70

Companys share of net loss $2141
______

In 2006 we agreed to provide secured mezzanine financing with an aggregate principal
amount of

up to $22.7 million to unaffiliated third-party entities that own multifamily
communities under

development the Tanglewood at Voss in Houston Texas and Alexan Black Mountain in

Henderson Nevada properties respectively These entities also have secured construction loans with

third-party lenders with an aggregate principal amount of up to $68.6 million Our mezzanine loans are

subordinate to the construction loans In addition we have entered into option agreements allowing us

to purchase the ownership interests in Tangiewood at Voss and Alexan Black Mountain after each

F-23

Variable Interest Entities

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Real Estate Investments Continued

Our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures as of December 31 2009 and 2008 consisted of

our proportionate
share of the combined assets and liabilities of our investment properties as follows

Real estate assets net

Cash and cash equivalents

Other assets

Total assets

Notes payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity

2009

$24158 $14689 2348

10258

11513

21771

4703

6674

7547

14221

6477

2862

1153

1869

3022

$2952

$1201
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projects substantial completion and upon notification of completion from the developer As of
December 31 2009 the option agreement allowing us to purchase Alexan Black Mountain has expired

In February 2009 we received the notice of completion on Tanglewood at Voss Accordingly
pursuant to the option agreement we had ninety days from the delivery of the notice of completion to
exercise our option to purchase the completed property We have waived our rights to purchase the
property Therefore the general partner and mezzanine borrower at its sole discretion may elect to
exercise its

put option requiring us to purchase the property within 120 days upon the delivery of
written notice In January 2010 we agreed to an extension of the put option agreement that extends
the date through which the general partner and mezzanine borrower may elect to exercise the put
option through July 22 2010 As of March 19 2010 the general partner and mezzanine borrower have
not elected to provide us with the put notice

Based on our evaluation we have determined that these entities meet the criteria of VIEs underGAAP and that we are the primary beneficiary of these variable interest entities Therefore we have
consolidated the entities including the related real estate assets and third-party construction financingAs of December 31 2009 there was $87.2 million of related real estate assets related to Tanglewood at
Voss and Alexan Black Mountain which collateralizes the

outstanding principal balance of the
construction loans The third-party construction lenders have no recourse to the general credit of us as
the primary beneficiary but their loans are guaranteed by the owners of the variable interest entities
As of December 31 2009 the

outstanding principal balance under our mezzanine loans was
$22.7 million which is eliminated along with accrued interest and loan origination fees upon
consolidation We as the mezzanine lender are in discussion with the mezzanine borrower and the
senior construction lender to refinance the Tanglewood at Voss note payable In February 2010 the
Alexan Black Mountain loan was extended through December 29 2012 The loan bears interest at

floating rate at the election of the borrower of LIBOR 3% or the Prime Rate 2% and has an
interest rate floor of 5.5%

In May 2007 for an initial cash investment of $20 million we acquired an approximate 31% equity
interest as limited partner in the development and construction of resort hotel spa golf course
marina and residences on three islands located in the Commonwealth of Bahamas Royal Island In
December 2007 we participated in bridge loan financing arrangement and committed up to
$40 million as bridge loan to the Royal Island entity for the continuing construction and development
of the property In June 2009 we purchased the interest in the first of two superior tranches for
$3.1 million The total amount outstanding to us at December 31 2009 including accrued interest and
fees was $42.1 million See Note Based on our evaluation we have determined that the entity
meets the criteria of variable interest entity but that we are not the primary beneficiary Accordinglywe do not consolidate the Royal Island entity and instead account for it under the

equity method of
accounting At December 31 2009 there was approximately $145.1 million of real estate assets under
development related to Royal Island

Notes Receivable

Chase Park Plaza Working Capital Loan

We lease the hotel portion of the Chase Park Plaza property to the hotel operator an unaffiliated
entity that owns the remaining 5% of Chase Park Plaza In

conjunction with the lease agreement we
made working capital and

inventory loan of up to $1.9 million to the hotel operator in December

F-24



Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Notes Receivable Continued

2006 The interest rate under the note is fixed at 5% per annum The term of the note is the earlier of

December 31 2016 or the termination of the related hotel lease agreement Annual payments of

interest only are required each December with any remaining balance payable at the maturity date In

accordance with the hotel lease agreement the tenant will receive reduction in its base rental

payment due in January in the amount of the interest paid on the promissory note in the previous

December This reduction in the lease payment is reflected as straight-line adjustment to base rental

revenue At December 31 2009 the note receivable balance was $1.9 million

Royal Island Bridge Loan

In December 2007 we participated in bridge loan financing arrangement for the continuing

development and construction of Royal Island The aggregate principal amount available under the

bridge loan was $60 million consisting of three tranches Under the bridge loan we agreed to lend

tranche of up to $40 million which is subordinate to the other two tranches The bridge loan accrued

interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 8% per annum with accrued interest and principal payable

at the maturity date December 20 2008 and is secured by the Royal Island property In June 2009 we

purchased the interest in the first of the two superior
tranches for $3.1 million

Under the terms of the loan documents the bridge loan could be extended once for period of

six months upon the satisfaction of certain conditions with notice given by the borrower by

November 20 2008 and payment of an extension fee At the maturity date not all of the conditions

were satisfied and as result the bridge
loan went into default and became non-earning loan The

balance owed to us at the time of default was $37.7 million including accrued interest and fees

Discussions between the bridge loan lenders and the borrower to complete satisfactory workout plan

have begun however there are no assurances that workout plan will be completed or that the loan

will be reinstated by the borrower Accordingly we may seek other actions under the loan documents

to protect our investment including foreclosure exercise of power of sale or conveyance in satisfaction

of debt In accordance with GAAP from the time the loan went into default until the time that

foreclosure occurs satisfactory workout is completed or the loan is reinstated by the borrower we do

not recognize interest income on the loan

In April 2009 we collected $2.1 million in unpaid interest and fees from the borrower At

December 31 2009 the loan balance owed to us for both tranches was $42.1 million which includes

$1.5 million of accrued interest and fees included in receivables from related parties at December 31

2009 We have not recorded an allowance against the recorded balance as our estimate of the fair value

of the Royal Island property securing the bridge loan exceeds the current carrying value of the loan

and accordingly we believe it is probable that all of the outstanding balance is collectible

While we believe it is currently probable we will collect all outstanding balances with respect to

our notes receivable current market conditions with respect to credit availability and to fundamentals

within the real estate markets instill significant
levels of uncertainty Accordingly future adverse

developments in market conditions would cause us to re-evaluate our conclusions and could result in

material impairment charges
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Capitalized Costs

We capitalize interest property taxes insurance and construction costs to real estate under

development During the
year ended December 31 2009 we capitalized $6.5 million of such costs

associated with real estate under development and certain investments accounted for by the
equity

method including $2.1 million in interest costs During the
year ended December 31 2008 we

capitalized $53.9 million of costs associated with real estate under development and certain investments

accounted for by the equity method including $9 million in interest costs Capitalized interest costs

include interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs

Certain redevelopment costs including interest property taxes insurance and construction costs

associated with Chase Park Plaza have been capitalized to condominium inventory on our consolidated

balance sheet at December 31 2009 During the year ended December 31 2009 we capitalized total

of $17.7 million of such costs associated with the condominium redevelopment at Chase Park Plaza For
the

year ended December 31 2008 we capitalized total of $28.7 million of costs associated with the

condominium redevelopment at Chase Park Plaza and The Lodge Spa at Cordillera including
$4.8 million of interest and deferred financing costs

During the year ended December 31 2009 $0.9 million in costs were transferred from real estate

under development to land on our balance sheet Also during the year ended December 31 2009
$2.7 million and $0.2 million of real estate under development costs were transferred to building and

improvements and to furniture fixtures and equipment respectively on our balance sheet For the

year ended December 31 2008 $15.4 million in costs were transferred from real estate under

development to land on our balance sheet Also during the year ended December 31 2008
$89.7 million and $7.2 million of real estate under development costs were transferred to building and

improvements and to furniture fixtures and equipment respectively on our balance sheet
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Maturity

Description
2009

Date

Tanglewood at Voss1 39539
03/22/10

Santa Clara Tech Center 52479
06/09/10

Chase Park Plaza Hotel 77474
11/15/10

ChaseThe Private

Residences
11/15/10

02/13/11

03/09/11

06/30/11

07/28/11

07/28/11

07/28/11

07/28/11

05/19/12

12/29/12

Ferncroft Corporate Center
09/01/13

Northborough Tower
01/11/16

The mortgages payable of our mezzanine borrowers that we consolidate are obligations of our

mezzanine borrowers and are not payable by us

30-day London Interbank Offer Rate LIBOR was 0.231% at December 31 2009

90-day London Interbank Offer Rate LIBOR was 0.251% at December 31 2009

Prime rate was 3.25% at December 31 2009

Our notes payable balance was $429.8 million at December 31 2009 as compared to

$416.2 million at December 31 2008 and consists of borrowings and assumptions of debt related to our

property acquisitions as well as the notes payable of our mezzanine borrowers we consolidate as

variable interest entities under GAAP and our borrowings under our $75 millioll senior secured credit

facility Each of our notes payable is collateralized by one or more of our properties
At December 31

2009 our notes payable interest rates ranged from 1.9% to 6.3% with weighted average interest rate

of approximately 3.1% Of our $429.8 million in notes payable at December 31 2009 $390.3 million

represented debt subject to variable interest rates At December 31 2009 our notes payable have

maturity dates that range from March 2010 to January 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

10 Notes Payable

The following table sets forth our notes payable on our consolidated properties including the debt

obligations
of properties we consolidate at December 31 2009 and 2008

December 31

2008 ________

37839

52479

80695

23317 28529

Senior Secured Credit Facility

Becket HouseRBS
Crossroads

Frisco Square LLC Land
Frisco Square TI LLC

Frisco Square III LLC

Frisco Square TV LLC

Bent Tree Green

Alexan Black Mountain1

Interest Rate

30-day LIBOR 1.6%2

30-day LIBOR 1.75%2

Prime Rate or

30-day LIBOR spread214

Prime Rate or

30-day LIBOR spread24

Prime Rate4

90-day LIBOR

30-day LIBOR 2.85%2

30-day LIBOR 45%2

30-day LIBOR 35%2

30-day LIBOR 35%2

30-day LIBOR 35%2

Greater of 5.75% or Prime

30-day LIBOR 3% or

Prime Rate 2% Floor of

55%24
6.33%

5.67%

62600

18636

25023

24503

7856

8515

14665

6700

29000

18000

21480

$429787

48000

18259

25000

25789

7929

8239

14524

29000

18000

21897

$416179
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In November 2009 we amended the Frisco Square LLC Land loan with the lender extending
the maturity date to July 28 2011 The amended loan requires monthly payments of principal and
interest and bears interest at floating rate of LIBOR 4.5% This loan is secured by real property
and is

unconditionally guaranteed by us

In February 2010 the Alexan Black Mountain loan was extended through December 29 2012 The
loan bears interest at

floating rate of our election of LIBOR 3% or the Prime Rate 2% and has
an interest rate floor of 5.5%

Our loan agreements generally stipulate that we comply with certain
reporting and financial

covenants These covenants include among other things notifying the lender of any change in

management and maintaining minimum debt service coverage ratios We have unconditionally
guaranteed payment of the notes payable related to Frisco Square Chase Park Plaza Hotel Chase
Private Residences Northborough Tower Bent Tree Green and Crossroads Office Park

In December 2009 we received state tax investment credits of $10 million from the State of
Missouri

equal to 25% of qualified costs to rehabilitate certified historic structures related to Chase
Park Plaza As qualified REIT we generally are not subject to income tax at the

corporate level

Accordingly we sold the historic tax credits at discount for cash proceeds of $8.7 million to US
Bancorp Community Development Corp We used the proceeds to pay down the balance of the note
payable on Chase Park Plaza Hotel

In February 2008 we entered into senior secured revolving credit facility providing for up to
$75 million of secured borrowings The initial credit facility allowed us to borrow up to $75 million in

revolving loans of which up to $20 million was available for issuing letters of credit We have

unconditionally guaranteed payment of the senior secured revolving credit facility The availability of
credit under the revolving credit facility is limited by the terms of the credit agreement As of
December 31 2009 the maximum availability under the revolving credit facility was $71.2 million The
outstanding balance under the revolving credit facility was $62.6 million

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations for principal payments as of
December 31 2009

Principal Payments Due

2010
$195483

2011
161241

2012
8520

2013
44314

2014
361

Thereafter
18883

Unamortized premium

$429787

11 Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We may be exposed to the risk associated with
variability of interest rates that might impact our

cash flows and the results of operations The hedging strategy of entering into interest rate caps and
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swaps therefore is to eliminate or reduce to the extent possible the volatility of cash flows In

addition we may be exposed to foreign currency exchange risk related to our net investments in the

Becket House leasehold interest and the Central Europe Joint Venture Accordingly our hedging

strategy is to protect our net investments in foreign currency denominated entities against the risk of

adverse changes in foreign currency to U.S dollar exchange rates

Derivative instruments classified as assets were reported at their combined fair values of

$0.2 million and $1.3 million in prepaid expenses and other assets at December 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 respectively Derivative instruments classified as liabilities were reported at their

combined fair values of $3.1 million and $5.5 million in accrued and other liabilities at December31

2009 and December 31 2008 respectively During the year
ended December 31 2009 we recorded an

unrealized gain of $1.2 million to AOCI in our statement of equity to adjust the carrying amount of the

interest rate swaps and caps qualifying as hedges at December 31 2009 Unrealized losses on interest

rate derivatives for the year ended December 31 2009 reflect reclassification of unrealized losses

from accumulated other comprehensive loss to interest expense of $0.2 million

The following table summarizes the notional values of our derivative financial instruments as of

December 31 2009 The notional values provide an indication of the extent of our involvement in these

instruments at December 31 2009 but do not represent exposure to credit interest rate or market

risks

1vpe Description ________ _____________ _______________________

Cash Flow Hedges

Interest rate capSanta Clara Tech Center

Interest rate capSanta Clara Tech Center

Interest rate capBecket House

Interest rate swapCrossroads

Net Investment Hedges

Foreign currency putBecket House 6120

Foreign currency putCentral Europe Joint

Venture 17000 1.10

Other

Interest rate swapChase Park Plaza Hotel $80594 3.82% November 15 2010 $2470

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Notional Interest Rate

Value Strike Rate Maturity

$35115

$17000

12700
$25000

6.00%

6.00%

5.75%

3.10%

June 15 2010

June 15 2010

November 21 2010

November 2010

Fair Value

Asset

Liability

611

194

10

1.30 November 23 2011

July 28 2010
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The table below presents the fair value of our derivative financial instruments as well as their

classification on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2009 and December 31 2008

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

Balance Fair Value at Fair Value at Fair Value at Fair Value at

Sheet December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
Location 2009 2008 2009

2008__

Derivatives designated as

hedging instruments

Interest rate derivative

contracts Prepaid expenses

and other assets

Interest rate derivative

contracts Accrued and other 611 1468
liabilities

Foreign exchange contracts Prepaid expenses 204 1267
and other assets

Total derivatives designated

as hedging instruments $204 $1273 611 $1468
Derivatives not designated

as hedging instruments

Interest rate derivative

contract Accrued and other $2470 $4050
liabilities

Total derivatives $204 $1273 $3081 $5518
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The tables below present the effect of our derivative financial instruments on the consolidated

statements of operations for the periods
ended December 31 2009 and 2008

Amount of Gain Amount of Gain

or Loss or Loss
Recognized in Reclassified

AOCI on from AOCI into

Derivative Income

Effective Effective

Portion Portion

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December31

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2009 2008 2009 2008

Interest rate derivative contracts $1336 $2690 $240 $176

Amounts related to interest rate derivative contracts are included in interest expense

Amount of

Gain

Amount of Gain or Loss Amount of Gain

or Loss Reclassified or Loss
Recognized in from AOCI Recognized in

AOCI on into Income on

Derivative Income Derivative

Effective Effective Ineffective

Portion Portion Portion

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December31

Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging Relationships 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Foreign exchange contracts $1049 $3011 $266

We do not expect to reclassify any gain or loss from AOCI into income until the sale or upon

complete or substantially complete liquidation of the respective investment in the foreign entity

Amount of Gain

or Loss
Recognized in

Income on
Derivative

Year Ended
Location of Gain or Loss December 31

Recognized in Income on

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Derivative 2009 2008

Interest rate derivative contract Interest expense $1615 $2383

Credit risk and collateral

Our credit exposure related to interest rate and foreign currency derivative instruments is

represented by the fair value of contracts with net liability fair value at the reporting date These

outstanding instruments may expose us to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the

counterparties to the agreements However we have not experienced any credit loss as result of

counterparty nonperformance in the past To manage credit risk we select and will periodically review

counterparties based on credit ratings and limit our exposure to any single counterparty Under our
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agreements with the counterparty related to our interest rate caps of Santa Clara Tech Center and

ChaseThe Private Residences cash deposits may be required to be posted by the
counterparty

whenever their credit rating falls below certain levels Based on our agreement with the
counterparty

related to our interest rate swap of Crossroads Office Park we may be required to post cash collateral

of up to $0.6 million if the lenders obligation to lend under our senior secured credit facility is

terminated or the lender ceases to be party to the senior secured credit facility and the value of the

derivative is liability on our consolidated balance sheet At December 31 2009 no collateral has been

posted with our counterparties nor have our counterparties posted collateral with us related to our

derivative instruments See Notes and for further information on our derivative instruments

12 Leasing Activity

Future minimum base rental payments due to us under non-cancelable leases in effect as of

December 31 2009 for our consolidated properties are as follows

Future

Minimum
Lease

Year Ended
Payments

2010 36925
2011 35097
2012 34073
2013 20558
2014

14991

Thereafter 37504

Total
$179148

As of December 31 2009 one of our tenants accounted for 10% or more of our aggregate annual

rental revenues from our consolidated properties Kingsdell L.P our 5% unaffiliated partner in Chase

Park Plaza and its hotel operator leased the hotel and its operations and accounted for rental revenue
of approximately $8.1 million or approximately 13% of our aggregate rental revenues for the year
ended December 31 2009 Included in rental revenue for the years ended December 31 2009 2008
and 2007 were $0.3 million $0.5 million and less than $0.1 million in contingent rents

Hotel occupancy rates and ADR have declined sharply nationwide in 2009 As result the Chase
Park Plaza lessee Kingsdell L.P has been unable to pay the full amount of its lease payment In

February 2010 the lease with Kingsdell L.P was amended to include revised rental schedule and

forgiveness of certain amounts past due under the original lease
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On November 23 2004 date of inception we sold 1000 shares of convertible stock and 21739

shares of common stock to Behringer Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard Holdings for

$201000 in cash Pursuant to its terms the convertible stock generally is convertible into shares of our

common stock with value equal to 15% of the amount by which our enterprise value including

the total amount of distributions paid to our stockholders exceeds the sum of the aggregate capital

invested by our stockholders plus 10% cumulative non-compounded annual return on such capital

At the date of issuance of the shares of convertible stock management determined the fair value under

GAAP was less than the nominal value paid for the shares therefore the difference is not material

Conversion of the convertible stock may be limited by our board of directors if it determines that full

conversion may jeopardize our qualification as REIT Our board of directors may authorize additional

shares of capital stock and their characteristics without obtaining stockholder approval

Share Redemption Program

In February 2006 our board of directors authorized share redemption program for stockholders

who held theiT shares for more than one year Under the program the board of directors reserved the

right in its sole discretion at any time and from time to time to waive the
one-year holding period

in the event of the death disability or bankruptcy of stockholder or other exigent circumstances

reject any request for redemption change the purchase price for redemptions or terminate

suspend or amend the share redemption program On March 30 2009 our board of directors voted to

accept all redemption requests submitted during the first quarter of 2009 from stockholders whose

requests were made on the basis of circumstances of death disability or need for long-term care

However the board determined to not accept and to suspend until further notice redemptions other

than those submitted in respect of stockholders death disability or need for long-term care In

addition the board approved certain amendments to the program Under the third amended and

restated share redemption program the per share redemption price will equal

in the case of redemptions other than Exceptional Redemptions 90% of the most recently

disclosed estimated value per share the Valuation as determined in accordance with our

valuation policy the Valuation Policy as such Valuation Policy is amended from time to time

less ii the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or

more of our assets or other special distributions so designated by our board of directors

distributed to stockholders after the Valuation was determined the Valuation Adjustment

provided however that the purchase price per share shall not exceed prior to the first

Valuation conducted by our board of directors or committee thereof the Initial Board

Valuation under the Valuation Policy 90% of the Original Share Price as defined herein

less ii the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or

more of our assets or other special distributions so designated by our board of directors

distributed to stockholders prior to the redemption date the Special Distributions or on

or after the Initial Board Valuation the Original Share Price less any Special Distributions and

in the case of Exceptional Redemptions prior to the Initial Board Valuation the Original

Share Price less any Special Distributions or on or after the Initial Board Valuation the

most recently disclosed Valuation less any Valuation Adjustment provided however that the

purchase price per share shall not exceed the Original Share Price less any Special Distributions
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We redeemed 153755 shares of common stock for $1.4 million during the
year

ended

December 31 2009 for an aggregate total of 832159 shares of common stock redeemed since

inception

Distributions

We initiated the payment of monthly distributions in August 2006 In April 2007 and through

March 2009 the declared distributions rate was 3% annualized rate of return calculated on daily

record basis of $0.0008219 per share Pursuant to our Third Amended and Restated Distribution

Reinvestment Plan the DRP stockholders may elect to reinvest any cash distribution in additional

shares of common stock We record all distributions when declared except that the stock issued

through the DRP is recorded when the shares are actually issued

Prior to April 2009 our Board declared daily distributions in advance of the period to which the

distributions applied and the daily distributions were paid monthly in arrears On April 2009 our

Board of Directors voted to declare distributions on quarterly basis in arrears to generate significant

cost savings to our stockholders During 2008 and through March 31 2009 distributions were declared

at daily rate of $0.0008219 per share of common stock which is equivalent to an annual distribution

of 3% assuming $10 price per share On July 14 2009 our Board authorized quarterly distribution

in the amount of $0.075 per share of common stock which is equivalent to an annual distribution of

3% assuming $10 price per share payable to the common stockholders of record at the close of

business on June 30 2009 the record date previously established by the Board on June 22 2009 The
distribution was paid on July 29 2009 On October 26 2009 our Board of Directors authorized

quarterly distribution in the amount of $0.075 per share of common stock which is equivalent to an

annual distribution of 3% assuming $10 price per share payable to the common stockholders of

record at the close of business on September 30 2009 the record date previously established by the

Board on August 10 2009 The distribution was paid on November 2009 On January 2010 our

Board authorized quarterly distribution in the amount of $0.075 per share of common stock which is

equivalent to an annual distribution of 3% assuming $10 price per share payable to the common
stockholders of record at the close of business on December 31 2009 the record date previously

established by the Board on November 2009 The distribution was paid on February 2010

The following are the distributions declared for the
quarter in the years ended December 31 2009

and 2008

2009 Cash DRP Total Per Share

4th Quarter $1319 2868 41871 $0.075

3rd Quarter 1263 2901 4164 0.075

2nd Quarter 1192 2948 4140 0.075

1st Quarter 1063 3007 4070 0.075

Total $4837 $11724 $16561 $0.300
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2008 Cash DRP Total Per Share

4th Quarter $1040 3102 4142 $0.076

3rd Quarter 999 3130 4129 0.076

2nd Quarter 978 3098 4076 0.074

1st Quarter 969 3086 4055 0.074

Total $3986 $12416 $16402 $0.300

1The distribution declared for the fourth quarter
2009 was declared on January 2010

14 Stock-Based Compensation

The Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Award

Plan Incentive Award Plan was approved by our board of directors on July 19 2005 and by our

stockholders on July 25 2005 and provides for equity
awards to our directors and consultants and to

employees directors and consultants of our affiliates In November 2008 the board of directors

approved an amendment to the grantees stock option agreements for all awards granted prior to

December 31 2007 setting forth revised vesting and expiration schedule Accordingly all options

granted prior to December 31 2007 that were previously outstanding and fully vested are subject to the

revised vesting and expiration schedule as follows 25% become exercisable in each of the calendar

years
2010 and 2011 with the remaining 50% exercisable in the calendar year 2012 Any vested awards

not exercised in the calendar year specified are forfeited and no longer exercisable We did not

recognize any incremental compensation cost resulting from these modifications

On June 22 2009 we issued options to purchase 5000 shares of our common stock at $8.17 per

share to each of our three independent directors pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan On July 24

2008 we issued options to purchase 5000 shares of our common stock at $9.50 per share to each of

our three independent directors pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan The options issued in both 2009

and 2008 become exercisable one year
after the date of grant As of December 31 2009 options to

purchase 69583 shares of stock were outstanding of which 15000 are fully vested at weighted

average exercise price per share of $8.99 The remaining contractual life of the outstanding options
is

3.9 years Compensation expense associated with our Incentive Award Plan was not material for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007

15 Related Party Transactions

Behringer Opportunity Advisors and certain of its affiliates receive fees and compensation in

connection with our offering of common stock to the public
and in connection with the acquisition

management and sale of our assets On November 16 2007 we terminated the DRP and commenced

second distribution reinvestment plan offering the Secondary DRP We terminated our primary

offering component of our initial public offering on December 28 2007 and currently are offering

shares of our common stock only to our existing stockholders through the Secondary DRE

Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates receives acquisition and advisory fees of 2.5% of

the contract purchase price
of each asset for the acquisition development or construction of real

property or 2.5% of the funds advanced in respect
of loan Our advisor or its affiliates also receives

reimbursement of acquisition expenses up to 0.5/h of the contract purchase price of each asset or with
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respect to loan up to 0.5% of the funds advanced Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its

predecessor-in-interest did not earn acquisition and advisory fees or acquisition expense
reimbursements in the

year ended December 31 2009 For the year ended December 31 2008 we
incurred $4.5 million in

acquisition and
advisory fees and $0.9 million in acquisition expense

reimbursements For the
year ended December 31 2007 we incurred $12.8 million in acquisition and

advisory fees and $2.6 million in acquisition expense reimbursements

We pay Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates debt financing fee equal to 1% of the
amount of any debt made available to us We incurred $0.4 million $2.4 million and $0.8 million in

debt
financing fees for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

We pay HPT Management Services LP Behringer Harvard Real Estate Services LLC or

Behringer Harvard Opportunity Management Services LLC collectively BH Property Management
affiliates of our advisor and our property managers fees for management leasing and construction

supervision of our properties which may be subcontracted to unaffiliated third parties Such fees are
equal to 4.5% of

gross revenues plus leasing commissions based upon the customary leasing
commission applicable to the same geographic location of the respective property In the event that we
contract directly with non-affiliated third-party property manager in

respect of property we will payBH Property Management an oversight fee equal to 0.5% of gross revenues of the property managed
In no event will we pay both property management fee and an oversight fee to BH Property
Management with

respect to any particular property We incurred and expensed property management
fees or oversight fees totaling $2 million $1.7 million and $0.7 million in the years ended
December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively For the year ended December 31 2009 we incurred
less than $0.1 million of construction management fees payable to BH Property Management We did
not incur any construction management fees to BH Property Management for the

years ended
December 31 2008 or 2007

We pay Behringer Opportunity Advisors an annual asset management fee of 0.75% of the

aggregate asset value of acquired real estate The fee is payable monthly in an amount equal to
one-twelfth of 0.75% of the aggregate asset value as of the last day of the preceding month For the

year ended December 31 2009 we expensed $6.6 million of asset management fees and capitalized less

than $0.1 million of asset management fees to real estate For the year ended December 31 2008 we
expensed $4.7 million of asset management fees and capitalized $0.2 million of asset management fees
to real estate For the

year ended December 31 2007 we expensed $2.3 million of asset management
fees and capitalized $0.3 million of asset management fees to real estate

We will reimburse Behringer Opportunity Advisors or its affiliates for all expenses paid or
incurred by them in connection with the services they provide to us including direct expenses and the
costs of salaries and benefits of persons employed by those entities and performing services for us
subject to the limitation that we will not reimburse for any amount by which our advisors operating

expenses including the asset management fee at the end of the four fiscal quarters immediately
preceding the date reimbursement is sought exceeds the greater of 2% of our average invested

assets or 25% of our net income for that four quarter period other than any additions to reserves
for depreciation bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and any gain from the sale of our assets
for that period Notwithstanding the preceding sentence we may reimburse the advisor for expenses in

excess of this limitation if
majority of our independent directors determines that such excess expenses

are justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors For the
years ended December 31 2009 and
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2008 we incurred and expensed costs for administrative services totaling $1.9 million and $1 million

respectively
No such costs were incurred and expensed for the year ended December 31 2007

At December 31 2009 we had payable to our advisor and its affiliates of $1.8 million This

balance consists primarily of asset management fees and expenses and administrative service expenses

payable to Behringer Opportunity Advisors management fees payable to BH Property Management

and other miscellaneous payables This payable is offset by receivable from our advisor and its

affiliates of $0.1 million which is included in receivables from related parties at December 31 2009

We are dependent on Behringer Opportunity Advisors and BH Property Management for certain

services that are essential to us including asset acquisition and disposition decisions asset management

property management and leasing services and other general administrative responsibilities In the

event that these companies were unable to provide us with the respective services we would be

required to obtain such services from other sources

16 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information is summarized below for the years
ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Supplemental disclosure

Interest paid net of amounts capitalized $13685 $14511 2848

Income taxes paid
76

Non-cash investing activities

Property and equipment additions and purchases of real estate in

accrued liabilities 111 828 237

Capital expenditures for real estate under development in accounts

payable and accrued liabilities $1082 4435 7261

Capital expenditures for real estate under development of consolidated

borrowers in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1896 7897

Conversion of notes receivable to investments in unconsolidated joint

ventures $14165

Amortization of deferred financing fees in properties under

development 271 475 44

Amortization of deferred financing fees in properties under

development of consolidated borrowers 49 115

Non-cash financing activities

Common stock issued in distribution reinvestment plan 9896 $12372 8443

Assumed debt on acquisition of real estate investment $22229 $56157
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Presented below is summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008

Revenue

Net income loss
Add Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling

interest

Net income loss attributable to Behringer Harvard

Opportunity REIT Inc

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding

Basic and diluted income loss per share

Revenue

Net loss

Add Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling

interest

Net loss attributable to Behringer Harvard Opportunity

REIT Inc

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding

Basic and diluted loss per share

18 Subsequent Event

On March 2010 Shannon Skokos and Theodore Skokos the Skokoses owners of

$19.5 million limited partner interest in and lenders to the development and construction of resort

hotel spa golf course marina and residences on three islands located in the Commonwealth of

Bahamas Royal Island filed third amended petition in the 68th Judicial District Court of Dallas

County Texas which added Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc as defendant in lawsuit they

originally filed on December 19 2008 Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc is also limited

partner in and lender to Royal Island Other defendants in the lawsuit are Royal Island Partners LP
Cypress Equities LLC Christopher Maguire Behringer Harvard Royal Island LLC Behringer

Harvard Holdings LLC Behringer Harvard RI Lender LLC Royal Island Bahamas Ltd Cypress

Royal Island G1 LI Cypress Royal Island GF LLC Royal Island Golf Club Bahamas Ltd and RIBL
US Borrower LLC The lawsuit asserts fraud in the inducement fraud in real estate transaction

negligent misrepresentation unjust enrichment violations of the Texas Securities Act breach of credit

agreement related to the lending arrangements at Royal Island and violation of fiduciary duties arising

out of the credit agreement and the related agreement among lenders and agent

Among other relief the Skokoses are seeking damages and in the alternative to their damages

claim the Skokoses seek to rescind the partnership agreements they executed We do not believe the

claims against us have merit and the Behringer Harvard entities intend to vigorously defend this

action however the costs of defending this lawsuit may be significant in relation to our income and

could adversely affect our operating results

2009 Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

$20470 24538 19425 $24058

7653 $1 1850 $24240 4217

2321 2756 3791 2055

5332 9094 $20449 2162
55032 55211 55431 55726

0.10 0.16 0.37 0.04

2008 Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

$14174 $15406 $21552 22155

3627 4390 7819 $28893

1450 1466 2334 4778

$2177 $2924 $5485 $24115
54213 54474 54611 54805

0.04 0.05 0.10 0.44
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc

Addison Texas

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Behringer Harvard Opportunity

REIT Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and for each of the

three years
in the period ended December 31 2009 and have issued our report thereon dated

March 19 2009 which report expresses
an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph

concerning the adoption of new accounting principle in 2009 such consolidated financial statements

and report are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K Our audits also included the consolidated

financial statement schedules of the Company listed in Item 15 The consolidated financial statement

schedules are the responsibility
of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an

opinion based on our audits In our opinion such financial statement schedules when considered in

relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the

information set forth therein

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Dallas Texas

March 19 2010
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December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

amounts in thousands

Balance at Charged to

Beginning of Costs and Charged to Balance at End
Period Expenses Other Accounts Deductions of Period

Year ended December 31 2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts 127 $127

Year ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts $127 200 121 $206

Year ended December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts $206 $10101 $696 $10713 $290
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Schedule III

December 31 2009

amounts in thousands

The mortgages payable of oar mezzaaiae borrowers that wreoasolidate are abtigatieas of oar asrzaaaiae borrowers and are not payable by es

Baitdiags are 25 years

Hotel is 39 years

Property ceder development

summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation for the years
ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows

Year Ended December 31

Real Estate

Balance at beginning of period

Acquisitions

Improvements
Reclassification of real estate under

development to condominium inventory

Impairment loss on hotel development

Balance at end of the period

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at beginning of period

Depreciation expense

Disposals

Balance at end of the period

2009 2008 2007

Initial cast

Cast capitalized Grass amaant

Land and anilding and sabseqncnt
carried at Acenmntated Year at Date Depreciable

impravements impravements ta aequiatttan rInse nf peeiad depreciatian eanstrnctian aeqaircd
tier

970 7.195 113 8286 1206 1997 3/1/2806

Praperty Name Lacattan Encnmbranees

Whitewaire Property Minnetanka MN
Perneraft Corporate

Crater Middtetoa MA 10000

Taagtewoad at Vass Honstan TX 39539t

Atenais Black Moaataia Hendersaa NV 290000

Chase Park Ptaaa St Loais MO 100791

Beat Tier Green Oatlas TX 0700

Las Caliaas Comsisoas trviag TX
Santa Clara Tech Crater Santa Clara CA 32479

5000 Bawra Road Arlington TX

The Lodge Spa at

Carditlera Edwards CO
Rio Satada Basiaess

Crater Phaeaia AZ
Prisea Sqaare Prisca TX 35340

Narthpaisst Central Moaslaa TX

Regency Center Hoastan TX

2603 Aagasta Moastoa TX

Narthbaraagh Tower Haastaa TX 21480

Crosscoads 000cc Park Sea Oirgo CA 25023

Totals $348552

5183 19665 1343 26195 2997 0990 7/13/2006

49430 d9436 1995 9/22/2006

37760 37760 2510 9/29/2006

3012 30143 39704 93539 5610 1922 1931 12/8/2006

1454 9711 3551 14716 1631 1983 12/13/2006

2785 9710 2981 15484 1662 1979 2001 12/20/2006

25777 51542 965 78284 5309 1984 5/2/2007

2800 17421 20221 1800 1903 5/10/2007

9398 7468 0037 0829 015 1980 b/6/2007

7642 01873 19513 6/29/2007

40090 27907 12162 00167 3949 2002 2003 0/3/2007

750 19849 3058 23657 2150 1982 9/13/2007

3600 15399 1194 20193 1518 1982 9/13/2007

2000 30785 2082 34867 3062 1984 9/13/2007

1400 31401 904 33703 2322 1983 2/26/2008

10830 23401 524 34755 1424 1979 6/26/2008

$118307 $321605 $159697 $599809 $39868

$586833 $477114 $173338

139885 379323

10165

3569 19176 75547

958 10990

$599609 $586833 $477114

21678 6719 567

18190 14959 6152

$39868 $21678 6719
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Behringer liar yard Opportuisity REIT inc

Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

Schedule 1V

December 31 2009

Face

Prior Amount of

Liens Mortgages

Principal Amount of

Loans Subject to

Delinquent Principal

or Interest

Reconciliation of the Carrying Amount of Mortgages

Balance at beginning of 2007

Additions during period

New mortgage loans

Balance at close of 2007

Additions during period

New mortgage loans

Balance at close of 2008

Additions during period

New mortgage loans

Balance at close of 2009

7841

7841

26758

34599

6015

$40614

Periodic

Interest Maturity Payment
Description Rate Date Terms

Bridge loan financing for

the continuing

development and

construction of Royal

Island Lihor 8% 12/20/081 Interest only

until maturity

Carrying

Amount of

Mortgages

This loan is currently in default

n/a $40614 $40614 $40614

$40614 $40614 $40614
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

As Independent Directors of Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT Inc the Company we have reviewed

the policies being followed by the Company and believe they are in the best interests of its stockholders These policies

include policies with respect to investments borrowings dispositions and distributions

Investment Policies Our investment policies are designed in order that the Company may make investments

that are suitable for it The Company focuses on acquiring properties with significant possibilities for near term capital

appreciation The Company has acquired wide variety of properties located in the U.S and in other countries

including office industrial retail hospitality recreation and leisure multifamily and other properties The Company

has purchased existing and newly constructed properties and properties under development or construction including

multifamily properties The Company is not actively seeking to purchase additional properties However in limited

circumstances the Company may purchase properties as result of selling one or more properties it currently holds and

reinvesting the sales proceeds in properties that fall within the Companys investment objectives and criteria If the

Company makes any additional investments properties our intention is to invest in income-producing real estate

properties including properties that have been constructed and have operating histories are newly constructed or are

under development or construction The Company may also invest in real estate-related assets such as collateralized

mortgage-backed securities and mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans When making investment determinations the

Company follows rigorous set of acquisition criteria and closing conditions and reviews other required documentation

These criteria are designed to assess and manage investment risks and support the Companys bases for making

investment decisions in the best interests of the Companys stockholders

Borrowing Policies There is no limitation on the amount the Company may invest in any single property or

other asset or on the amount the Company can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment

Under the Companys charter the maximum amount of its indebtedness shall not exceed 300% of the Companys net

assets as defined by the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts adopted by the North American

Securities Administrators Association on May 2007 as of the date of any borrowing however the Company may
exceed that limit if approved by majority of us In addition to the Companys charter limitation and indebtedness

target the Companys board has adopted policy to limit the Companys aggregate borrowings to approximately 75%

of the aggregate value of its assets unless substantial justification exists that borrowing greater amount is in the

Companys best interests The Companys policy limitation however does not apply to individual real estate assets

As result the Company may borrow more than 75% of the contract purchase price of particular real estate asset the

Company may acquire to the extent the board of directors determines that borrowing these amounts is reasonable The

Companys board of directors reviews the Companys aggregate borrowings at least quarterly We believe that these

borrowing limitations reduce risk of loss and are in the best interests of the Companys stockholders

Disposition Policies As each of the Companys investments reaches what the Company believes to be the

assets strategic value during the expected life of the program the Company will consider disposing of the investment

and may do so for the
purpose

of either distributing the net sale proceeds to the Companys stockholders or investing

the proceeds in other assets that the Company believes may produce higher overall future return to the Companys
investors The Company anticipates that any such investment disposition typically would occur during the period from

three to six years after termination of the Companys initial public primary offering Economic or market conditions

may however result in different holding periods property may be sold before the end of the expected holding period

if in the judgment of the Companys advisor the value of the property might decline substantially an opportunity has

arisen to improve other properties the Company can increase cash flow through the disposition of the property or the

sale of the property is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders

Distribution Policies Distributions are authorized at the discretion of the Companys board of directors based

on the Companys analysis of its earnings cash flow anticipated cash flow capital expenditure requirements cash on

hand and general financial condition The boards discretion will be influenced in substantial part by its obligation to

cause the Company to comply with the REIT requirements Because the Company receives income from interest or

rents at various times during its fiscal year distributions may not reflect the Companys income earned in that particular

dictrihiitini npricd ht n1iv he niI-I 2ntirintnn ef each finw thct the flnrnninv exnert fn receive lprine 1ter

in an attempt to make distributions relatively uniform Moreoverlistributions may exceed

as they have to date net cash flow from operating activities if the board believes that the distributions will be covered

by future net cash flow Many of the factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to

stockholders are beyond the Companys control and change in any one factor could adversely affect the Companys

ability to pay future distributions There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve expected cash



flows necessary to continue to pay distributions at any particular level or at all We believe that our distribution policies

are in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders

Related-Party Transaclions We have reviewed the material transactions between the Company and the

Companys advisor and its affiliates during 2009 as outlined in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements In

our opinion the related-party transactions are fair and reasonable to the Company and its stockholders

NOTICES

Total Operating Expenses

In accordance with the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts published by the North

American Securities Administrators Association also known as the NASAA REIT Guidelines our charter requires that

we monitor our total operating expenses quarterly on trailing twelve-month basis and report to our stockholders

annually our total operating expenses stated as percentage of average invested assets and net income For the year

ended December 31 2009 our total operating expenses stated as percentage of average invested assets and net income

was 1.6% and 55.8% respectively

Cost of Raising Capital

In accordance with the NASAA REIT Guidelines our charter requires that we to report to our stockholders

annually the ratio of costs of raising capital during the year to the capital raised For the year ended December 31 2009

we raised total capital of approximately $35.9 million including approximately $9.9 million in equity capital through

our distribution reinvestment plan and approximately $26 million of debt capital We incurred costs of approximately

$0.8 million in connection with raising this capital This equates to ratio of approximately 2.2%



Officers arid Directors

Our Management Teams

Behringer Harvard is managed by seasoned cohesive team of real estate

and investment professionals with expertise in deal structure finance acquisition

management and disposition

Board of Directors Executive Officers and Other Key Personnel

Robert Behringer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Robert Aisner

Chief Executive Officer President

and Director

Barbara Buf kin

Independent Director

Senior Vice PresidentBusiness Development

Argo Group International Holdings Ltd

Terry Gage

Independent Director

Vice PresidentFinance

and Chief Financial Officer

Wilson Associates LLC
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E- Communications

Go paperless with electronic delivery Sign up at behringerharvard.com to switch

from paper mailings and view your quarterly statements tax forms and other investor

communications online

Safe Harbor

This report contains forward-looking statements Please refer to the enclosed Annual

Report on Form 10-K for additional information and qualifications regarding

forward-looking statements
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